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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
MIAMI DIVISION

Case No.:

MARIE CEDRE, on behalf of
herself and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,
V.

RUSHMORE LOAN MANAGEMENT
SERVICES LLC, JAMES E. ALBERTELLLI, P.A.
d/b/a ALAW, and CARLSBAD FUNDING
MORTGAGE TRUST,

Defendants.

/

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Marie Cedre, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, alleges
violations of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act § 559.55 et seq. (“FCCPA”) and the
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 15 U.S.C. 1692 et seq. (“FDCPA”) against Defendants James
E. Albertelli, P.A. (“Albertelli Law), Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC
(“Rushmore”), and Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust (“Carlsbad”) (collectively “Defendants”).
Plaintiff and the putative class also allege violations of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures
Act, 12 U.S.C. 8 2601, et seq. (“RESPA”) solely against Rushmore.

1. Rushmore is a mortgage loan servicer and Albertelli Law is a law firm who
collects debts. Rushmore and Albertelli Law both charge and collect mortgage loans and fees for
third party lenders, like Carlsbad. Albertelli Law, on behalf of Rushmore and Carlsbad, charged

Plaintiff over $3,000 for mortgage fees and costs, “Estimates” necessary to reinstate her loan to
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avoid foreclosure. “Estimated” fees are fees companies expect to incur in the event that certain
conditions occur, but have not actually incurred. The Eleventh Circuit has denounced
“estimated” fees associated with reinstatement of loans to be a violation of the FCCPA and
FDCPA.

2. Albertelli Law conceals the true nature of the amount owed, by including
ambiguous fees and costs in the amount homeowners must pay to reinstate their loan.
Additionally, Albertelli Law routinely charges borrowers $100.00 for asking for a reinstatement
quote, a plain violation of RESPA.

3. Carlsbad, Rushmore and Albertelli Law know that the “estimated” charges are
illegal amounts that cannot be collected in a borrower’s loan reinstatement because each
maintains records of the actual costs and fees associated with each borrower’s loan. Additionally,
Carlsbad, Rushmore and Albertelli Law are sophisticated entities that know that the standard
mortgage only allows them to recover fees and costs actually incurred. Further, the
reinstatement quote received by Plaintiff in this action was communicated in a form letter that
Albertelli Law sends routinely to mortgage borrowers on Rushmore’s and Carlsbad’s behalf.

4, Despite numerous trade publications, and an Eleventh Circuit decision forbidding
lenders and loan servicers from collecting estimated fees, Carlsbad and Rushmore continue to
collect estimated amounts based on Albertelli Law’s demands to their borrowers. Albertelli Law,
Rushmore and Carlsbad profit from these illegal charges because the longer a loan remains in
default, the more they can charge in default-related fees that must be paid by the borrower to

reinstate the loan or are added to any subsequent modification principal.
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5. By the conduct described herein, Defendants knowingly violated RESPA,
FDCPA, and FCCPA, which caused Ms. Cedre and the putative class members’ actual, concrete,
and particularized injuries. Ms. Cedre’s injuries, in particular, are detailed infra.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 8 1331 because this
action arises out of RESPA and the FDCPA, federal statutes.

7. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the FCCPA claims under 28 U.S.C.
8 1367 because the basis of the RESPA and FDCPA federal claims involve the same debt
collection practices that form the basis of the FCCPA claims.

8. The Court has personal jurisdiction because Defendants conduct business
throughout the United States, including Miami, Florida. Further, their voluntary contact with
Plaintiff to charge and collect debts in Florida made it foreseeable that Defendants would be
haled into a Florida court. See Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 474 (1985).

9. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. 88 1391(b)-(c) because
Defendants are deemed to reside in any judicial district in which it is subject to personal
jurisdiction at the time the action is commenced and because their contacts with this District are
sufficient to subject them to personal jurisdiction.

PARTIES

10. Plaintiff Marie Cedre is a natural person who currently resides in Florida.

11. Defendant Rushmore is a foreign limited liability company with its principal
place of business at 15480 Laguna Canyon Road, Suite 100, Irvine CA 92618. Rushmore is one

of the nation’s leading specialty loan servicing companies for mortgage lenders, like Carlsbad.
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12, Defendant Albertelli Law is a professional association with a principal place of
business at 208 North Laura Street, Suite 900, Jacksonville, Florida 32202 and is headquartered
at 5404 Cypress Center Dr., Suite 300, Tampa, Florida 33609. Albertelli Law acts as a third
party debt collector for financial institutions and servicers, like Carlsbad and Rushmore.

13. Defendant Carlsbad is a trust that acts as a mortgage lender for homeowners, like
Ms. Cedre. Wilmington Savings Fund Society, d/b/a Christiana Trust is the current owner of
Plaintiff’s mortgage loan, not individually but as trustee for the Carlsbad Funding Mortgage
Trust. Carlsbad has a registered address of c/o Wilmington Saving Fund Society, 500 Delaware
Avenue, 11" Floor, Wilmington, Delaware 19801.

APPLICABLE LAW
RESPA

14. Rulemaking authority for RESPA was assigned to the Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) under the Dodd-Frank Act. Pub. L. No. 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376, 8§88
1061, 1098 (July 21, 2010); 12 C.F.R. pt. 1024 (formerly 24 C.F.R. pt. 3500).

15. In 2013, the CFPB enacted new regulations implementing specific provisions
under the Dodd-Frank Act for mortgage loan servicers including, but not limited to, requirements
for responding to a borrower’s written request for information concerning his or her mortgage
loan. See 12 CFR § 1024.36 et seq.; Public Law 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376 (2010).

16. RESPA imposes certain obligations on mortgage servicers to provide information
to borrowers regarding their mortgage loans. 12 U.S.C. § 2605. In 2013, the CFPB enacted new
regulations implementing specific provisions under RESPA and the Dodd-Frank Act concerning

mortgage loan servicers including, but not limited to, certain requirements for responding to a
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written request for information concerning a borrower’s mortgage loan. See 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36
et seq.; Public Law 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376 (2010).

17. RESPA provides a private cause of action against a mortgage servicer for
violations of the provisions of 8 2605, if brought within three (3) years of the violation. 12
U.S.C. § 2614.

18. RESPA defines “servicer” as the “person responsible for servicing of a loan
(including the person who makes or holds a loan if such person also services the loan).” 12
U.S.C. § 2605(i)(3).

19. RESPA defines “servicing” as “receiving any scheduled periodic payments from a
borrower pursuant to the terms of any loan, including amounts for escrow accounts described in
section 2609 of this title, and making the payments of principal and interest and such other
payments with respect to the amounts received from the borrower as may be required pursuant to
the terms of the loan.” 12 U.S.C. 8 2605(i)(3).

20. Pursuant to RESPA, a servicer of a federally related mortgage loan “shall not ...
fail to comply with any other obligation found by the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection,
by regulation, to be appropriate to carry out the consumer protection purposes of this chapter.”
12 U.S.C. § 2605(K)(1)(E).

21. RESPA’s mortgage servicing regulations require a servicer to provide borrowers
with required disclosures that are in writing and “clear and conspicuous.” 12 C.F.R. §
1024.32(a)(1).

22. RESPA also requires a servicer to maintain policies and procedures that are
reasonable designed to ensure that the servicer can provide a borrower with “accurate and timely

disclosures . . . as required by this subpart or other applicable law” and “[p]rovide a borrower
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with accurate and timely information and documents in response to the borrower's requests for
information with respect to the borrower's mortgage loan.” 12 C.F.R. 1024.38(a)(b)(1)(i),(iii).

23.  Additionally, RESPA provides that “a servicer shall not charge a fee, or require a
borrower to make any payment that may be owed on a borrower's account, as a condition of
responding to an information request.” 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(g).

24, RESPA and its implementing regulations should be broadly construed to
effectuate their remedial purpose. Friedman v. Maspeth Federal Loan and Sav. Ass’n, 30 F.
Supp. 3d 183, 187 (E.D.N.Y. 2014) (“The Act was designed to throw the federal judiciary’s
protective cloak over residential-occupant owners of real property and their kin to protect against
abuse by banks during loan closings and subsequent related events. The Act should be broadly
applied to accomplish its prophylactic purposes by exercising federal subject matter
jurisdiction.”).

FDCPA

25. The purpose of the FDCPA is “to eliminate abusive debt collection practices . . .
and to promote consistent State action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses.” 15
U.S.C. § 1692.

26. The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors from using “any false, deceptive, or
misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt,” which
includes the false representation of “the character, amount, or legal status of any debt.” 1d. §
1692e.

27.  The FDCPA also prohibits debt collectors from “unfair or unconscionable means

to collect or attempt to collect any debt,” including “the collection of any amount unless such
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amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law.” Id. §
1692f.

28. The FDCPA creates a private right of action under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k.

29. The FDCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” Id. 8 1692a(3).

30. The FDCPA defines “debt collector” as “any person who uses . . . any business
the principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts, or who regularly collects or
attempts to collect . . . debt owed . . . or asserted to be owed or due another.” Id. § 1692a(6).

31. The FDCPA defines communication as “conveying of information regarding a
debt directly or indirectly to any person through any medium.” 1d. § 1692a(2).

32. The FDCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer
to pay money arising out of a transaction . . . [that] are primarily for personal, family, or
household purposes.” 1d. § 1692a(5).

FCCPA

33. The FCCPA prohibits debt collectors from engaging in certain abusive practices
in the collection of consumer debts. See generally Fla. Stat. § 559.72.

34. The FCCPA’s goal is to “provide the consumer with the most protection
possible.” LeBlanc v. Unifund CCR Partners, 601 F.3d 1185, 1192 (11th Cir. 2010) (citing Fla.
Stat. § 559.552).

35.  Specifically, the FCCPA states that no person shall “claim, attempt, or threaten to
enforce a debt when such person knows that the debt is not legitimate, or assert the existence of
some other legal right when such person knows that the right does not exist.” Fla. Stat. §

559.72(9).
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36.  The FCCPA creates a private right of action under Fla. Stat. § 559.77.

37. The FCCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” 1d. § 559.55(8).

38. The FCCPA mandates that “no person” shall engage in certain practices in
collecting consumer debt. Id. 8 559.72. This language includes all allegedly unlawful attempts at
collecting consumer claims. Williams v. Streeps Music Co., 333 So. 2d 65, 67 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.
1976).

39. The FCCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer
to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance, or services
which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household
purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment.” 1d. § 559.55(6).

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

40. On or around May 28, 2004, Ms. Cedre purchased a home in Lake Mary, Florida
through a loan from Coldwell Banker Mortgage, secured by a mortgage on the property. Copies
of Plaintiff’s Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note are attached as Exhibit “A” and Exhibit
“B” respectively.

41. On or about April 24, 2008, Coldwell Banker Mortgage assigned Ms. Cedre’s
Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

42. On or around December 1, 2010, Ms. Cedre allegedly defaulted on her loan after
previously making continuous payments.

43. On or around December 15, 2014, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. assigned Ms.
Cedre’s Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to Federal National Mortgage Association. See

Exhibit “C.”
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44, Sometime in or around April 2016, Federal National Mortgage Association
assigned the Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to Wilmington Savings Fund Society as
trustee for Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust. See Exhibit “D.”

45, Effective May, 1, 2016, Seterus, Inc. assigned its rights as the servicer of Ms.
Cedre’s loan to Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC. See Exhibit “E.”

46.  Therefore, Rushmore became the servicer of the loan while Ms. Cedre’s loan was
already alleged to be in default. Carlsbad also became the owner of the loan while it was already
alleged to be in default.

47. On or about November 18, 2015, Albertelli Law, on behalf of Federal National
Mortgage Association and Seterus, filed a complaint in the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit for
Seminole County to initiate foreclosure.

48. Plaintiff hired Smothers Law Firm (“Smothers”) to defend her in the foreclosure.

49. On or about May 24, 2016, Rushmore, on behalf of Carlsbad and Wilmington,
sent a “Notice of Assignment, Sale or Transfer of Servicing” letter to Ms. Cedre through
Smothers. See Exhibit “F.”

50.  The letter advised:

Pursuant to the Federal Fair Debt Collections Practices Act, if you do not
notify us within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the
validity of this debt or any portion thereof, we will assume the debt is
valid.

If you notify us in writing within 30 days that the debt or any portion
thereof is disputed, or if you request the name and address of the original
creditor, we will obtain verification of the debt or judgment against you
and mail a copy to you and provide you with the name and address of the
original creditor.

You should consider this letter as coming from a Debt Collector as we

sometimes act as a Debt Collector and any information received will be
used for that purpose. However, if you are in Bankruptcy or received a



Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 10 of 29

Bankruptcy Discharge of this debt, this letter is not an attempt to collect a
debt and does not constitute a notice of personal liability with respect to
the debt.

51. The letter identified the current creditor as Wilmington Savings Fund Society
(“Wilmington”) as trustee for Carlsbad and provided an itemization of the total amount due and
owing on the mortgage as $153,796.65. Id.

52. The total amount included a “Summary of Total Debt Composition” breakdown
that included the current principal balance of $105,883.13; current unpaid accrued interest of
$35,191.85; late charges of $156.56; and “Other Charges” of 12,565.11. Id.

53. Because Rushmore provided no explanation or itemization concerning the
$12,565.11 in “Other Charges,” Smothers sent a written request for information, including
sufficient information to identify Plaintiff’s mortgage loan, to Rushmore in a letter dated June 6,
2016, asking for a specific breakdown of charges. See Exhibit “G.”

54. On or about June 13, 2016, Rushmore responded and confirmed it received
Smothers’ written request and advised it would respond within (30) days. See Exhibit “H.”

55.  Onor about June 16, 2016, Albertelli Law, on behalf of Rushmore and Carlsbad,
sent Smothers a “Reinstatement Letter,” to be received on behalf of Ms. Cedre. See Exhibit “I.”

56. Immediately below the heading, the letter advised:

WE MAY BE CONSIDERED A DEBT COLLECTOR. THIS IS AN

ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT. ANY INFORMATION WILL BE

USED FOR THAT PURPOSE.

Id. (emphasis in original).
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57. The letter stated: “This letter responds to your request for a Reinstatement of the
above referenced loan. As of the date of this letter the amount required to cure your delinquency
is $66,464.21**.” Id.

58. The letter advised that if Ms. Cedre was not prepared to pay the full reinstatement
amount that day, “then the amount owed may increase between the date of this letter and the date
you reinstate the loan ... because of additional interest and late charges as well as legal fees and
costs that are incurred as additional steps in the foreclosure proceed.” Id.

59. In the letter, the total amount Defendants required Ms. Cedre to pay to reinstate
her loan was $66,464.21. Id.

60. This amount included $3,100 in estimated costs and fees labeled “Attorney Fees
Co. Hearing Dismiss.” for $250.00, “Attorney Fees & Costs Estimate” for $2,825.00,” and “Co.
Clerk LP Release Estimate” for $25.00.

61. These “estimated” amounts were based on projected amounts due in the event Ms.
Cedre did not actually pay before a certain future date and certain events relating to foreclosure
occurred.

62. This amount also included other ambiguous amounts that appeared to be estimates
and not actually incurred, including an “Acquired Corporate Advance” charge of $7,548.30 and a
“Dismissal Prep Fee” of $125.00.

63. The total amount due also included a charge of $100.00 for “Reinstatement letter
good through 6.20.16.”

64. Nowhere in either letter do any of the Defendants state that they will return any of
the estimated amounts if paid by Ms. Cedre but not incurred by Rushmore, Albertelli Law, or

Carlshad.
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65. None of the Defendants provided any information or explanation concerning the
$7,548.30 charge ambiguously labeled “Acquired Corporate Advance.”

66. Rushmore, as the loan servicer, acted as a debt collector by attempting to collect
amounts on behalf of the principal, Carlsbad through its trustee, Wilmington.

67.  Albertelli Law acted as a third party debt collector for Rushmore by attempting to
collect amounts on behalf of Rushmore and Rushmore’s principal, Carlsbad through its trustee,
Wilmington.

68. Rushmore is a sophisticated mortgage loan servicer, Albertelli Law is a
sophisticated law firm specializing in the mortgage and loan industry, and Carlsbad and
Wilmington are sophisticated lenders. In a highly publicized and remarkably similar case issued
by the Eleventh Circuit over half of a year prior to the date of Defendants’ reinstatement of loan
letter at issue, the Eleventh Circuit reversed the district court’s grant of summary judgment on
the FDCPA and FCCPA claims, opining, among other things, that the defendants were not
permitted to charge “estimated” fees that had not yet incurred in their reinstatement of loan letter.
See Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-10038, 2015 WL 7769235, at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015)
(“[The defendants] violated the FDCPA and FCCPA by charging [the plaintiffs] estimated
attorney’s fees that they had not agreed to pay in the security agreement.”).

69.  Over those six months, the media and trade publications consistently warned the
industry against including estimated fees in reinstatement of loan letters, particularly those in the
Eleventh Circuit where the Prescott case is binding precedent. Some of those industry warnings
are attached as Exhibit “J” and include:

a. 11" Circuit Finds Lender Violated FDCPA And Florida Law, Reverses Ruling,
Lexis Legal News (Dec. 7, 2015) (“The appeals court found that Seterus violated

the FDCPA and the FCCPA by charging Prescott estimated attorney fees and
refused to affirm the District Court’s decision.”).
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b. Eleventh Circuit Issues Stern Warning Against Inclusion of Estimated Fees and
Costs in Reinstatement Quotes, USFN (Jan. 4, 2016) (“The Prescott decision
should cause any lender, loan servicer, or law firm that provides reinstatement
quotes and/or figures to borrowers to examine its practices and procedures in
order to determine whether or not information being provided to borrowers in
reinstatement situations could potentially constitute a FDCPA violation (or a
violation of state consumer protection law, such as the FCCPA). The Eleventh
Circuit has sent a clear message to the financial services industry . .. .”).

c. Recent Eleventh Circuit Reversal Sparks Upward Trend in Estimated-Fee FDCPA
Litigation, Lenderlaw Watch (Feb. 9, 2016) (“Concluding that the payoff quote
was a demand for payment, [the Eleventh Circuit] held that the inclusion of fees
that had not yet been incurred (even if expressly designated as such) was a
demand for compensation not permitted by the plaintiff’s mortgage agreement. . .
. [L]oan servicers should consider the impact of Prescott on their communications
with borrowers.”).

d. News Alert: FDCPA Violations for Estimated Fees and Costs in Reinstatement
and Payoff Quotes, Potestivo & Associates (April 15, 2016) (“The recent
Appellate Court decision in Prescott, v. Seterus, Inc. . . . has gained nationwide
notice. Although the decision is only binding on the Eleventh Circuit, it has
opened the door and neatly laid the ground work for other jurisdictions to give
similar rulings in the future. Consequently, it is important for servicers and
attorneys to be informed and proactive regarding their decisions when it comes to
estimated fees and costs in reinstatement and payoff quotes.”).

e. A Violation of the FDCPA — Estimating Attorney’s Fees in Reinstatement Figures,
Legal League 100 Quarterly (Q2 2016) (“The federal courts have recently held
that lenders may only charge for fees and expenses already incurred.”).

70.  Additionally, these demands were a direct breach of each of the following
contractual provisions permitting only recovery of amounts actually incurred: (1) Paragraph 9 of
the Mortgage Agreement permitted Defendants to recover “amounts disbursed” in protecting
Carlsbad’s and Wilmington’s interest and rights in the Mortgage Agreement; (2) Paragraph 14 of
the Mortgage Agreement prohibited Defendants from charging estimated fees, stating “[lJender
may not charge fees that are expressly prohibited in this Security Instrument or by Applicable
Law”; (3) Paragraph 22 of the Mortgage Agreement permitted Defendants to collect “expenses

incurred in pursuing” certain actions under the Paragraph which governed default, notice of



Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 14 of 29

default, actions to cure default, and reinstatement of loans; and (4) Paragraph 7 of the Mortgage
Note permitted Defendants the “right to be paid back . . . for all of its costs and expenses in
enforcing” the Note, which included “reasonable attorneys’ fees.”

71. Therefore, Carlsbad, and its agents, also knew demanding payment of fees not yet
incurred was not permitted because it violated Carlsbad’s very mortgage agreement and note.

72.  Additionally, the CFPB has received over 600 complaints concerning Rushmore’s
improper loan servicing practices, many involving similar complaints regarding requests for debt

not actually owed. https://data.consumerfinance.gov/dataset/Consumer-Complaints/séew-h6mp.

Rushmore’s knowledge can be imputed to Carlsbad through agency theory. See, e.g., Compass
Bank v. Tania Lynn Vanpelt, No. CA10-1624 (Fla. Cir. Ct. April 2, 2015) (finding knowledge

under the FCCPA could be imputed from agents to the owner of the mortgage note and holder
through principles of agency).

73. By charging estimated fees tacked on to the reinstatement amount, and failing to
provide information in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, Defendants frustrated Ms.
Cedre’s ability to reinstate her loan and caused her to incur further attorney’s fees and costs in
connection with defending the foreclosure action and responding to the inaccurate and unclear
information. Ms. Cedre’s injuries, in particular, are detailed infra.

74.  Additionally, Rushmore violated RESPA by charging a $100.00 fee to respond to
a written request for information.

75. Rushmore, Albertelli Law, and Carlsbad have a pattern and practice of demanding
illegal fees because Ms. Cedre received a form letter from Albertelli Law that contains routinely

generated line-items that included unlawful estimated amounts.
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76. On or about August 29, 2016 the Plaintiff, through counsel, sent cure letters to
Rushmore, Albertelli Law, and Carlsbad. See Exhibit “K.”

77.  After a reasonable amount of time, Plaintiff filed this lawsuit because Rushmore,
Albertelli Law, and Carlsbad failed to cure its violations of state and federal law.

ADDITIONAL FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS REGARDING MS. CEDRE’S INJURY
CAUSED BY DEFENDANTS’ FCCPA, FDUTPA, AND RESPA VIOLATIONS

78.  Shortly after Albertelli Law was hired to initiate Ms. Cedre’s foreclosure in
November 2015, Ms. Cedre entered into a fee agreement with Scott Smothers of Smothers Law
Firm, P.A.

79. Under this agreement, Ms. Cedre agreed to pay $300 per hour for Mr. Smothers’s
legal representation in connection with her mortgage loan payments and avoiding foreclosure.

80. During the course of this representation, Ms. Cedre has incurred attorney’s fees
directly flowing from the illegal charges demanded in Defendants’ reinstatement of loan letter to
her, including, inter alia, an aggregate of approximately two hours of consultation between Ms.
Cedre and Mr. Smothers concerning the reinstatement letter and confusion over the “estimated”
amounts and ambiguous charges contained in the June 16, 2016 letter.

81.  Since receiving the June 2016 reinstatement of loan letter, Ms. Cedre has also
incurred other expenses including, inter alia, missing approximately 8 hours of work at $14 per
hour at her job to personally investigate the reinstatement of loan letter and to meet with her
attorney in connection with the foreclosure action, including discussing the reinstatement of loan
charges at the heart of this action.

82. Demanding the full reinstatement of loan amount containing the illegal charges
also damaged her credit score and stymied her ability to refinance her loan after she

unsuccessfully attempted to obtain a loan at the inflated amount.
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83. Ms. Cedre now seeks to recover these additional damages she would not have
incurred but for Defendants’s FCCPA, FDUTPA and RESPA violations stemming from the
gross “estimated” and ambiguous fees she could not pay and did not understand.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

Florida Class 1

84. Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by Rushmore’s RESPA
violations ( the “Florida Class 1), subject to modification after discovery and case development:

All Florida residents to whom Rushmore responded to a written request

for information that included inaccurate, unclear or inconspicuous fees,

including but not limited to “Acquired Corporate Advance,” “Dismissal

Prep Fee,” “Other Charges,” or any fee or cost labelled “Estimate,” during

the applicable statute of limitations.

Florida Class 2

85.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by
Rushmore’s RESPA violations ( the “Florida Class 2), subject to modification after discovery
and case development:

All Florida residents to whom Rushmore, or a third party acting on
Rushmore’s behalf, responded to a written request for information and
charged, collected, or attempted to collect a fee as a charge for

responding to the written request for information.

Florida Class 3

86.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by the
Defendants’ FCCPA violations (“Florida Class 3”), subject to modification after discovery and

case development:
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All Florida residents to whom Defendants charged, collected, or attempted
to collect an “Estimate” reinstatement of loan amount during the
applicable statute of limitations.

Florida Class 4

87.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by
Defendants’ FDCPA violations (“Florida Class 4”), subject to modification after discovery and
case development:

All persons in Florida to whom Defendants, charged, collected, or
attempted to collect estimated reinstatement of loan amounts during the
applicable statute of limitations.

88.  Class members are identifiable through Defendants’ records and payment
databases.

89. Excluded from the Class are Defendants; any entities in which it has a controlling
interest; its agents and employees; and any Judge to whom this action is assigned and any
member of such Judge’s staff and immediate family.

90. Plaintiff proposes that she serve as class representative for the Class.

91. Plaintiff and the Class have all been harmed by the actions of Defendants

92. Numerosity is satisfied. There are likely thousands of class members. Individual
joinder of these persons is impracticable.

93.  There are questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and to the Class,
including, but not limited to:

a. Whether Rushmore violated RESPA by failing to provide accurate, clear, and

conspicuous information in response to a written request for information;
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b. Whether Rushmore violated RESPA by charging, collecting, or attempting to
collect a fee for responding to a written request for information;

c. Whether Defendants violated the FCCPA by charging monies not due;

d. Whether Defendants violated the FDCPA by charging monies not due;

e. Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to actual or statutory damages as
a result of Defendants’ actions;

f.  Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to attorney’s fees and costs; and

g. Whether Defendants should be enjoined from engaging in such conduct in the
future.

89. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Classes.

90. Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Classes because her interests do not
conflict with the interests of the Classes, she will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the
Classes, and she is represented by counsel skilled and experienced in class actions.

91.  Common questions of law and fact predominate over questions affecting only
individual class members, and a class action is the superior method for fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy.

92.  The prosecution of separate claims by individual class members would create a
risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications concerning individual class members.

COUNT I AS TO RUSHMORE’S VIOLATION OF THE

REAL ESTATE SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES ACT 12 U.S.C. 8 2605(k)
(Florida Class 1)

93. Rushmore is a “servicer” because it was responsible for “servicing” Plaintiff’s

mortgage loan and was scheduled to receive periodic payments from Plaintiff pursuant to the
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terms of her mortgage loan and make payments of principal and interest from those amounts
under the terms of the loan. 12 U.S.C. § 2605(i)(2)—(3).

94. Plaintiff’s loan is a “federally related mortgage loan” because it is secured by a
first or subordinate lien, a residential real property designed for the occupancy of one to four
families, and was made in whole or in part by Codwell Banker Mortgage, then JPMorgan Chase
Bank, then Federal National Mortgage Association, and now Wilmington Savings Fund Society
as trustee for Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust—Ilenders with deposits or accounts which were
insured by the FDIC.

95.  Asaservicer of a federally related mortgage loan, Rushmore must comply with
any regulation implementing the provisions of RESPA. See 12 U.S.C. 8 2605(k)(1)(E).

96. Rushmore is required to maintain policies and procedures that are reasonably
designed to ensure that it can “[p]rovide accurate and timely disclosures to a borrower as
required by this subpart or other applicable law” and “[p]rovide a borrower with accurate and
timely information and documents in response to the borrower's requests for information with
respect to the borrower's mortgage loan.” 12 CFR 1024.38(a)(b)(1)(i),(iii)

97.  OnJune 6, 2016, Ms. Cedre, through counsel, sent a written “request for
information” to Rushmore concerning her mortgage loan and the amount necessary for
reinstatement of her loan. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36.

98. Rushmore, through Albertelli, responded to Plaintiff’s written request with
information that contained “Estimates,” “Acquired Corporate Advance” fees, and “Other Fees”
without identifying why and for what services the fees were charged. See 12 C.F.R. 8

1024.36(d)(1)(i); see 12 C.F.R. 1024.38(a)(b)(L)(i), (iii).
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99. Rushmore violated § 2605(k)(1)(E) when it failed to provide information to
Plaintiff in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, by charging fees not yet incurred and
demanding Plaintiff pay these fees to reinstate her loan. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.32(a)(1); 12 U.S.C. §
2605(K)(1)(E). Rushmore has a pattern and practice of using form letters, like the letter at issue,
that contain these inaccurate, unclear, and inconspicuous responses.

100. Rushmore’s violation of RESPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving her of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning her mortgage loan.
Additionally, Plaintiff incurred attorney’s fees and costs in having to follow up on Rushmore’s
letter, which contained unclear, inaccurate, and inconspicuous information.

101. Asaresult of Rushmore’s pattern and practice of violating 12 C.F.R. §
1024.36(d)(1)(i); 12 CFR 1024.38(a), (b)(1)(i), and (b)(1)(iii), Plaintiff and class members are
entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under 12 U.S.C. § 2605(f), together with
reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT Il AS TO RUSHMORE’S VIOLATION OF

THE REAL ESTATE SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES ACT 12 U.S.C. § 2605(k)
(Florida Class 2)

102. Rushmore is a “servicer” because it was responsible for “servicing” Plaintiff’s
mortgage loan and was scheduled to receive periodic payments from Plaintiff pursuant to the
terms of her mortgage loan and make payments of principal and interest from those amounts
under the terms of the loan. 12 U.S.C. § 2605(i)(2)—(3).

103. Plaintiff’s loan is a “federally related mortgage loan” because it is secured by a
first or subordinate lien, a residential real property designed for the occupancy of one to four
families, and was made in whole or in part by Codwell Banker Mortgage, then JPMorgan Chase

Bank, then Federal National Mortgage Association, and now Wilmington Savings Fund Society
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as trustee for Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust—Ilenders with deposits or accounts which were
insured by the FDIC.

104. As aservicer of a federally related mortgage loan, Rushmore must comply with
any regulation implementing the provisions of RESPA. See 12 U.S.C. 8 2605(k)(1)(E).

105. Rushmore is prohibited from charging borrowers a fee “as a condition of
responding to an information request.” 12 C.F.R. 1024.36(g).

106. Rushmore violated § 2605(k)(1)(E), through Albertelli, when it charged and
attempted to collect a $100.00 fee from Plaintiff for responding to her written request for
information.

107. Rushmore has a pattern and practice of charging a fee to borrowers, like Plaintiff,
for responding to a written request for information.

108. Rushmore’s violation of RESPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving her of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning her mortgage loan.
Additionally, Plaintiff incurred attorney’s fees and costs in having to follow up on Rushmore’s
letter, which contained unclear, inaccurate, and inconspicuous information. She also suffered the
imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount.

109. Asaresult of Rushmore’s pattern and practice of violating 12 C.F.R. §
1024.36(g), Plaintiff and class members are entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages
under 12 U.S.C. § 2605(f), together with reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT 111 AS TO RUSHMORE’S VIOLATION OF

THE FLORIDA CONSUMER COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 8 559.72(9)
(Florida Class 3)

110. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(8) when she purchased

her home by mortgage.
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111. Rushmore is a “person” as defined under the FCCPA.

112.  Rushmore directly, and indirectly through Albertelli, attempted to collect an
illegitimate debt and enforced, claimed, and asserted a known non-existent legal right to a debt
as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(6) when Albertelli Law, on behalf of Rushmore, attempted to
collect fees not owed. Id. § 559.72(9).

113. Rushmore, as a sophisticated defendant mortgage loan servicer regularly engaged
in the mortgage loan servicing industry, knew it could only charge fees actually incurred, and not
“estimated” fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-10038, 2015
WL 7769235, at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the issue more than
six months prior to the date Rushmore, through Albertelli Law, sent the reinstatement of loan
letter to Ms. Cedre. The language and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letter was
even more egregious than in Prescott.

114. Rushmore also knew it could only charge fees incurred because, following the
Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued voluminous warnings against using
“estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters, especially in the Eleventh Circuit.
See, e.g., Exhibit J.

115. Rushmore was also put on notice of its requirements to only charge fees incurred
through the many complaints to the CFPB by consumers that Rushmore charged fees not owed,
discussed supra.

116. By charging estimated fees tacked on to the reinstatement amount, and failing to
provide information in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, Rushmore frustrated Ms.

Cedre’s ability to reinstate her loan and caused her to incur further attorney’s fees and costs in
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connection with defending the foreclosure action and responding to the inaccurate and unclear
information. She also suffered the imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount not owed.

117.  As aresult of Rushmore’s violation of the FCCPA, Plaintiff and class members
are entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under § 559.77(2) of the FCCPA, together
with reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT IV AS TO ALBERTELLI LAW’S VIOLATION OF
THE FLORIDA CONSUMER COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 8 559.72(9)

118. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(8) when she purchased
her home by mortgage.

119.  Albertelli Law is a “person” as defined under the FCCPA.

120. Albertelli Law, as a sophisticated defendant law firm regularly engaged in the
mortgage loan industry, knew it could only charge fees actually incurred, and not “estimated”
fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-10038, 2015 WL 7769235,
at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the issue more than six months
prior to the date Albertelli Law sent the reinstatement of loan letter to Ms. Cedre. The language
and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letter was even more egregious than in Prescott.

121.  Albertelli Law also knew it could only charge fees incurred because, following
the Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued voluminous warnings against
using “estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters, especially in the Eleventh
Circuit. See, e.g., Exhibit J. Albertelli Law is primarily based in Florida.

122. By charging estimated fees tacked on to the reinstatement amount, and failing to
provide information in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, Albertelli Law frustrated Ms.

Cedre’s ability to reinstate her loan and caused her to incur further attorney’s fees and costs in
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connection with defending the foreclosure action and responding to the inaccurate and unclear
information. She also suffered the imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount not owed.

123.  As aresult of Albertelli Law’s violation of the FCCPA, Plaintiff and class
members are entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under § 559.77(2) of the
FCCPA, together with reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT V AS TO CARLSBAD’S VIOLATION OF
THE FLORIDA CONSUMER COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 8 559.72(9)

124.  Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(8) when she purchased
her home by mortgage.

125. Carlsbad is a “person” as defined under the FCCPA.

126. Carlsbad, through its trustee Wilmington, as a sophisticated mortgage lender
regularly engaged in the mortgage loan industry, knew it could only charge fees actually
incurred, and not “estimated” fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No.
15-10038, 2015 WL 7769235, at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the
issue more than six months prior to the date Albertelli Law sent the reinstatement of loan letter to
Ms. Cedre. The language and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letters are even more
egregious than in Prescott.

127. Carlsbad, through its trustee Wilmington, also knew it could only charge fees
incurred because, following the Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued
voluminous warnings against using “estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters,
especially in the Eleventh Circuit. See, e.g., Exhibit J.

128. Rushmore’s and Albertelli Law’s knowledge can also be imputed to Carlsbad

through principles of agency. See, e.g., Compass Bank v. Tania Lynn Vanpelt, No. CA10-1624
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(Fla. Cir. Ct. April 2, 2015) (finding knowledge under the FCCPA could be imputed from agents
to the owner of the mortgage note and holder through principles of agency).

129. By charging estimated fees tacked on to the reinstatement amount, and failing to
provide information in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, Carlsbad frustrated Ms.
Cedre’s ability to reinstate her loan and caused her to incur further attorney’s fees and costs in
connection with defending the foreclosure action and responding to the inaccurate and unclear
information. She also suffered the imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount not owed.

130. Asaresult of Carlsbad’s’ violation of the FCCPA, Plaintiff and class members
are entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under § 559.77(2) of the FCCPA, together
with reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT VI AS TO RUSHMORE’S VIOLATION OF

THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 88 1692¢, 1692f
(Florida Class 4)

131. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) when she purchased
a home in Florida by mortgage.

132.  Rushmore is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) because it
regularly attempts to collect, and collects, amounts owed or asserted to be owed or due another.
Rushmore’s May 24, 2016 letter on behalf of Carlsbad to Ms. Cedre stated: “You should
consider this letter as coming from a Debt Collector . . . and any information received will be
used for that purpose.” The mortgage loan exception to the definition of “debt collector” does not
apply because Plaintiff defaulted on her loan on or around December 1, 2010 and the loan was
assigned to Wilmington as trustee for Carlsbad sometime in or around April 2016, and because

the servicing rights to Ms. Cedre’s loan was assigned to Rushmore, effective May 1, 2016.
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133.  Rushmore engaged in indirect “communications” with Plaintiff as defined by 15
U.S.C. 8 1692a(2) when Albertelli Law sent the May 24, 2016 and June 16, 2016 debt collection
letter to Plaintiff demanding money purportedly due for reinstatement of her loan to avoid
foreclosure.

134. Rushmore violated 15 U.S.C. 8 1692f when it charged estimated fees not owed
and not expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt.

135. Rushmore violated 15 U.S.C. 8 1692e(2)(A) when it misrepresented the amount,
character, and status of the amount to reinstate Plaintiff’s mortgage.

136. Rushmore’s violation of the FDCPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving her of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning her mortgage loan.
Additionally, Plaintiff incurred attorney’s fees, costs, and other incidental costs, in having to
follow up on Rushmore’s letter, which contained unclear, inaccurate, and inconspicuous
information. She also suffered the imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount.

137.  Asaresult of Rushmore’s violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e and15 U.S.C. § 1692f,
Plaintiff and class members are entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under 15
U.S.C. 8 1692(k), together with reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT VII AS TO ALBERTELLI LAW’S VIOLATION OF
THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 15 U.S.C. 88 1692f, 1692e

138. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) when she purchased
a home in Florida by mortgage.
139.  Albertelli Law is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) because it

regularly attempts to collect, and collects, amounts owed or asserted to be owed or due another.



Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 27 of 29

140.  Albertelli Law’s June 16, 2016 letter on behalf of Rushmore and Carlsbad to Ms.
Cedre stated: “We may be considered a debt collector. This is an attempt to collect a debt. Any
information will be used for that purpose.”

141.  Albertelli Law engaged in direct “communications” with Plaintiff as defined by
15 U.S.C. § 1692a(2) when it sent the May 24, 2016 and June 16, 2016 debt collection letter to
Plaintiff demanding money purportedly due for reinstatement of her loan to avoid foreclosure.

142.  Albertelli Law violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692f when it charged estimated fees not
owed and not expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt.

143.  Albertelli Law violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A) when it misrepresented the
amount, character, and status of the amount to reinstate Plaintiff’s mortgage.

144.  Albertelli Law’s violation of the FDCPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving her of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning her mortgage loan.
Additionally, Plaintiff incurred attorney’s fees, costs, and other incidental costs, in having to
follow up on Albertelli Law’s letter, which contained unclear, inaccurate, and inconspicuous
information. She also suffered the imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount.

145.  As aresult of Albertelli Law’s violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e and15 U.S.C. §
1692f, Plaintiff and class members are entitled to actual damages, plus statutory damages under
15 U.S.C. § 1692(k), together with reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.

JURY DEMAND AND RESERVATION OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES

146. Plaintiff is entitled to and respectfully demands a trial by jury on all issues so
triable.

147.  Plaintiff reserves the right to amend his Complaint and add a claim for punitive

damages.
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RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE. Plaintiff, himself and on behalf of the Classes, respectfully requests this

Court to enter judgment against Defendants for all of the following:

a.

b.

That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded actual damages, including but not
limited to forgiveness of all amounts not owed,;

That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded statutory damages for each of

Plaintiff’s claims;

C.

d.

That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded costs and attorney’s fees;

That the Court enter a judgment permanently enjoining Defendants from charging
and/or collecting debt in violation of the FDCPA, FCCPA, and RESPA;

That, should the Court permit Defendants to continue charging and/or collecting
debt, it enter a judgment requiring them to adopt measures to ensure FDCPA,
RESPA, and FCCPA compliance, and that the Court retain jurisdiction for a
period of six months to ensure that Defendants comply with those measures;
That the Court enter a judgment awarding any other injunctive relief necessary to
ensure Defendants’ compliance with the FDCPA, RESPA, and the FCCPA;

That the Court enter an order that Defendants and their agents, or anyone acting
on their behalf, are immediately restrained from altering, deleting or destroying
any documents or records that could be used to identify class members;

That the Court certify Plaintiff’s claims and all other persons similarly situated as
class action claims under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure; and

Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
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Dated: December 16, 2016 Respectfully Submitted,

/s/ James L. Kauffman

James L. Kauffman (Fla. Bar. No. 12915)
BAILEY & GLASSER, LLP

1054 31st Street NW, Suite 230
Washington, DC 20007

Telephone: (202) 463-2101

Facsimile: (202) 342-2103

Email: jkauffman@baileyglasser.com

Darren R. Newhart, Esqg.

Florida Bar No.: 0115546

E-mail: darren@cloorg.com

J. Dennis Card Jr., Esq

Florida Bar No.: 0487473
E-mail:DCard@Consumerlaworg.com
Consumer Law Organization, P.A.
721 US Highway 1, Suite 201
North Palm Beach, Florida 33408
Telephone: (561) 692-6013
Facsimile: (305) 574-0132

Counsel for Plaintiff and the Putative Class
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EXHIBIT A
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Words used in mulliple sections of this document are defined below and other words are defined in
Sections 3, 11, 13, 18, 20 and 21. Centain rules regarding the usage of words used in this document are
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(A) "Security Instrument” means this document, which is dated May 28, 2004
together with all Riders 1o this document.

(B) "Borrower™is Marie T Cedre, AN UNMARRIED WOMAN

Borrower is the mortgagor under this Security Instrument.
(C) "Lender” is Coldwell Bankexr Mortgage

Lender is a Corporation
organized and existing under the laws of New Jersey
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i

Lender’s address is 3000 Leadenhall Road Mount Laurel, RJ 08054

Lender is the mortgagee under this Security Instrument.

(D) "Note" means the promissory note signed by Borrower and datedMay 28, 2004

The Note states that Borrower owes Lender One Eundred Thirty Thousand Dollars and
Zozo Cents , Dollars
(U.S. $130,000.00 ) plus interest. Borrower has promised to pay this debt in regular Periodic
Payments and to pay the debs in full not later than June 1st, 2034 .

y (E) "Property” means the property that is described below under the heading "Transfer of Rights in the

Propesty. :

(F) "Loan" means the debt evidenced by the Note, plus interest, any prepayment charges and Jate charges
due under the Note, and all sums due under this Security Instrument, plus interest.

(G) "Riders" means all Riders to this Security Instrument that are executed by Borrower. The following
Riders are 10 be exccuted by Borrower [check box as applicable}:

[x] Adjustable Rate Rider [] Condominium Rider [ Second Home Rider
: [_] Balloon Rider Planned Unit Development Rider [__] 1-4 Family Rider
| W\ [J VA Rider Biweckly Payment Rider L] Others) fspecify)

(H) "Applicable Law" means all controlling applicable federal, state and local statutes, regulations,
ordinances and administrative rules and orders (that have the effect of law) as wel) as all applicable final,
non-appealable judicial opinions.

(D “Community Association Dues, Fees, and Assessments” means all dues, fees, assessments and other
cha’gsﬂmtareimpoﬂouBomwerau:erpmybyamndminiummociaﬁom homeowners
association or similar organization.

(J) "Electronic Funds Transfer” means any transfer of funds, other than a transaction originated by
check, draft, or similar paper instrument, which is initiated through an electronic terminal, telephonic
instrument, computer, or magnetic Lape so as to order, instruct, or authorize a financia) institution to debit
or credit an acoount. Such term includes, but is not limited to, point-of-sale transfers, avtomated teller
machine transaclions, transfers initiated by telephone, wire trensfers, and automated cleasinghouse
transfers.

i (K) "Escrow Items" means those items that are described in Section 3.

(L) "Miscellaneous Proceeds™ means any compensation, seitiement, awerd of damages, or proceeds paid
by any third party (other than insurance proceeds paid under the coverages described in Section 5) for: (i)
damage to, or destruction of, the Property; (ii)eondannmionoromertakingofalloranypmofﬂxe
Property; (jii) conveyance in lieu of condemnation; or (iv) misrepresentations of, or omissions as to, the
valve and/or condition of the Propesty.

(M) "Mortgage Insurance" means insurance protecting Lender against the nonpayment of, or default on,
the Loan.

, (N)%Mchym"msﬂwmgulaiysdwduledmmducfor(i)pﬁndmlandimmmdenhe
Note, plus (ii) any amounts under Section 3 of this Security Instrument. .

20
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(0) "RESPA" means the Real Esiate Settlement Procedures Act (12 U.S.C. Section 2601 et'seq.) and its
implementing regulation, Regulation X (24 C.F.R. Part 3500), as they might be amended from time 10
time, o any additional or successor legislation or- regulation thay governs the same subject mattes. As used
in this Security Instrument, "RESPA" refers to all requirements and restrictions that are imposed in regard
to a "federally related morigage loan" even if the Loan does noi qualify as a "federally related mortgage

loan" under RESPA.

(P)'Sminhtu&ofhmweﬁ‘mnsanypanyuwtbmtakmtilletothePropmy. whether or

not that party has assumed Borrower’ s obligations under the Note and/or this Security Instrument.

TRANSFER OF RIGHTS IN THE PROPERTY

This Security Instrument secures to Lender: (i) the repayment of the Loan, and al} renewals, extensions and

Security Instrument and the Note. For this purpose, Borrower does heseby mortgage, grant and convey to
[Type of Recording Jorisdiction)
[Name of Recording Jurisdicrion}:

Lender; the following described propernty located in the COUNTY
of SENINOLE

Lot 73, of Greenwood Lakes Unit 8, according to the plat
thereof as Recorded in Plat Book 25, Pages 46 to 48,

of the Public Records of Seminole County, Florida.

Parce} ID Number: which currently has the address of
113 HERON BAY {Street}
LAKE MARY [City}, Florida 32746 [Zip Code)

("Property Address”):

mmmdlumimvmmsnowormcaﬁaawed

on the property, and all

mmaﬂﬁxmwwmhaufmapmoﬂhemy. Al replacements and
additions shall also be covered by this Security Instrument. All of the foregoing is referred to in this

Secusity Instrument as the “Property.”

@;-B(FL) 0003).02 Pege3ol 18

Form 3010 1/01

Original
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' BORROWER COVENANTS that Borrower is lawfully seised of the estate hereby conveyed and has
the right to mortgage, grant and convey the Property and that the Property is unencumbered, except for
encumbrances. of record. Borrower warvants and will defend generally the title to the Property against all
claims and demands, subject to any encumbrances of record.

THIS SECURITY INSTRUMENT combines uniform covenants for national use and non-uniform
covenants with limited variations by jurisdiction to constitute a uniform security insirument covering real

UNIFORM COVENANTS. Borrower and Lender covenant and agree as follows:

1. Payment of Principal, Interest, Escrow Items, Prepayment Charges, and Late Charges.
Borrowshallpaywhcndnethepﬁncipﬂof,andimmon.ﬂwdcblcviduwedbymeNowandany
prepayment charges and late charges due under the Note. Borrower shal) also pay funds for Escrow Items
pursuant to Section 3. Payments due under the Note and this Security Instrument shall be made in U.S.
cumy.Howcver,ifanydneckorocherimxmmtreceivedbyl.mderaspaymundull)eﬂoteordnis
Séwrhymmmismwncdtolm»mid,mdumyquiteﬁmanymallwbseque:npaymzs
dueumertheNoteandlhisSemﬁtyhsmumbenmdeiuoueormmofmefoﬂowingforms.as
selected by Lender: (a) cash; (b) money order; (c) centified check, bank check, treasurer’s check or
mshiu’scbeck.pmvidedmywdndxeckisdmwnnponaninﬁimﬁmwbo&dcpositsmimmedbya
Fx\ federal agency, instrumentality, or entity; or (d) Electronic Funds Transfer.

hymsmdwmdmdvedbyhmﬂawbmmoﬁvedmdclomﬁmdwigmwdinwﬂaewm
snhodmrloaﬁonasmybe&ﬁgmwdbyLu\deinmdmthhﬂwnoﬁcemviﬁominSoaionIS.
Lender may return any payment or pastial payment if the payment or partial payments are insufficient to
bring the Loan current. Lender may accept any payment or partial payment insufficient 1o bring the Loan
current, wilhou!waiverofanyrightshetwmorprejudiceloilsﬁgbtsmrcfwcmchpaymwpmﬁal
payments in the future, bm!.mduisnotobliga:edtoapplysuebpaymmtsatd\etimcsucbpayumsare
accepted. If each Periodic Payment isappliedasofilssd:eduleddueda!c.ﬂwobenderneednolpay
interest on unapplied funds. Lender may hold such unapplied funds until Bortower makes paymeni to bring
the Loan current. If Borsower does not do so within a reasonable period of time, Lender shal) either apply
such funds or return them to Borrower. lfnotappliedearliu-.sud;fundswillbeappliedtomcoummding
principal balance under the Note immediately prior 10 foreclosure. No offset or claim which Borrower
might have now or in the future against Lender shall relieve Borrower from making payments due under
the Note and this Security Instrument or performing the covenants and agreements secured by this Security
Instrument,

2. Appiication of Payments or Proceeds. Excepl as otherwise described in this Section 2, al)
payments accepied and applied by Lender shall be applied in the following order of priosity: (a) interest
due under the Note; (b) principal due under the Note; (c) amounts duc under Section 3. Such payments
shall be applied to each Periodic Payment in the order in which it became due. Any remaining amounts
shall be applied first 10 late charges, second to any other amounts due under this Security Instrument, and
then to reduce the principal balance of the Note.

If Lender receives a payment from Borrower for a delinquem Periodic Payment which includes a
sufficient amount to pay any late charge due, the payment may be applied 10 the delinquent payment and
the fate charge. 1 more than one Periodic Payment is outstanding, Lender may apply any payment received
ﬁmuBmowu'toﬂlempaymtofthePaiodicPaymtsif.alid. extent that, each payment

2~
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can be paid in full. To the exent that any excess exists after the payment is applied to the full payment of
mmm?ﬁoﬁc?aym&aﬂ:ummymapﬂiwtomymwmvam
prepaymenis. shall be applied first 10 any prepayment charges and then as described in the Note.

Any application of payments, insurance proceeds, or Miscellaneous Proceeds to principal dve under
uuNotcslmllnmmu;dorpoamnaeduedatc. or change the amount, of the Periodic Payments.

3. Funds for Escrow Jtems. Bosrower shall pay to Lender on the day Periodic Payments are due
under the Note, until the Note is paid in full, a sum (the "Funds") 1o provide for payment of amounts duc
for: (a) taxes and assessments and other jtems which can aitain priority over this Security Instrument as a -
lienorammbmnueontbel’ropmy; (b)hmdtoldpaymen!smgmundrmtsonthcl’mpmy. if any; (c)
premiums for any and ail insurance required by Lendes under Section 5; and {d) Mongage Insurance
premiums, if any, or any sums payable by Borrower to Lender in lieu of the payment of
Insumprurﬁminmdancewi&hﬂnprovisimofswion 10. These jtems are called "Escrow
hems.” At origination or at any time during the term of the Loan, Lender may require that Community
Association Dues, Fees, and Assessments, if any, be escrowed by Borrower, and such dues, fees and
assessments shal) be an Escrow Item. Bosrower shall promptly furnish to Lender al) notices of amounts to

obligaﬁontopaytolmdeﬂ’undsforanyorallBscrowlmuanytime. Any such waiver may only be
W in writing. In the event of such waiver, Borrower shall pay directly, when and where. payable, the smounts
dncforanyEsaowhamforwhidlpaynmofFundshasbemwaivedbyLmdcr&nd.il'Lendertequiles.
shall fnmishw!zndertweiptsevidmdngsuchpaymlwiﬂﬁns‘mﬁmpaiodaslzndetnnquuire.
erma’soblignﬁonlomkcsud:paynmsandtoprovidemdptsswl for all purposes be deemed. 10
beawvmandagremmconwinedimhisSeauityhstmmt.asthephfm'commtandag:emmt'
is used in Section 9. If Bomrower is obligated 10 pay Escrow liems directly, pursvant to a waiver, and
Bosrower fails to pay the amount due for an Escrow Item, Lender may exercise its rights under Section 9
mlpaymchavmumandl!mowcrshal!thcnbeobligawdundaSecﬁon9tompayloLendamysuch
amount, Lendumayrevokcthewaiverastoanyorall!iscmwllemsaianytimebyanotioegivmin
accosdance with Section 15 and, upon such revocation, Borvower shal) pay to Lender all Funds, and in
such amounts, that are then required under this Section 3.

Lender may, at any time, collect and hold Funds in an amount (a) sufficient 10 permit Lender to apply
the Funds at the time specified unﬂu'RESPA.and(b)nouoamdtlwmximummmalmducan
require under RESPA. Lender shall estimate the amount of Funds due on the basis of current data and
reasonable estimates of expenditures of future Escrow Jtems or otherwise in accordance with Applicable
Law. .

The Funds shall be held in an institution whose deposits are insured by a federal agency,
instrumentality, or entity (including Lender, if Lmdaisaninstilulionwhosedepositsmsoﬁmned)orin
anyFeda-a.lehmBank.LendersballapplylchundstopaytbeEscro\vltw\snolammmeﬁm
specified under RESPA. LmdersballmchargeBonowuforboldingandawlyingﬂzeFunds.mnauy
mlyzingﬂ:emwaemum.orvcrifyingdnﬁsuowllum, unless Lender pays Borrower interest on the
FundsandApplicablel.awpuﬁtslaﬂerlomakcmﬁ;adlﬂ'ge. Unless an agreement is made in writing
orApplieab!elaw:eq:ﬁmimmlobcpanonmeFunds, Lender shall not be required to pay Borrower
anyintenstoreanuingsonlheFmds.BormwerandLmdamnagwe' iting, however, that interest
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shall be paid on the Funds, Lender shall give to Borrower, without charge, an annual accounting of the
Funds as required by RESPA, :
lfﬂmis-asmpmsofl’uwsheldinesuom as defined under RESPA, Lender shall account to
Borrower for the excess funds in accordance with RESPA. If!baeisashortageoanndshddinmow.
as defined under RESPA, Lender shall nolify Borrower as required by RESPA, and Borrower shall pay to
mmm,mytom@mmmin-mﬁmm& but in np more than 12

to Borrower any Funds held by Lender.
d.Clmges;Lius.'Bonowerslnllpayalltammls. charges, fines, and impositions
auﬁbumblctomeﬁopertywhidxcmaninpdoﬁtywermis&wﬁtyml. leaschold payments or
gmﬂmmﬂthopeuy.ifany.and@munityAmiaﬁonDues.Fees,andAssamnems.ifany.To
the extent that these items are Escrow Items, Bmowusha!lpayﬂmnindxemprovidedin&tﬁonl
BmowshallpmmlydischmgcmyHmWhid:hspﬁoﬁtyovuﬁﬁsSecuﬁtylnstmmumﬂ&
Bon-ower:(a)aglwsinwﬁling mlhepaymoftheobligaﬁonseamdbythelieninamanwawepub!e
to Lender, bulonlysolongasBorrowuisperfomﬁngmagtwmt; (b) contests the Jien in good feith
by.orddmdsagaimenfmntoftbcﬁenin.legalpmeeedingswhid:inlmder’sopiuionopquc(o
prevanﬂnaﬂ‘cmnofﬂnelienwlﬁlethosewoceedingsmpeuding, bmonlyumilsuchptoceedings

more of the actions set forth above in this Section 4.
Lender may require Borrower to Pay a onc-time charge for a real estate tax verification and/or
reporting service used by Lender in connection with this Loan.
S.PropufylnmnmBonomshallkeeplheimprovmxsmexisﬁngorhaeeﬂauuuon

lbeLoan.Trcimmmmiamﬁdiugdwimmmshdlbembyhmsubjeawlawu’s
sight to disapprove Borrower's choice, which right shall not be exercised unreasonably. Lender may
require Borrower 1o pay, in connection with this Loan, cither: () a one-time charge for flood zone
determinzation, wﬁﬁcalionmdmckingsaviws;u(b)amw-ﬁmdmgefmﬂmdmdamm

mmmblynﬁgblalfectswhdaauﬁnaﬁmormiﬁmion. Borrower shall also be responsible for the
paymem ofmyfesimposedbyﬂmFMﬁwgmMmagamAgencyinmmionwithUe
review of any flood zone determination resulting from an objection by Borrower.
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lxudawﬂmowarequsﬁngpaym . ‘

All insurance policies required by Lender and renewals of such policies shall be subject 10 Lender's
right to disapprove such policies, shall include a standard mostgage clause, and shall name Lender as
morigagee and/or as an additional loss payee. Lmdershallhavelherigmtoholdmepolidsmm

rencwal notices. If Borrower obtains any form of insurance coverage, not otherwise required by Lender,
for damage 10, or destruction of, the Property, such policy shall include a standard morigage clause and
shall name Lender as morgagee and/or as an additional loss payee.

In the event of loss, Borrower shall give prompt notice to the insurance carrier and Lender. Lender
mynﬂeprooloflc_sifnotnndempﬂybyliomwer. Un!ssl..endermdﬂmmwao!hwiseagee

interest or camings on such proceeds. Fees for public adjusters, or other third parties, retained by
Bm-rms!mllaolbepaidunonhcinsumpmwadsmdshallbemesokobﬁgaﬁonof&m. If
thensxomion-ormpairismmmﬁmﬂyfeasiblcorlmdu’smﬁtywonwbemm. the insurance
pmwdssballl’eappliedlomemmmbymismmylmmt.wlmherornotttmduc,with
theexcas,ifany.paidlo&xmwu.&wbinmmprmuxbslallbeappliedinlhcordcrpmvidedforin
Section 2.

N
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6. Occupancy. Borrower shall occupy, establish, and use the Property as Borrower's principal
residence within 60 days afier the execution of this Security Instrument and shall continue to occupy the
Property as Borrower’s principal uﬁdmceforalkastmywaﬂerthedﬂcofmpancy, unjess Lender
otherwise agrees in writing, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, or unless extenuating
circumstances exist which are beyond Borrower’ s control.

7. Preservation, Mainttmncemd?rﬂecﬁonofﬂreh'opeﬂy; Inspections. Borrpwshall not
destroy, damage or impair the Property, allow the Property to deteriorate or commit waste on the
Property. Whether or not Bosrower is residing in the Property, Borrower shall maintain the Property in
order 1o prevent the Property from deleriorating or decreasing in value dve 10 its condition. Unless itis
determined pursuant to Section 5 that Fepair or restoration is not economically feasible, Borrower shall
promptly repair the Property if damaged to avoid further deterioration or damage. If insurance or
condemnnation proceeds arc paid in connection with damage to, or the taking of, the Property, Borrower
shall be responsible for repairing or restoring the Property only if Lender has released proceeds for such
purposes. Lender may disburse proceeds for the repairs and restoration in a single payment or in a series of
progress payments as the work is completed. If the insurance or condemnation proceeds are not sufficient
to repair or restore the Property, Borrower is not relieved of Borrower' s obligation for the completion of
such repair or restoration.

Lender or its agent may make reasonable entries upon and inspections of the Property. If it has
reasonable cause, Lender may inspect the interior of the improvements on the Property. Lender shall give
Borrower notice at the time of or prior 1o such an interior inspection specifying such reasonable canse.

8. Borrower's Loan Application. Borrower shall be in default if, during the Loan application
process, Borrower or any persons or entities acting at the direction of Borrower or with Borrower's
knowledge or consent gave materially false, misleading, or inaccurate information or statements to Lender
(or failed to provide Lender with material information) in commection with the Loan. Material
representations include, but are not limited to, representations concerning Borrower's occupancy of the
Property as Borrower's principal residence.

9. Protection of Lender’s Interest in the Property and Rights Under this Security Instrument. If
(a) Borrower fails 10 perform the covenants and agreements contained in this Security Instrument, (b) there
is a legal proceeding that might significantly affect Lender's interest in the Property and/or rights under
this Security Instrument (such as a proceeding in bankrupicy, probate, for condemnation or forfeiture, for
enforcement of a lien which may attain priority over this Security Instrument or to enforce laws or
regulations), or {c) Borrower has abandoned the Property, then Lender may do and pay for whatever is
reasonable or appropriale 1o protect Lender's interest in the Property and rights under this Security
Instrument, including protecting and/or assessing the value of the Property, and securing and/or repairing
the Property. Lender's actions can include, but are not limited to: (a) paying any sums secured by a lien
which has priority over this Security Instrument: (b) appearing in court; and (c) paying reasonable
altomeys” fees 1o protect its interest in the Property and/or rights under this Security Instrument, including
its secured position in a bankruptcy proceeding. Securing the Property includes, but is not Jimited {o,
cn:uin;timPropmy to make repairs, change locks, replace or board up doors and windows, drain water

on or off. Although Lender may take action under this Section 9, Lender does not have to do so and is not
under any duty or obligation to do so. It is agreed that Lender incurs no liability for not taking any or all
actions authorized under this Section 9.
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If this Security Instrument is on a leasehold, erowershalloouplywilhalluwpmvisiomofd)e
lease. If Borrower acquires fee title 1o the Property, the leaschold and the fee title shall not merge unless
l.mcbaglwtothcnugerinwﬁting. '

10. Mortgage Insurance, lfl.andermuiredMongagclmumasamndiﬁonofmkingﬂwm
Borrower shall pay the premiums required to maintain the Morigage Insurance in effect. M, for any reason,
theMongagclmummagerequired_bywldamwbeavaﬂab!eﬁmnmemonsageinsumthat

! wmypwﬁddmcbinwmwmwmmquiwdwmmngmedpaym
i mwadthepmﬁmfmegagch&nm.Bomwashallpayumwunimreqﬁmdmouain
i coverage substantially eguivalent to the Morgage Insurance previously in effect, at a cost substantially
! cguivalent lo!hecostloBmmwerofﬁneMoﬂgage Insurance previously in effect, from an alternate
: mortgage insurer sclected by_ Lender. If substantially cquivalent Mortgage Insurance coverage is not

I paymeats as a non-refundable loss reserve in licu of Mortgage Insurance. Such loss reserve shall be
] non-refundeble, notwithstanding the fact that the Loan is ultimately paid in full, and Lender shall not be
! mﬁmwmy&mmyinmmwningsmwchmm Lender can po longer require loss
rescrve payments if Mortgage Insurance coverage (in the amount and for the period that Lender reguires)
provided’byaninmrerseleaedbyl.eoderagainbeoomavailab!e.isobtaincd,andlmdu' ]

scparately designated payments toward the premiums for Morigage Insurance. If Lender required Mortgage
hwmsawndiﬁmo{mkingﬂwmnmdmmrequimdwnmkcsepmwlyddgmwd

Lender providing for such termination or until termination is required by Applicable Law., Nothing in this
Section 10 affects Borrower's obligation to pay interest at the rate provided in the Note.

Mortgage Insurance reimburses Lender (or any entity that purchases the Note) for certain losses it
myincurifnmowdosnotn:paylheuanasagteed. Bomwm'isnotapanytolheMongage
Insurance.

Mortgage insurers evaluate their total risk on al} such insurance in force from time to time, and may
mimoagmmswithotherpanisﬂmﬂmormodifythdrﬁsk. or reduce Josses. These agreements
are on terms and conditions that are satisfactory (0 the mortgage insurer and the other party {or parties) to
these agreements. These agreements may require the mortgage insurer to make payments using any source
of funds that the smorgage insurer may have available (which may include funds obtained from Morigage
Insurance premiums).

As a result of these agreements, Lender, any purchascr of the Note, another insurer, any reinsurer,
any other entity, or any affiliate of any of the foregoing, may receive (directly or indirectly) amounts that
derive from (or might mwwdm)apmmostwm for Mongage Insurance, in
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| If the Property is sud)'Miwellaneous Proceeds shall be applied 1o restoration or repair of
! the Property, if the restoration or repair is cconomically feasible and Lender’s security is not lessened.
| Dnﬁngsochrepairandmwmionpeﬁod, Lender shall have the right to hold such Miscellaneous Proceeds

" ; ity
belessened.meMbcellaneustwedsslnllbeappliedtoxhcmmmd this Security Instrument,
whaberotaotd;a:duc.wilhmeac&.ifany.paidtoBmmwer.Suchis:elyla:umwedsshallbe
applied in the order provided for in Section 2. :
lnmecventofaloullakiag.dmmimorlossinvalueofmel’mpeny.!thiscellarm :
Pmcead;.sballbeappliedtomesumssecumdbythisSewﬁtylnsmmt,whettuornotﬂmdue. with
the excess, if any, paid to Bosrower.
lnthccventofapanialtaking,dwmﬁotmorlosinvsucofmerpmyinwhichmefairmka
value of the Property immediately before the partial taking, destruction, or loss-in-value js equal 10 or

multiplied by the following fraction: (a) the total amount of the sums secured immediately before the
partial taking, destruction, or Joss in valve divided by (b) the fair market value of the
immediately before the partial takin destruction, or loss in value. Any balance shall be pai to Borrower.
lnmeyevemofapglan"ualt&ing%@suuaion.orlossinvalueofﬂ{el‘rwmyinwh&!dunfairmka
valueofthe?topmyimnwdia&elybeforemcpmiaj laking, destruction, or loss in value is fess than the
mxd&ewmmimmdimdybdmﬂnpmﬁalmking.d&dmcﬁm or loss in value, unless
Wmmmminmﬁm,mmmmmwewwmunm
secmedbyuﬁsSeunitylnstmmtwhahaorwmemdeue.
Hﬂwhopmyisabmdmmwaonm.mif.aﬂumﬁeebylamwmmme
Opposinngy(asdeﬁnedinncmlmwe)offasteanawardtosmlcaclaimfo:datmgts.

Proceeds. :

Borrower shal) be in default if any action or proceeding, whether civil or criminal, is begun that, in
Lender's judgment, could result in forfeiture of the Property erial impairment of Lender's
inlet&iudwe?mpenyorﬁghlsundamisSwuﬁtylnsuum Borrower can cure such a default and, if
agodgratim.hasoen‘:md.minsmeaspmvidedin&cdonw. ing the action or proceeding to be
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any award or claim for damages that are aitributable to the impairment of Lender’s interest in the Property
mhaebyassignedandsha!lbepaidxobmdu.

All Miscellmnoushoceedsﬂmmnotappliedtomoratimorrepairofmel’mpa-lyshallbe
applied in the order provided for in Section 2.

Borrower or any Successors in Intesest of Borrower. Any forbearance by Lender in exercising any right or

remedy including, without Jimitation, Lender's acceptance of payments from third persons, entities or

Stminlmmofhm\vaminmmsl&ssthmmemnmmendue.shallnotbeawaiverofor
preclutbnleexemiseofanyﬁgbtorremedy.

n:ammmmm;ams;&msmmmmmm

. andagwslhaxwrowa'sobﬂgnﬁommﬁabﬂﬁysmuejoimmm. Howevc:.apynormwawho

! s default, for the purpose of protecting Lender’s interest in the Property and rights under this
: Security Instrument, including, but not limited 10, attorneys’ fees, property inspection and valuation fees.
In regard 10 any other fees, meabsawcofumauthoﬁtyinthisSemﬁtylnsuunmtodmgcaqujﬁc
feetoBorrowershaIlno(beamstmedasaprohibilionondwdlargingofmfcc. Lender may not charge
fees that are expressly prohibited by this Security lmmmorbyAppliable Law.

If the Loan is subject to a law Which sets maximum loan charges, and that Jaw is finally interpreted so
nmtheintmoroumloanchargsconectedonobeconectedineonneuimwithmeuanuceedlhe
permitted limits, then: (a)anymdrlomchageshallhcmdwedbylhemnounlmylomﬂn
charge 10 the permitted limit; and (b) any sums already collected from Borrower which exceeded permitted
linﬁiswillherefurﬂedto&nmwu.Lundumaychoosewnnkclhisnfundbymngmepdmiw
owedunduﬂ!eNacorbynakingadbeupaynmtloBorm\m. lfamfundredumpﬁncipal.ﬁn
reduﬁmwillbeﬂwedasapa:ﬁalpmpaym witbomanyptepaymldmrge(whethuwnota
prepayment charge is provided for under the Noe). Bmmwersmmmofmywd:mfundmw
direct payment to Borrower will constitute a waiver of any right of action Bostower might have arising out
of such

lS.Noﬁes.NlmicsgivmbmemmLmduinmmimwhbmisSeuﬁtylmmm
nwbeinwriﬁng.Anyno&cetoBonowinconmionwimﬂ\isSewﬁ Instrument shal) be decmed to
hnvehamgivmlobmmwetwlmmiledbyﬁmdassmilor 2 IyddtoBonowu-‘s
noticeaddr&ifmbyodmmNoﬁcewanyoneBomwshall Zatite ndtice to all Borrowers
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unless Applicable Law expressly ‘requires otherwise. ‘lhenoticeaddrmsballbe(he!’romyAddm
unl&Bmmmhsdcsigmlcdambsﬁmtenoﬁccaddmsbynoﬁcetolm. Borrower shall promptly
notify Lender of Borrower’s change of address. lflmdu-spwiﬁesaprocedmeformﬁngﬂmmu’s
change of address, lhﬁ:Bamwerlelmﬂympmichmgeofﬁd:&ﬂuougbﬂm-speﬁﬁedpmeedm
nmnuybeodyonedaigmmdnuiceaddmsundaﬂﬁsSwuﬁtyhmmumtmanymﬁm Any
notice to Lender shall be given by delivering it or by mailing it by first class mail to Lender's address
staled herein unless Lender has designated another address by notice to Borrower. Any, notice in
connectionwitblhisSewritylmmtslnllnmbedeunedwhavebwngimlolumwﬁlaanally
reccived by Lender. IfanynoticemqniwdbynﬁsSeunitylmlnmisalsorequimdunduApplicable
Law, the Applicable Law requirement will satisfy the corresponding requirement under this Security
Instrumnent. :

Applicable Law. ApplhbleLawnﬁglucxplidﬂyorimpﬂduyallowthepu&smaglubymoril
mighthesilcm.bmmchsilwceﬂmllnubeeﬂmwdasapmhibiﬁmagainstagrwmbymm In
the event that asy provision or clavse of this Security Instrument or the Note conflicts with Applicable
l.aw,sudncoamuslnllnotaffectoﬂmmvisiomofmis&mritylnstmmorlheNo:ewhidnmbc
given effect without the conflicting provision.

As used in this Security Instrument: (a) words of the masculine gender shall mean and include
mrrspondingmwrmdsorwordsofdwfenﬁninegm(b)wordsinthesingularshallmand
include the plural and vice versa; and (c) the word "may® gives sole discretion without any obligation to
take any action.

l‘l.Borro\nr’sCopy.BotrowashallbegivenonecopyoflbeNo(eandofthisScanﬂylmuum.

l&Tudcdmhmtywawthomm.AsﬁscdinmisSmfm 18,
"lminﬂw?mpaty‘mnsmykgalubeadicialimminmehwmy. including, but not Yimited
tqdmbanﬁdﬂimmminabondrordeed.mfordwd.imtallnmsalesmaaor
ﬁcmwaglwwn.IbeinwotofwhicbistheuansfaofﬁucbyBomwumaﬁlmdalcloamw.

ll'alloranypano!’thel’mpenyoranylnminthePropmyissoldorml‘med(o:ifBom
isnotanmutalpetsonandabmeﬁcialintminaormwissoldoruansfmed)wiumtl.cnda'spﬂor
wrillen consent, Lender may require immediate payment in full of al) sums secured by this Security
Instrument. However, this option shall not be exercised by Lender if such exercisc is prohibited by

icable Law. ’
Appllfl..endercxatiss this option, Lender shall give Borrower notice of acceleration. The notice shall
pmvidcapeliodofnotl@slhmm&ysfmuwdmemmiceisgivminmﬂmwim&cﬁonlS
withinwhid:BonowumNpayallmmmdbylhisSmwitylnmmL If Borrower fails 10 pay
these sums prior to the expiration of this period, Lender may invoke any remedies permitted by this
Security Instrument without further notice or demand on Bosrower.

19. Borrower's Right to Reinstate After Acceleration. If Borrower meets certain conditions,
Bonowersha!llavedwﬁgbttohaveeufmtoflhis&wﬁlyh&mmdisconﬁmedmmyﬁm
prior to the carliest of: (a)ﬁvedaysbdaesakofthehoputyptmautoanypowofsalemmainedin
thnsSewmylnstmmem. (b)sud;otberpaiodasApplicableuwyigmspedfyfonbewmﬁmﬁonof

E
!
|
|
|
E
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purpose of protecting Lender’s interest in the Property and rights under this Security Instrument; and (d)
Iakssnhwionashudamymnablywquile'lom!hatLmder‘sinminlhel’mpenymd
rigmsunbtlﬁsSeuninylnsu'umLmderowefsobligationtopaylhemmmdbylhisSemnity
Instrument, shall wnﬁnuenmtmged.bmdanaquuinﬂmhmmwpaymﬁwmmand
expenses in one or more of the following forms, as sclected by Lender: (a) cash; (b) money order: (c)
certified check, bank check, reasurer's check or cashier’s check, provided any such check'is drawn upon
an institution whose deposits are insured by a federal agency, instrumentality or entity; or (d) Electronic
: Funds Transfer. Upon reinstatement by Borrower, this Security hstmmtandobligaxionssaan‘adhereby
: shall remain folly effective as if no acceleration had occurred, However, this right to reinstate shall nos
apply in the case of acceleration under Section 18.
nwarmmawmmacmmeuammmm
the Note (together with this Security Instrument) can be sold ope or more times without prior notice to
'ero\va'.Asalemighlrwultinadtmgeintheemily(knownaslhc"LoanSavioet")Meollects
Pumhymmm'ummewmandmwulmmmmmwwm
servicing obligations under the Note, this Security Instrument, and Applicable Law. There also might be
mornmchangsofmcLomServicaumdawdtoamleofunNote.lftbereisachmgcofmcl.oan
Su'vieu-.Botrowwi!lbegivmwrinenmﬁcedth:d:angewmwwillmﬂcnmmdaddmofme
newLoanServicex.meaddmsstowhichpaynmsslmwbeundcandanymhu-infommimRESPA
reqmcsineomecﬁonwitbanoﬁecofmfacfmicing. If the Note is sold and thereafter the Loan is
savicedbyaLoanSewiwmmnhmmemmhmonbeNom. the mortgage loan servicing obligations
loBoumwerwitltanﬁnwi(hlthoanSavicermbcmfumdtoawmoernSaviwandmnot
: assumed by the Note purchaser unless otherwise provided by the Note purchaser,

Neither Borrower nor Lender may commence, join, or be joined to any judicial action (as either an
individual litigant or the member of a class) that arises from the other pasty’s actions pursuant to this
Seauilylnstmnmorthatancgslbatlheotlmpanyhasl»udwdmypmvisionof.oranydutyowedby
reason of, this Security Insirument, until such Borrower or Lender has notified the other party (with such
notice given in compliance with the requirements of Section 15) of such alleged breach and afforded the
mbamyhemoarasonalﬂcpaiodaﬁermcgivingofsucbmﬁce lo take correclive action. If

and herbicides, volatile solvents, materials containing ashestos or formaldehyde, and radicactive materials;
(b "Eovirommmaluw'mmfeduallmandhwsoflhejmisdiaionwhandnhopmyis!mm
selate to health, safety or environmenta) protection; {(c) "Environmental Cleanup”® includes any response
action, semedial action, or removal action, as defined in Environmental Law; and (d) an "Environmenta)
Condition™ means a condition that can cause, contribute to, or ptherwike trigger an Environmental
Cleanup. .

Q—c(ﬂ) 19005).02 Page 13 ot 16 Form 3010 V01
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Bmwudﬂlmwamuﬁxdnmmdim, storage, or release of any Hazardous
Substances, or threaten 10 release any Hazardous Substances, on.or in the Propesty. Borrower shall not do,
nor allow anyone else to do, anything affecting the Property (a) that is in violation of any Environmental
Law, (b) which creates an Environmental Condition, or (c) which, due to the presence, use, or release of a
HmSWmawﬁmmeymvaﬂueofmﬁopmy. The preceding

Hmm&mmmamgmmlymgﬁudtobeamﬁmmmwdmﬁdmmw
maintenance of the Property (including, but not limited to, hazardous substances in consumes products).
Borrower shall promptly give Lender written notice of (a) any investigation, claim, demand, lawsuit
orothuaaionbyanygovqnmtalorrcgulatoryagmympﬁvatepmyinvolvingthe?ropatyandany
Hm&wmmmﬁnﬁmmﬂuwdwﬁdlmmmkmlwgg (b) any
Environmental Condition, including but not limited to, any spilling, leaking, discharge, release or threat of
rdmeofmyﬂawﬂws&xbammd(c)anywndwonmsedbyﬂnpmm use or release of a
HmdousSubmmwbidladvmdyaffeusuzvalueofmerpmy.HBomwlm ot is notified
byanygwernmalormgulamyamboﬁty.ormypﬁmepmy,tbatanyrunovalorothcrrawdiaﬁon
ofanyHazarmSl:bslmalTecﬁngmerpenyiswy. Bonowshallpmn’puytakcallmary

NON-UNIFORM COVENANTS. Bosrower and Lender further covenant and agree as follows:

22. Acceleration; Remedies. lcndusballgivenoﬁcemnomwupﬁonomﬁonfouowing
umsmammmwmsh&smum(hummm
MWWWISWAMMMM). The notice shall specify:
(a)tbedelwltz(b)lhe.eﬁonreqlﬁndtou:remedduh;(c)adnu,ml-sthmwdaystmlhe
dﬂethennﬁwisgiveneoﬂomm,bywbiehthedetmltmbemnd;md(d)tbmhmntom
theddwltonorbd’mtbedstesmdﬁedhtbenoﬁumaymhinacedmﬁonolthcmmad
by this Security Instroment, rondwunbyjndidalwouedingmdsalcoﬂhehoptﬂy. The potice
thwmammdunﬁgh:wmmmwmmm»mhm

B.Rdense.UponpaynmofallsumsmmdbymisSewﬁlylnﬂmM Lender shall release this
Security Instrument. Borrower shall pay any recordation costs, Lender may charge Borrower a fee for
releasing this Security Instrument, bmocdyifthefeeispaidtoauﬁldpanyforsavimrendaedandlhe
charging of the fee is permitted under Applicable Law.

24. Attorneys’ Fees, AsusedinnﬁsSewﬁtylnwmnemandtbeNote, attorneys’ fees shall include

. W Q-qﬂ.) {0005).02 Page 14 of 15 Form 3010 1/01
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LEEERT S S e et Da— b e

BYS!GNINGBELOW.Bonowaewptsandagmtotbetenmand oo
s@mymmmmyamumﬂwmmwmmfmmm"'"’“
Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of: i

.i.'
Sl W
| Bolly X. ’uanercedre_/ Borrower

A@ 113 HERON BAY LAXE MARY, PL
32746 ) (Address)

Ve

Le A Rradkowo~ . (Seal)
l HORLLIA AV.2I0H ?,»;1 -Borrower

e tngn? AE i - .

R A PT . T
00300 an S

(Address)
(Seal) (Seal)
-Borrower -Borrower
(Seal) (Seal)
-Borrower ‘ -Borrower
(Address) (Address)
(Seal) (Seal)
-Borrower -Borrower
(Address) (Address)
W Q-G(ﬂ)mnsm Page 1501 18 Form 3010 1/01
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————y e R

STATE OF FLORIDA, SEMINOLE ' County ss:

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged beft
. Marie " ged before me: this May 20th, 2004 by

who is personally known to me or who has produced 2 driver licnese as identification.

t@%w/a_,\

tnRkials:
w Q“ﬂ’ 0005).02 Pogo 1801 18 Form 3010 $/0%
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PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT RIDER

TmSPLANNEDUNH‘DEVELOMBNrRIDERismmiszsth day of
May, 2004 » and is incorporated into and shal) be
deumdtoamndandwpplummlheMongagc.DeedomeorSecutityDeed(the"Swun'(y
Instrument”) of the same date, given by the undersigned (the “Borrower”) to secure Borrower's Note 1o
Coldwell Banker ¥ortgage

(the
"Lender”) of the same date and covering the Property described in the Security Instrument and located a1:
113 HBRON BAY LAKE MARY, FL 32746

. (Property Address)
The Property includes, but is not limited 1o, a parcel of land improved with adwelling, together with cther
such parcels and certain common areas and facilities, as described in the COVENANTS, CONDITIONS
AND RESTRICTIONS

(the “Declaration”). The Property is a pat of a planned wnit development known as
HERON COVE

[Name of Planned Unit Development)
(the "PUD"). The Propesty also includes Borrower's interest in the homeowners association or equivaleat
enity owning or managing the common areas and facilities of the PUD (the "Owners Association”) and the
uses, benefits and proceeds of Borrower's interest.

PUD COVENANTS. In addition to the covenants and agreements made in the Security Instrument,
Borrower and Lender further covenant and agree as follows:

A. PUD Obligations. Borrower shall perform all of Borrower's obligations under the PUD's
Constituent Documents. The “Constituent Documents™ are the (i) Declaration; (i) articles of
incorporation, trust instrument or any equivalent document which creates the Owners Association; and (iii)
any by-laws or other rules or regulations of the Owners Association. Bosrower shall prompily pay, when
due, all dues and assessments imposed pursuant to the Constituent Documents.

MULTISTATE PUD RIDER - Single Family - Fennle Mae/Fredcie Mac UNIFORM INSTRUMENT 150.3/01
Pago 10! 3
Qm (0008) VMP MORTGAGE FORMS - (800)521-7291
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L

e et sy ¢

waives the provision in Section SfmthePetiodicPaymttoLendetofmexearlypmrﬁum
installments for property insurance on the Property; and (ii) Borrower's obligation under Section S 10
nlainminpropmyimmccoverageontherpmyisdeamdsmisfmlodaccxtmlthattbewquired
oovaagcispmvidedbythe()wml\ssociationpolicy. '
What Lender requires as a condition of this waiver can chenge during the term of the Joan.
Bummdnllgiwlmwmmiceofmyhpsehquﬁmdpmpmyinwmwmge
providadbyﬂnemorblaﬂapolicy.

alostolhe?rmy.onocummamsmdfaciliﬁaofmm. any proceeds payable 10 Borrower are
haebyassigmd.andsbanbcpaidtolm.l:ndershallapplytheprooeedstomemmssecuredbythe
Security Instrument, whether or not then due, with the excess, if any, paid 1o Borrower.

Gh&bﬂcbhhiﬁtylmmmﬂmmmshallmsud;xﬁmsmybembwimﬂw
meOWMsAspociau*mnnimainsapnblkliabﬂityimnmcepoﬁcyaowptaNein form, amount, and
extent of coverage to Lender,

D.Condemmﬁomﬂwpmwedsofanyawmdorc!aimfmdmmgs,dimuwmqw:ﬁﬂ.
payabletoanowincumionwimanycmdannaﬁooorothu-takingofanoranypanormekopmy
wﬂwmmmmﬂfadlxﬁmofﬂmﬂ}b.orforanymnveyminlianofooxtdunnmimxmhaeby
-asignedandshallbepaidtoluw.Snchproceedsshallbeappliedbylmdalotbewmsecumdbythe
Security Instrument as provided in Section 11. .

E. Lender’s Prior Consent. Bmowa'shallnot.exceplaﬁcrnotioeloLmda'andWidledefs
prior written consent, cither partition or subdivide the Property or consent to: (i) the abandonment or
termination of the PUD, exmplforabandommormﬁnmmnmqnimdbylawinﬂmmeofmm
dmuaimbyﬁmmmbaasuahywinﬂmmdamkingbywﬁdamaﬁmwmﬁmldumim Gi)
mymnmd:wutoanyprovisiouonhe'CmmimuDoamm‘ifﬂweprovisionisforlhcexpmbuﬂil
of Lender; (iii) termination of professi management and assumption of self-management of the Owners
Association; or (iv) any action which would have the effect of rendering the public liability insurance

Qm {o008) Page 2 of 3 Form 3150 1/01
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R s T

(Seal)
-Borrower ~ac($3
(Seal)
‘ (Scal)
[jm . ) -Borrower -Borrower
(Seal) '
-Bosrower -B;omsé,:
@77 1v008) Page 3 of 3 Form 3150 1/01
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-

ADJUSTABLE RATE RIDER

i (2 Year Treasury Index - Rate Caps)
' Loan #:euENEENEN.

THIS ADJUSTABLE RATE RIDER is made this 28th day of May, 2004, and is incorporated into and
sha!lbedeenwdtoama:dmdsuppkmemﬂueMoﬂgage,Deedomest,orSecmityDeed(ﬁn"Secuﬁty
Instrument”) of the same date given by the undersigned (ithe "Borrower™) to secure Bosrower’s Adjustable
Rate Note (the "Note®) to Coldwell Banker Morngage

; (the "Lender™) of the same date and covering the property described il; the Security Instrument and located
! at:
d 113 HERON BAY LAKE MARY, FL 32746

[Propeny Address)

i THE NOTE CONTAINS PROVISIONS ALLOWING FOR CHANGES IN THE
i INTEREST RATE AND THE MONTHLY PAYMENT. THE NOTE LIMITS THE
AMOUNT THE BORROWER'S INTEREST RATE CAN CHANGE AT ANY ONE
TIME AND THE MAXIMUM RATE THE BORROWER MUST PAY.

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS. In addition-to the covenants and agreements made in the Security
Instrument, Borrower and Lender further covenant and agree as follows:

A. INTEREST RATE AND MONTHLY PAYMENT CHANGES
‘The Note provides for an initial interest rate of 6.043%. The Note provides for changes in the interest rate
and the monthly payments as follows:

4. INTEREST RATE AND MONTHLY PAYMENT CHANGES

(A) Change Dales

The interest rate § will pay may change on the first day of June, 2014, and on that day every 12th month
thereafter. Each date on which my interest rate could change is called a "Change Date.”

-

MULTISTATE ADJ RATE RIDER - ARM 5.2 - Single Family - Fannfe Mac/Freddic Mac

Pagc 1 of 4 Toi
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(B) The Index :

Beginning with the first Change Date, my interest rate will be based on an Index. The "Index” is the
weekly average yield on Uniled States Treasury securities adjusted to-a constant maturity of one year, as
made available by the Federal Reserve Board. 1hemoslmoentlndexﬁgmeavailableasofﬂtedate45days
before each Change Date is called the "Cusrent Index.”

. 4 ¢

If the Index is no longer available, the Note Holder will choose a new index which is based vpon

comparable information. The Note Holdes will give me notice of this choice.

(C) Cailculation of Changes

Before each Change Date, the Note Holder will calculate my new interest rate by adding Two and
Seventy-Five / Hundredths percentage points (2.7500%) to the Current Index. The Note Holder will then
round the result of this addition to the nearest one-cighth of one percentage point (0.125%). Subject to the
limits stated in Section 4(D) below, this rounded amount will be my new interest rate until the next Change
Date.

The Note Holder will then determine the amount of the monthly payment that would be sufficient to
repay the unpaid principal matlamexpecwdloowealheChangeDaxeinﬁmond)emnn'ity&teatmy
new interest rate in substantially equal payments. The result of this calculation will be the new amount of
my monthly payment.

(D) Limits on Interest Rate Changes’

Tbeinmmlmnmmiredmpayatnwﬁmmngebaxcwillnotbegmaerman‘n.m3%orl¢ss
than 2.750%. Thereafter, my interest rate will never be increased or decreased on any single Change Date
bymoretbantwopemcnlagepoims(ZO%)fiomthemeofinnemstlhavebeenpayingfonhepmding 12
months. My interest rate will never be greater than 11.043%,

(E) Effective Date of Changes

My new interest rate will become effective on each Change Date. 1 will pay the amount of my new
monthly paymeni beginning on the first monthly payment date after the Change Date until the amount of my
monthly payment changes again.

Page2of 4
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(F) Notice of Changes

The Note-Holder will deliver or mail 1o me a notice of any changes in my interest rate and the amount
of my monthly payment. before the effective date of any change. The notice will include information
required by law o be given to me and also the title and telephone number of a person who will answer any
question I may have regarding the notice.

B. TRANSFER OF THE PROPERTY OR A BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN BORROWER
Section 18 of the Security Instrument is amended to read as follows:

Transfer of the Property or a Beneficial Interest In Borrower. During _the initia) fixed rate
muulwanypmofmel’mpmyormyintuwinitissoldwtransfmed(orifabenefwial
interest in Bowrower is sold or transfemed and Borrower is not a natural ) without Lender’s prior
written consent, Lender may, at its option, require immediate payment in full of all sums secured by
this Security Instrument. However, this option shall not be exercised by Lender if exercise is
prohibited by federal law as of the date of this Security Instrument,

If Lender exercises this option, Lender shall give Borrower notice of acceleration. Tbe notice
shanpmvidcapetiodofuotmdian?»odaysfromlhedmeﬁ;enoﬁceisdelivaedo:mailedwﬁhin
which Borrowes must pay all sums secured by this Security Instrument. If Borrower fails to pay these

nnnspﬁortotheexpimﬁmofthisperiod,undermayinvokeanytemediespetmined by this Security

lnstrument without further notice or demand on Bosrower.

- Afler the first interest rate change date: If all or any part of the property or any interest in it is sold
or transferred (or if a beneficial interest in Borrower is sold or transferred and Borrower is not a natusal
person) without Lénder’s prior written consent, Lender may, at its option, require immediate payment
in full of all sums secured by this Security Instrument. However, this option shail not be exercised by

Lender if exercise is prohibited by federal law as of the date of this Security Instrument. Lender also:

shall not exercise this option if (a) Borrower causes to be submitted to Lender information required by
Lender to evaluate the intended transferee as if a new loan were being made to the transferee; and (b)
Lender reasonably determines that Lender’s security will not be impaired by the loan assumption and
ﬂmtheﬁskofahucbofmycovenamoragmememin(hisSecuﬁlylnslmmemisacceptablelo

Lender.
To the extent permitted by applicable law, Lender may charge a reasonable fee as a condition to
Lender’s consent to the loan assumption. Lender may also require the transferee to sign an ion

assumptio
ammﬁmkmm&kmwnuammmimmmm:ok@dlu»mmb&m
agreemments made in the Note and in this Security Instrument. Bomrowes will continue to be obligated
under the Note and this Security Instrument unless Lender releases Borrower in writing.

If Lender exercises this option, Lender shall give Borrower notice of acceleration. The notice
shallpmvideaperiodofnotJ&(Mn%daysﬁomunedalcthenoﬁceisdelivuedornmﬂedwﬂhin
which Borrower must pay all sums secured by this Security Instrument. 1f Borrower fails to pay these
sums prior to the expi ionofthisperiod.[xndumayinvokcanyremediespetmiuedbytlﬁsSecmity
Instument without notice or demand on Borrower.

Page3o0f4
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comelmars oy

(Seal) (Seal)

» - Borrower - Borrowes
(Seal) (Seal)

- Borrower - Borrower

(Seal) (Seal)

- Borrower - Borrower

Paged of 4 initials: _____

DAZIR (15128324
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’ [l -

- ' -  pOF -

Gy
Cendant T .
AFFIDAVIT OF LOST NOTE RsocggE%T
1, Tracy Peters being duly swom, do hereby state under oath that: :

1. LasAskainmidmtochndeWCmpwaﬁonformaiyhownast
. meSuﬁesComomﬁon(theLmda),memmbAﬁMonbehaﬁof
the Lender.

2 Tbelenduisﬂwmoftbcfollowingdm'bedmnmem(ﬂw%m"):
Date: 05/28/2004

Loan Nunbe- SN

Borrower (s): MARIE T CEDRE

Original Payee: Cendant Mortgage Corporation

Original Amount: $130000

Rate of Interest (Initial Rate if ARM): 6.0430000000000001%

Address of Migd Property: 113 Heron Bay LAKE MARY FL 32746

3 nclmderis'mehwﬁﬂomoftchow,Mthelmdahmmth.almw
or hypothecated the Note.

4. TheNobmmeaﬁaaMgbmﬂdilimmbwhkhmnsismdofchecﬁngwith

Asset Securitization Department (whiehholdstthﬁgimlNomforCendam)., reviewing both
& the documentation file and the closing fles , searching our Payoff arca, and calling the Closing
Attorney,

S. A copy of the signed note is attached hereto.

6. This Affidavit is intended to be relied on by Federal National Mortgage Associstion, its successors
and assigas. Execmad!hisWIZMonb:halfofde;nderby:

Cendant Mortgage Corporation .
*formerly doing business as PHH Mortgage Services
Corporation

BY:
Tracy Peters
Asst. Vice President
STATE OF NEW JERSEY )
COUNTY OF BURLINGTON ) ss:

mmemmmMommWTumwmmmnymmmmMymmﬁdm
that hefshe is the Assistant Vice President of Cendant Montgage Corporstion and that said Affidavit of
meﬁwmmmwamwm”wm«mM@m
instrument to be the free act and deed of such Corporation.

Witness my hand znd Notarial Seal this 07/22/2004.

My commission expires: 02/01/2005 %

CENDANT *us " Kathgfine Rainey

'm‘nmnzmsv u_q
NOTARY PUBLIC STATE JL-(&
Hycnmagc&wal?ml.m 3
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¢ Dahavw,
Lows NS

: ‘ RepUnges,
ADJUSTABLE RATE NOTE .60407.51\!7
(1 Year Treasury Index - Rate Caps) . &
:mmmmmmmmmcmmﬂcwmmmmmmmmmmv
'PAYMRNT.THBNU[BLM[STHBAMO‘MMYWRATECANCHANGBATANYONBTMRANDTEK
MAXIMUM RATE 1 MUST PAY.

May 28, 2004 LAKBMARY [ Florida
(Datz) (City) "(Stats) -

113 HERON BAY LAKE MARY, FL 32746
(Propezty Address)

1 BORROWER'S PROMISE TO PAY -

Int return for a loan that I have received, I promiss to pay U.S. $ 130,000.00 (this mmkcsﬂed'pﬁndpd'):plwm to ~
. the order of the Leader. The Lender is Coldwell Banker Mortgage . 1 understand thet the Leader may transfer this Note. The Leader
; otamnewhotakaﬁstbyumbmdwhohmﬁa@mmdwpaymu:duﬁ%h called the "Nots Holder.”

- 2. INTEREST

Interest will be charged on unpaid principal until the full amount of principal has beea paid. Twill pay interest at a yearly mte of
6.043 %, The infcrest rate I will pay will change in accordance with Section 4 of this Note. . .

The intesest rate required by this Section 2 and Section 4 of this Note is the rate T will pay both before and after any default
described in Section 7(B) of this Nots, . )

3. PAYMENTS -

(A) Time aad Place of Payments ) R

Iwill pay principal zod interest by making paymeats every month.

I will make my moathly payments on first day of each month begimning on July 1st, 2004 . 1 will maks these paymeats every
month until I have paid 21l of the principal and interest and any other charges described below that I may owe under this Note. My
, monthly payments will be applied to interest before principal. If, on June 1st, 2034 , 1 still owe amousts under this Nots, I will pay
. those amounts in full on that date, which is called the “maturity dats.* .

1 will roake my mouthly payments at 3000 Leadenhah Road Mount Laurel, NJ 08054 or at a differeat place if required by the
" Note Holder.

(B) Amoimt of Initia] Monthly Paywments R
Mdmyﬁﬂm@ﬂymmuh&mdu&mm.nkmmym

5 (C) Monthly Payment Changes

Chmwhnymmﬂypa‘ymmwmmﬂeudnngsinthempddpﬁndpﬂofmyhanmdinﬂnh!uwm&mlmpay.
‘The Note Holder will determine my new interest rate and the changed amount of my monthly paymeat in accordance with Section 4
of this Note. »

(D) Withholding

If] am & nocresident clicnt, I nnderstand that all payments doe hereander shall be paid without rednction for taxes, dedactions

+or withholding of any nature. If such tax, deduction or withholding is required by any 12w to be made from any paymeat to the Note
1 Holder, I shall continue to pay this Note in accordance with the termas bereo, such that the Note Holder will receive such amount as jt -
+ would have received had no soch tax, deduction or withholding been required. ) . .

4. INTEREST RATE AND MONTHLY PAYMENT CHANGES

(A) Cbange Dstes .
The interest mte I will pay may change on tbg first day of June, 2014 and on that day every 12th month thereafter, Bach date on

; w&hmwwmw&cﬂkﬂlw%! -

-

(B) Thelndex °

Begiming with the first Change Dete, my interest rate will be based co-2n Index. The “fndex” is the weekly average yield on
"Ugited States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant matarity of 1 year, as made available by the Federal Reserve Boerd. The
: most receat Index figure available as of the date 45 days before each Change Dese is called the “Cunrent Index™.

I the Index is no longer availsble, the Note Holder will choose a new index which is based upon comparable information. The
:Note Holder will give me gotice of this choice. Lo ;

ADJUSTABLE RATE NOTE {3 Year Tressury Index - Rate Caps) - Multistate
_Pege o3

QBTN
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Low NecbeaupiiiiiliRe

(C) Calculation of Changes s

wmmwmummmmmywmmwmmmsmﬁwlw
perceatage peiots (2.7500 %) o the Current Index. mnmﬂolduwmmmmmmemkofmsnﬁiﬁonmum
mdgbﬁotommepﬁn!m.us%). Snbjeuwmeﬁmi:smmdinsmﬂb)below.mhmmdmmwinhemyw
integest mte until the pext Change Dato.

'n;eNou:Ho:duwm:bm&mﬁmwmdmsmmlywmuwummmmrmwmm.
-lhatlunexpmdbmaﬂnﬁmgcl)atehfnﬂonﬂ:emmﬁtydmatmmwhmmainmbﬂmﬁaﬂyeqmlpaym The
mﬂtcﬂ'miswcuhﬁmwmbe&euwmmtdmymmxmymmmt :

® Eﬂmmdw .
My pew interest rate will become effective on each Change Date, 1 will pay the amount of my new mounthly payment beginning
mxhcﬁmmthlypaymdﬁgaﬂwﬂn&mgebmunﬂ meamoumofmymomhlypaymmdmgmagain.

- 0 Notice of Ci . . ‘
'lthou!hlderwﬂldﬂimmmﬂwmeaw&cdnydmmhmVMmmwdmemmdmymyam.
before the effective date of any changs. mmmmmmwwwuaﬂmwmm&km
mmaammwnmmmlmymwum

5. BORROWER'S RIGHT TO PREPAY

lmmmmmmdmummmmmm A payment of principal only is known as a
"Prepayment.” mlw:Wleﬂ&m&M&hﬁﬁmﬂmlmmn

lmmhuﬁﬂpmymuwﬁﬂhmwﬁmmmwm The Note Holder will ose all of
mmehwlumlmmwm ¥ I make a partia} prepaymest, there will be no -

6. LOAN CHARGES -

Halaw,whichapplienomelwlmmhmmﬁmmmm&ﬁwﬂthwmmeMumm:
wmammuwmmmmmmmummmo)mymhlommm-be-
mby&wmywmmww&emummdﬁi)mymahudyeonmdﬁmmwﬁch
exceeded permitted himits will be refonded to me. mNoonkhmymmmnbﬁsmbymmeMIm
under this Note or by making a direct payment 1o me. H.mmwmmmumu.m
prepayment. _ -

7. BORROWER'SFAILURE TO PAY AS REQUIRED

(A) Lato Charges fof Overdue Paymests

K&Nm%ﬁammwcdvedtbefnumdmywyww&maﬁmmwunmhk,
doe, I will pay a Jate charge to the Noio Holder. nemntonhechmgewinbes.oo%ofmyovmpaymmofp&dplmd-
inueu.lwinpaylhcmacugp'pmmpﬂyhuodymmmhhwpymm

(B) Defauit -
- mdonupayxbhnmmdeumnmymmmhedmhkmlmbmma

(C) "Notice of Defankt - -

Ulmh&ﬁu&.&chotc%myundmnmnoﬁukmnsmmﬁldommymcummbyam ,
mmmmmmmmmwﬁyhmBmmofm which has not becn paid and all the intezest that |
1owe on that amount, mmmhmm”ﬁnn&rmdﬁhmmumhﬂw«mﬂdmm

@) No Waiver By Note Holder ’
A Bmmus&mwhmlmhmmmmmwmmwmmminﬁ:nasdsuibedabon.lhs .
mmmmmmﬁw»m»mmhdmkmwm )

® wmnw:mmms .
Kummmmmmmwmmuwmmmmmumummupm

. . Pugmz0la . oﬁginal
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I Lon Nimbeqmtiiiiihey -
; 3 Mymmmhmmwmmmtﬁsmmbeﬁmbywﬁngkwﬁ:stclassmuilwtheNoce
@ * mumqmmins@ﬁmm)m?mmmmm@mamdm&ﬁe@:m -

9. OBLIGATIONS OF PERSONS UNDER THIS NOTE : ’

X more than one person signs this Note, each person is fully and personally obligated to-keep &l of the promises made-in this
- Note, including the promise to pay the foll amount owed. Any person who is 2 guarantor, surety or endorser of this Note is akso
* obligated to do these things. Mymnmwmm,mmmmmmofam.mw
. eadooser of this Nots, is also obligated to keep all of the promises made in this Note. The Note Holder may enforce its rights under
! this Note against each person individuaBly or against al] of us together. ‘This meens that any one of bs may be required to pay all of
the amounts owed under this Note.

10. WAIVERS . .
T and any otber petson who has obligaticns under this Note waive the rights of presentment and notice of dishonor.

“Presentment” means the right to require the Note Bolder to demand payment of amouzs due. “Notice of dishonor™ means the right

mmmmmmglvemﬁceboﬂnmthmwsdwhwemmwd .

11. UNIFORM SECURED NOTE - ’ .

‘This Note i 8 uniform instrument with limited variations in some jurisdictions. In addition to the protections givea to the Note

+ Holder under this Note, @ Mortgage, Deed of Trust or Security Deed (the “Secusity Instrument”), dated the same date as this Nots,
and & Self Pledge Agrecment for Securities Accoun, if applicable, protects the Note Holder from possible losses which might resultif ~
- 1do not keep the promises which I make in this Note. That Security Instrument describes how and under what conditions ¥ may be

, fequised to make immediate paymest in fol} of all zmounts ¥ owe under this Note. Some of those conditions are described as follows:

Transfer of the Property or a Beneficial Interest in Borrower. During the initial fixed rate pegiod: If all or any part of
the Property oz any interest in it is s0ld or transferred (or if 2 beneficial interest in Borrower is soid of transfeared and Barower
is not a Ratural person) without Lender's prior written conseat, Leader may, a1 its option, require immediate payment in fall of
a1l sums secured by this Security fnstrument. M.mmmmuumwmnuMhmby
federal law as of the date of this Security Instrument. -

If Lender exercises this option, Lender shall give Borower notice of acceleration. The potice shall provide a period of not
mmwmmumum&m«mmmmmmgmsmbyw
Security Instroment. unmﬁmmmmmmmmmmmammmmmmm
pemitted by this Security Instnement without farther notice or demand oa Bomrower. -

Afier the. first jotegest rate change dater If all of any part of tho property or any interest in it is sold or tansferred (or if &
benefi

intesest in Bowrower is sold of tansferred and Bomower is ot 2 natura) person) without Lender’s prior wiitten
coasent, Leater may, at its option, require immediate payment ju foll of all sums secured by this Security Instrament, However,
mm,mwuwww«umsmuwmm»ammdmmm
Lender also shall ot exercise this option if (s) Borrower canses to be submitted to Lender infonmation required dy Leader to
evaluste the intended transferee as if a new loan were being mads to the transferee; and (b) Lender reasonably determines that
Lender's security will not be impaired by the loan assumption and that e risk of a breach of any covenant or agreement in this
Security Instrument is acceptable to Leader. .

To the exteat pemmitted by applicable law, Leader may charge a reasonable fee as a condition to Lender’s consent to the
loan assumption. Leader may also require the transferee to sign an assumption agreemeat that is acceptable to Leader and that_
obligates.the transfrree to keep all the promises and sgreements made in the Nots and in this Secuzity Jestroment. Borrower
will contine to be obligated under the Note and this Security Instrument unless Lender relcases Borower in writing.

If Lender exercises this option, Lender shall give Bosrower notice of acceleration. ‘The notice shall provide a period of ant
Iess than 30 days from the date the notice is delivered or meiled within which Bomower amst pay all sums secured by this
Security Instrument. X Borrower fails to pay these sums prior to the expimtion of this period, Lender may invoke any remedies -
pexmitted by this Security Instrument without fosther notice or detnand on Bofrower.

;12 OURCOPY. We/l acknowledge receipt of a signed copy of this Note. ' i
* CAUTION -~ IT IS IMPORTANT THAT YOU THOROUGHLY READ THIS

, Pugm3ets
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ST

SIGNATURE/NAME AFFIDAVIT

DATE May 28, 2004
1
Loan #: ol

BORROWER: Marie T Cedre

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT MY LEGAL SIGNATURE IS AS WRITTEN AND TYPED BELOW.

(This signature must exactly match signaturss on the Notg.and Morgage or Trust.) 2
Marie T Cedre MO

(Print or Type Name) /Mm

(If epplicable, complete the following.)

| AM ALSO KNOWN AS:

Marie Cedfe, ¥

{Print or Type Name) Sgnaturn

(Print or Type Nams) Signalure )
(Print or Type Name) Signatur

(Print or Type Name) Signalure

and that SNe_

as one
and the same person.

State/Commonwealth of FL
County/Parish of SEMINOLE

Subscribed and swom (affirmed) before me
this 2Bth day of May . 200 ‘A—’
-

Nbtary Public in and for

ihe State/Commonwealth of FL

County/Parish of SEMINOLE
Dobra A Brogkavel My Commission Expires:

. \ay Commiasion DO150083
@«304 TN <4 xires Saptasnbor 15, 000VMP Matgege Sckitkea (800)521-7291 31
o

A0arpe0a 1 139 AM




-~ - Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM. .Document 1-1 _.Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 30 of 30

-

WRVINE
MORSE, QLER OF CIRTULY COUAT
| AT
"’"l’""’ by: Stewart Lender REECROED W7/10/2088 aemg:in
Reconding Raquestad By/After erlit e
s RECORDED BY B Havford

LeStanc
P O Box 33359
Houslon, TX 772336503
Job Number: 2322007009
Poot
Project @ .
ten munte QD
OtherLoan #;
[T 3 .
STATEOF ASSIGNMENT OF MORTGAGE
mOpm KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:
‘That Coldwell Banker Martgage (ABSIBNOR), bhesain by and authorized officer,
e cwnor wnd holder of ono certain o wm*&

. secusod by 8 MORTQAGE of even cais therewith 2rom Borowsd(s) for 6 benellt of the hokdor of the
wmmwmwum«mameMhhm
of Saminole, Stats o Floride:

Racordng Re: Recondad on 0807/2004, instrument/Document No. 2004633149, Book
03338; Pagd No. 0384Dss of Mortgage 08/28/22004

For and In consideration of tha sum of Ten and No/100 doliers ($10.00), snd other good veluebis and
sufficiont considesntion pald, the of which s hersby does hereby trunster end
S BRI Lo o e e e
sccuring the payment thereo?, and ati e heid by the undersigned In and to s5id land: )
g RS it St ONIOASE
described secuting the otherwisa.

paymont heceod, or
Exacuted thh the 24th eay of Apiil, 2008, Coldwell Banker Mortgape
- tw&&u
James
Vice Prosiient ’
THE STATE OF Texas
COUNTY CF Hants

On this the 24t day of before rod Jai
G e a3 8 o o i g e
Prasideat of Coldwell

Bout bl
corporsSon by suthorlly of s Diractors, and said James Kocherka ecknowladged sald

Book7027/Paae1271 CFN#2008079533
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.

oo D
A¥FIDAVIT OF LOST NOTE REDA%’ENT

l,‘l‘mcyPuersPeingdulyswmn.doherebyslatemduoaththat: TED

| l.asAs'smVieeMdmofCendutMongageCmpmﬁon kno
e e

2. The Lender is the owner of the following described morigage note (the “Note™):
Date: 05/28/2004
Loan

Bormrower (s): MARIE T CEDRE

Oridnalhyee:CendeongageCorponm'
Original Amount: $130000 '
Rate of Interest (Initial Rate if ARM): 6.0430000000000001%

Address of Mitgd Property: 113 Heron Bay LAKE MARY FL 32746

3 The Lender is'the lawful owner of the Note, and the Lender has not cance: tered, assigned
or hypothecated the Note. oot

Asset Securitization Department (which holds the Original Notes for Cendant)., reviewing both
the documentation file and the closing files , searching cur Payoff area, and calling the Closing

Aftomey.
5. A copy of the signed note is attached hereto.

6. msAfﬁdavitishmdedmberdiedonbdeuaINnﬁomlemm ion, its successors
and assigas. W%WMNWM&MW ‘

Cendant Mortgage Corporation .

Corporation
BY:
Tracy Peters % E

Asst. Vice President
STATEOFNEWJERSEY ) -
COUNTY OF BURLINGTON ) ss:

mmmmmmmwrmmwmwymmm swom
that wmkmmvummotwmmam mdﬂmn::myAﬂidavnf:m

My commission expires: 02/01/2005 %

CENDANT *Qinl " Kathgine Rainey

'xmmnmmm:v J@[
gmmmwemorm ] &93
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SIGNATURE/NAME AFFIDAVIT

DATE May 28, 2004
toan »: G

BORROWER: Marle-T Cedre

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT MY LEGAL SIGNATURE IS AS WRITTEN AND TYPED BEOW.
(This signature must exacily match signatures on the Mortgags ¢ Trust.)

Marie T Cedre

;

{Print or Typo Naene) ‘/

(if appticable, complete the following.)
L AM ALSO KNOWN AS:
Marie, Cedfe, X
Pint or Type Name) Signature
(Print or Type Name) Signatore
(Pint or Typa Namo) . Signature
(Frint or Type Nane) Signaturn
adthat DN
aeone
and the same person.
State/Commonwealth of FL
County/Parish of SEMINOLE
Subseribed and swom (affirmed) before me
this 28th day of May . ‘)\/
, Public n end for T
the State’Commonweaith of FL
County/Perish of SEMINOLE
’ m“%w My Commission Expires:
prwa0r & ’:"" Saphonbor 15, Z000VAP Mortgge Sokaions (SO0 34-7291 3




[ T

_,_ _H

Loso Nimbeaimiiiliy -
H Auy notice that must be given o the Nots Holder uader this Note will be given by mailing it by first class mail to the Note
- mnunmmmhswmm)»onguummulm@u.mdmawm -

9. OBLIGATIONS OF PERSONS UNDER THIS NOTE :

It mors than coe person sigus this Note, each person is fully and pessonally obligated (0-keep all of the promises made-in this
- Note, including the promise to pey the full amount owed. Any person who is 2 guarantis, surety or eadorser of this Note is also
* obligated to do these things. Any person who takes over these | i including the obligations of & gusrantor, surety or
- endosser of this Nots, is also obligated to keep 1l of the promises mads in this Note. The Note Holder may enforcs its rights vader
* this Note against each person individuzBy or against all of us together. This means that any one of us may be required to pay all of
the amounts owed under this Note. :

Case 1:16-cv-22234-EAM . Document 1-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 4 of 6

10. WAIVERS . . -
I and aoy other pesson who bas obligations under this Note waive the rights of presentment and notice of dishonoe.

"Preseotment” means the right to require the Note Bolder to demand payment of amounts doe. “Notice of dishonor™ means the right

to require the Note Eolder to give nofice 1o other persons that amounts due have not beea paid. .

11. UNIFORM SBCURED ROTE . .
" ‘This Note is a nniform instrument with limited vasistions In some jurisdictions. Xn addition 1o the protections given to the Note
» Bolder under this Note, 2 Mortgage, Deed of Trust or Security Deed (the “Secusity Instaument™), dated the same date es this Notz,
and a Self Pledge Agrecaent for Securities Account, if applicable, protects the Note Holder from possible Josses which might result if -
- 100 pot keep ¢he promises which I make in this Note. That Secisity Instrament describes how and tader what conditions ¥may be
, fequired to make immediate paymeat in fhll of all amounts T owe under this Note. Some of those conditions are desciibed as follows:

Mdumw.wmw.mwnmummof
the Property or any intezest in it is 80} or tansfexyed (or if 2 benedicial interest in Bomrower is s5id of transfiyed and Boower
is not 8 natural person) without Lender’s paior wiitten conseat, Lender may, at its option, reguire immediate paymeat in ful] of
2l sums secured by this Security Instrement. However, this option shall not be exercised by Leader if exercise is probibited by
federal Iaw as of the date of this Security Instroment. -

M Lender cxescises this option, Lender shall give Boprower notice of acceleration. Tbe notica shall provide a period of not
mmwmmummmtw«mmmmmmgmmwm
Security Instmment. Hf Bocrower f2ils to pay these sums pior to the expiration of this period, Lender may invoke any remedics
pemitted by this Socity Instnument withouz fixrther notice or demand on Borrower. -

atier the irst Ipierest mte chanes dale nﬂ“n’md,ﬂm“"mhhhm“w‘““l
beaeficial interest in Bocrower is sold o¢ tmmsferred and Bomower is wot a asturs) person) without Lender's prior written
cousent, Leader may, ot its option, require immediate payment in foll of al} sums secored by this Secusity fostroment, However,
ummwuwww«nmumﬁwﬁmmsummammm
Lender els0 shall not exexciso this optiom if (a) Bocrower causes to be submittad to Lender information required by Lendes to
cvaluste the intended transferee a2 if & new Joen were being made to the transferes; and fb) Leader reasonably determines that
MMWMbwwmcmmum&cd:k_ofahucbdmwuwinﬁs
Security Instroment is acceptabie 10 Lender. -

To the exteat permitted by spplicable law, Leader may charge 4 reasomable fee as & condition to Lensder’s consent 1o the
mm.mmmmumﬁummmmmuwmnmmmmm,
obligates the transferee to keep all the promises and aZreements made in the Nots and in this Security Instroment. Botrower
wmmmummummﬁwymmmmmhm

H Lender exercises this option, Lender shall give Bosrower notice of accelerstion. The notice shail provide o period of oot
mmmmmummmkwwm\edwiunmnmmmmmmwﬁs
Secarity Instramont. 3 Bocrower fails to pay these sums prior to tha expiration of this period, Lender may invoke any remedies
peamitted by this Security Instroment without forther notice or detnand 0n Bofrower,

;12 OURCOPY. We/lacknowledge receipt of a signed copy of this Note.
" CAUTION.IT IS IMPORTANT THAT YOU THOROUGHLY READ THIS NOTR BEFORE SIGNING
"WITRESS THB HAND(S) AND SEAL(S) OF THE UNDERSIGNE

WrINBss

(Sign Origtnal Onty) )
Original

. Pagedefs
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s Y

(C) Calcuilation of Changes : -

me%mmmmmmmhmmWMMMMEnlw
pesceatage points (2.7500 %) to the Coneat Index. The Noto Holder will then round the resuk of this addition to the nearest
cae-cighth of one percentage point (0.125%). memmhm@)m.ﬁsmmmmwmumym
interest cate uptil the next Change Deta.

mmmmmmm@mammmumumwmumw.
-zhatlmwumuhwmhmnmhmmﬁymunymwmhmmmeqmlmm The
mdmmmhbmmdmmw

(D) Limits on Interest Rate Changes : ‘
mimmmlmmqmunmyumm_mmkwmmhmmllm%orleumzﬂll%.
- .mhmmmmuwwumdmmmwwwmmmmm(-
ms)mmemxmxhwuupmmummm My interest rate will never be greater than
11.043 %, which is called tha maximiun rate. ’ - - .

® Effective Date of Changes .
Mymmmﬁnhmmﬁvemmhwm Iwﬂlpaylhcmuofmymmﬁlyp-ymbeﬁm'
mhﬁmmﬂﬂymﬂga&h%b&mﬂhmudmmmwm
- 0" Notice of Ci . . )
‘The Note Holder will deliver o mai) to me mdmwnmmmwumdwmm.
before the affective dats of any changs. mmmmmmwm»umummm&um
nlephmmmbu»ohmwhowm”wmqnuﬁmlmymmhm

S. BORROWER'S RIGHT TO PREPAY '

7. BORROWER'S FAILURE TO PAY AS REQUIRED

(A) Late Chavges for Overdue Paymests
Khmmmmmmcmmdmmﬁymwhwdummmﬂmuhk,
. ¢oe, I'will pay a lata charge to the Nois Holder. mmofhchupwmbesmﬁofmymdwmmdpﬁndﬂm~
mlmmﬂm%mwmmmmﬁhlem

(B) Defanit -
- I!bmm&ﬂmﬁmhmﬂbmmmhd&hhd&lwmhhm

(C) "Notice of Defaukt ° .

Hlmh&h&&cﬂoﬁ%muﬁmammmwu&nﬂlbmmmmmw 8 ceatain
@ate, the Note Holder may roquire ze to pay Wyhfnﬂmmoﬂdﬁpﬂlwﬁhnmhnpﬂmdmhmm H
1 owe on that axnount, musmunmsodmmmmmmmmhm«mmm

(@) No Waiver By Note Holder )
) Bvui!.nuimwhlmhdzfmn.mmmmmmmmmthHth
Nots Holder will still have the 1ight to do 50 1 am in definlt at a Intee time. )

Pagmzols
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-

s Salevw,

Low Nt ) ) l
ADJUSTABLE RATE NOTE S
(1 Year Treasury Endex - Rate Ceps) &p

' THIS NOTE CONTAINS FROVISIONS ALLOWING FOR CHARGES IN MY INTEREST RATE AND MY MONTHLY
* PAYMENT. THIS NOTE LIMITS THE AMOUNT MY INTEREST RATR CAN CHANGE AT ANY ONE TIME AND THE
MAXIMUM RATE I MUST PAY.

May 28, 2004 LAKEMARY [ Flotida
(Duir) {Cay) . (sum) -
113 HERON BAY LAKE MARY, F1. 32746
(Property Addsess)

1 BORROWRR'S PROMISE TO PAY -

In retern foc 2 Joan that I bave received, I promiss to pay U.S. $ 130,000.00 (this amount is called 'pmapal').plumm -
. the order of the Leader. The Lender is Coldwel} Banker Mortgage . T understand that the Lender may transfer this Note. The Lender
; amm&uﬂ:ﬂo&wmmmhu&@dbmﬁnmmﬁsthanedlha'NmBoldzr.'

-2 INTEREST

Interest will be charged on unpeid principal until the full amount of principal has been paid. I'will pay inteest a1 a yearly mte of
6.043 %. The inferest rete I will pay will change in accordance with Section 4 of this Note. . .

minuummuwwsmzmmdmmmumemlwmmmm@eummm
described in Section 7(B) of this Note. .

3 PAYMENTS -

(A) 'Time and Piace of Payments ' oo

I'will pay prncipal and interest by making payments cvexy ntonth.

1 will make my moathly payments on ficst day of cach month beginniog on July 1st, 2004 . I will saoke theze payments every
month yntil I have paid all of the principal and interest and zny other charges described below that I may owe under this Note. My
, Toathly paymeats will be spplied to fnterest before principal. If, on Juna 1st, 2034 , I still owe amounts under this Noke, 1 will pay
. those amounts in fall ca that date, which is called the “maturity date.” :

1 will maks my moathly payments at 3000 Leadenball Road Mount Laurel, NJ 08054 or at a ifferext place §f required by the
* Note Holder.

®) Asount of Initia) Mosthly Payments i
Each of my initial moathly payments will be in the amount of U.S. $783.02 . This amount may change,

! () Monthly Payment Changes )

whmmnﬂymmwmmMaWhmwpﬁﬁpldmyhumdhmmmﬁatlmpy.
mmmmmmmimmmmmwmdm_mpmmmm&m4
of this Note S

@) Witkholding

I X m & noaresident cliont, I understand that al) psyments due hescunder shall be paid without reduction for taxes, dedfoctions

+ or withhokling of any sature. If such tax, deduction or withholding is required by any taw to de made from any paymest to the Note
] Holder, I shall continue to pay this Note in accontance with the ters hereof, such that the Note Holder will receive such smonnt as it -
+ would bave received bad 00 such tax, deduction or withholding been required. ° - .

4. INTEREST RATE AND MONTHLY PAYMENT CBANGES

{A) ChangeDsies .
The interest rate T will pay may change on the first day of Fune, 2014 and on that day every 12th month thereafter, Pach date o

| w&hmMmdennphnﬂedl’Gmp o

@) Thelndex .

Begizning with the first Change Date, my interest rate will be based ae-an Index. The “Endex” is the weekly average yield on
*United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant matnrity of 1 yeay, &3 mada availsble by the Pederal Reserve Boeml. The
{ rost recent Index figare availsble as of the date 45 days before each Change Dete is called the *Crareat Index”.

N the Index is no longer available, the Note Holder will choose a new index which is based upoa comparable infonnation. The .
;Nmmwmmn;mdwm L. .

ADJUSTABLE RATE NOTE {§ Year Treasury Index - Rats Capa) - Multistate
S tas . o
SIS A8
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e T —
e - e o MIFCIMI!TWGW
. o ‘ o - K- 08401 Ps 0504 < 505; (2pgs)
_CLERK?S .9 2015007088
| | RECOROED 01/23/2045 10:91353 -~
' : - ' | mn: nﬁa s::'u?
- Afierrecording please retum to; . - ' S
| PEIRSONPATTERSON, LLP ' N
*ATTN: RECORDING DEPT.
13750 OMEGAROAD
)-nms;rmm

" This document prepared by-
PEIRSONPATTERSON,; LLP
WILLIAM B, PEIRSON
13750 OMEGA ROAD
DALLAS, TX 15244-4505

© | TexPucelDNo:NA

Mmmuuh}Mmu]
' mmmn_

FLORIDA ASSIGNMENT OF MORTGAGE

.FmWMMMMMNMMMMWMMuoﬂM»W(hm '
-does hereby grant, sell, assign, transfer and convey, unto. FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE
ASSOCIATION, ITS ‘SUCCESSORS OR ASSIGNS, (herein “Assignes”), whoss address is 14221 Dallas
Parkwny, Snite 160, Dallas, TX 75284, ammmmmmmmmmv,zm
mmwwmmmemmwmummmmumm
- following described property situated in SEMINOLE County, State of Florida: - . _
; PmpulyAddlus: HSMW,WMARY,EM“

. IMEOFGRENWOODIMUM&ACCORDINGTOTHEPWWASRECORDED
INH.ATDODKH.PAGES“'IDQ,OFTHE PUBLICREOORDSOFS!MINOLE COUNTY,
FI.DBIDA. ‘

-'mdlMomehavhgbungivenwmmpuymmof Onlllmdnd'l‘liﬂy 'l'lmmd ndmmn
($130,000.60), which Mortgage is of record in Book, Volume or Liber No. mamms(mnﬂo .
m‘ma),mﬂwRWsOEuofSEmNOI.ECmty SwtaofFlorida, . .

'IOHAVBAND‘IDHOLD ﬁnmmhnmmmmmdumﬁummﬂmonbwthemmd
mdiﬁomofmeabuve-demihedmm ,

‘ CMFMNMII MommmbrMMdommn, wmswmmmn Wny,
m,monmwmmm,maummmmm i

Book8401/Page504 CFN#2015007088

Deacription: Seminole, FL Document - Book.Page 8401.504 Page: 1 of 2
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Rushmore Loan Management Services

15480 Laguna Canyon Drive, Suite 100
Irvine, CA 92618

MARIE T CEDRE e

175 E MAIN ST STE 111
APOPKA, FL 32703-3213

April 22,2016
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NOTICE OF SALE OF OWNERSHIP OF MORTGAGE LOAN

Under federal law, borrowers are required to be notified in writing whenever ownership of a mortgage loan secured
by their principal dwelling is sold, transferred or assigned (collectively, “sold™) to a new creditor. This Notice is to
inform you that your prior creditor has sold your loan (described below) to us, the new creditor identified below.

**NOTE: The new creditor identificd below is not the servicer of your loan. The servicer (identified below)
acts on behalf of the new creditor to handle the ongoing administration of your loan, including the collection
of mortgage payments. Please continuc to send your mortgage payments as directed by the servicer, and NOT

to the new creditor. Pavments sent to the new creditor instead of the servnccr mav result m late charges on
d th s Nceither th $ S Ies
late charges or other consequences of any misdirected payment,

SHOULD YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING YOUR LOAN, PLEASE CONTACT THE
SERVICER USING THE CONTACT INFORMATION SET FORTH BELOW. The servicer is authorized to
handlc routine inquirics and requests regarding your loan and, if necessary, to inform the new creditor of
your request and communicate to you any decision with respect to such request. **

Please note that the sale of your loan to us may also result in a change of servicer. If this occurs, you will receive a
separate notice, required under federal law, providing information regarding the new servicer.

LOAN INFORMATION

Date of Loan: 05/28/2004

Original Amount of Loan: $130,000.00

Date Your Loan was Sold to the New Creditor: 3/30/2016

Loan Number: 7600349599

Address of Mortgaged Property: 113 HERON BAY CIR
LAKE MARY, FL 32746

SERVICER INFORMATION

Name: Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC

Mailing Address: 15480 Laguna Canyon Road, Suite 100
Irvine, CA 92618

Telephone Number (Toll free): (888) 504-6700

Website: rushmorelm.com

Scope of responsibilities: The servicer is responsible for all ongoing administration
of your loan, including receipt and processing of payments, resolution of payment
related issues, and response to any other inquiries you may have regarding your —
loan.
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NEW CREDITOR INFORMATION

foreclosures) should be directed to the servicer at the number above and/or
the agent (if any) of the new creditor identified below. and not to the new
creditor, The new creditor does not have access to information relating to the

administration of vour loan. and will not be able to answer most loan-related
questions.

Name: WILMINGTON SAVINGS FUND
SOCIETY, FSB, D/B/A
CHRISTIANA TRUST, NOT
INDIVIDUALLY BUT AS
TRUSTEE FOR CARLSBAD
FUNDING MORTGAGE TRUST

Mailing Address (not for payments): 500 Deleware Ave. 11th Floor
Wilmington, DE 19801

Telephone Number: 302-888-7448

Scope of responsibilities: As new creditor, the abovc-named company holds legal
title to your loan. The company is authorized to rcceive legal notices and to
exercise (or cause an agent on its behalf to exercise) certain rights of ownership
with respect to your loan.

AGENT INFORMATION (If the new creditor has granted an agent other than
the servicer authority to act on its behalf, contact information for such agent will
appear below):

Name:
Mailing Address:

Telephone Number:

Scope of responsibilities: Acts as agent for new creditor.

Partial Payments
Your lender
May accept payments that arc less than the full amount due (partial payments) and apply them to your loan

X May hold them in a separate account until you pay the rest of the payment, and then apply the full payment
to your loan
Does not accept any partial payments

If this loan is sold, your new lender may have a different policy.

The transfer of the lien associated with your loan is currently recorded, or in the future may be recorded, in the
public records of the local County Recorder’s office for the county where your property is located. Ownership of
your loan may also be recorded on the registry of the Mortgage Electronic Registrations System at 1818 Library
Street, Suite 300, Reston, VA 20190.

Our rights and obligations as new creditor, and consequently our authority to respond favorably to your requests or
inquiries may be limited by the terms of one or more contracts related to the servicing of your loan.



Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM Document 1-5 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 1 of 3

EXHIBIT E



Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM Document 1-5 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 2 of 3

Business Hours (Pacific Time)

| I Monday-Thursday 5 a.m. to 8 p.m.

™ Friday 5 a.m. to 6 p.m.

PO Box 1077; Harfford, CT 06143-1077 Physical Address

14523 SW Millikan Way; Suite 200; Beaverton, OR 97005

Payments
PO Box 11790; Newark, NJ 07101-4730

Correspondence
PO Box 1077; Hartford, CT 06143-1077

Phone: 866.570.5277

LO26N Fax: 866.578.5277
CEDRE, MARIET w)\:vw.seterus.com

¢/o SCOTT SMOTHERS, SMOTHERS LAW FIRM PA
175 E MAIN ST STE 111
APOPKA, FL 32703

April 12, 2016
Loan number: 28253623
Serviced by Seterus, Inc.

NOTICE OF SERVICING TRANSFER

The servicing of your mortgage loan is being transferred, effective May 1, 2016. This means that after this date, a

new servicer will be collecting your mortgage loan payments from you. Nothing else about your mortgage loan
will change.

We, Seterus, Inc., are now collecting your payments. Seterus will stop accepting payments received from you on
May 1, 2016.

Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC (Rushmore) will collect your payments going forward. Your new
servicer will start accepting payments received from you on May 1, 2016. Send all payments due on or after
May 1, 2016 to Rushmore at this address: Attn: Cashiering P.O. Box 514707, Los Angeles, CA 90051-4707.

Partial Payments

Your lender (including your current servicer, Seterus)

{1 may accept payments that are less than the full amount due (partial payments) and apply them to your
loan.

X] may hold them in a separate account until you pay the rest of the payment, and then apply the full
payment to your loan.

[_] does not accept any partial payments.

If this loan is sold, your new lender/new servicer may have a different policy.

—~— ——=————-}f you ave any questions fof either your present servicer, Seterus; Iiic. of your new setvicer Riishmore; abiout your
mortgage loan or this transfer, please contact them using the information below between 6:00 am to 7:00 pm, (PT),
Monday through Thursday, or 6:00 am and 6:00 pm (PT) Friday:

Current Servicer: New Servicer:
Seterus, Inc. Rushmore
Customer Service Customer Service
866.570.5277 888.616.5400

THIS COMMUNICATION IS FROM A DEBT COLLECTOR AS WE SOMETIMES ACT AS A DEBT COLLECTOR. WE ARE ATTEMPTING TO COLLECT A DEBT
AND ANY INFORMATION OBTAINED WILL BE USED FOR THAT PURPOSE. HOWEVER, IF YOU ARE IN BANKRUPTCY OR RECEIVED A BANKRUPTCY
DISCHARGE OF THIS DEBT, THIS LETTER IS NOT AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT THE DEBT. THIS NOTICE IS BEING FURNISHED FOR YOUR INFORMATION
AND TO COMPLY WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS. IF YOU RECEIVE OR HAVE RECEIVED A DISCHARGE OF THIS DEBT THAT IS NOT
REAFFIRMED IN A BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDING, YOU WILL NOT BE PERSONALLY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DEBT. COLORADO: SEE
WWW.COLORADOATTORNEYGENERAL .GOV/CA FOR INFORMATION ABOUT THE COLORADO FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT. Seterus, Inc.
rnaintains a local office at 355 Union Boulevard, Suite 250, Lakewood, CO 80228. The office’s phonc number is 888.738.5576. NEW YORK CITY: 1411669, 1411665,
1411662. TENNESSEE: This collection agency is licensed by the Collection Service Board of the Department of Commerce and Insurance. Seterus, Inc. is licensed to do
business at 14523 SW Millikan Way, Beaverton, OR. Page 1 of 2
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CEDRE, MARIET
April 12,2016
Loan number: 28253623

PO Box 1077; Hartford, CT 06143-1077 1755 Wittington Place, Ste. 400, Dallas, TX 75234

Important note about insurance: If you have mortgage life or disability insurance or any other type of optional
insurance, the transfer of servicing rights may affect your insurance in the following way: The optional insurance
will be cancelled as of the effective date of the transfer of the loan servicing. Please note that this cancellation of
optional insurance does not impact your existing hazard or homeowner’s insurance coverage.

Please contact the insurance carrier directly to continue coverage.

Under Federal law, during the 60-day period following the effective date of the transfer of the loan servicing, a
loan payment received by your old servicer on or before its due date may not be treated by the new servicer as
late, and a late fee may not be imposed on you.

If you are currently participating in or being considered for a loss mitigation solution (including the Home
Affordable Modification Program, forbearance agreement, short sale, refinance, or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure),
we will forward your documentation to your new servicer. As of the effective date of the transfer of the loan
servicing, you should send your payments to your new servicer (e.g., trial period plan payments under the Home
Affordable Modification Program) until such time as the new servicer provides you with additional direction.
Your new servicer should notify you of its decision regarding qualification. Please be advised that this transfer
may extend the time needed for a final decision.

Sincerely,

Seterus, Inc.

Page 2 of 2
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M 888.669.5600 toll free

949.341.0777 local

SIS lertE  949.34(1.2200 fax

www.rushmorelm.com

Marie T Cedre 1979

175 E Main St Ste 111
Apopka, FL 32703-3213

Your New Loan Number: 7600349599
Property Address: 113 HERON BAY CIR
LAKE MARY, FL 32746

Dear Mortgagor:

Welcome to Rushmore Loan Management Services. Our intention is to meet your loan servicing requirements
with efficient, prompt and courteous service. Below you will find important information regarding how to contact
us, make payments and set-up your online account. We encourage you to visit our website at
www.rushmorelm.com and create a log-in after receiving this letter.

Rushmore will be your new servicer. The business addresses for your new servicer are as follows:

orr ndence e
Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC
15480 Laguna Canyon Rd., Suite 100
Irvine, CA 92618

n
Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC
P.O. Box 514707
Los Angeles, CA 90051-4707

If you have any questions related to the transfer of servicing to Rushmore, call our Customer Service Department
at 888-504-6700, Monday through Thursday, 6 am. to 7 p.m., Friday 6 am. to 6 p.m. Pacific. Please have your new
loan number shown above available when calling.

Rushmore offers several convenient ways to make your monthly payment. You can make your payment by phone
at 888-504-6700 or through our website at www.rushmorelm.com. Click on the upper banner called ACCOUNT
LOGIN and you can make a Payment or sign-up for Auto Draft Payments. Rushmore highly recommends this
option, as it helps prevent you being late on any of your very important mortgage payments. For a small fee you
|_can also utilize Western Union Quick Collect (Code City: Rushmore Code State: CA).

Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC requests that you make every effort to remit your monthly payments
on the contractual due date shown on the note and your payment coupon. Late charges may be assessed on
payments not made on time.

If you wish to speak with a Housing Counseling Agency certified by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD), please call the following toll-free number: (800) 569-4287.

Please review the attached statement of your debt. Please keep this letter with your records as an informational
reference. If we can be of assistance in any way, please don't hesitate to contact us.

Sincerely,
Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC
Loan Servicing Department

LEGAL NOTIFICATION: Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC may report information about your account to
credit bureaus. Late payments, missed payments or other defaults on your account may be reflected in your credit report.
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N 888.669.5600 toll free

949.341.0777 local

OSIlettE  949.341.2200 fax

www.rushmorelm.com

Marie T Cedre 1979

175 E Main St Ste 111
Apopka, FL 32703-3213

Your New Loan Number: 7600349599
Property Address: 113 HERON BAY CIR
LAKE MARY, FL 32746

NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT, SALE OR TRANSFER OF SERVICING
Dear Mortgagor(s):

You are hereby notified that the servicing of your mortgage loan, that is, the right to collect payments from you,
has been assigned, sold or transferred from Seterus, Inc. to Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC
(Rushmore), effective 05/01/2016. The transfer of the servicing of your mortgage does not affect any term or
condition of the mortgage instruments, other than terms directly related to the servicing of your loan.

Except in limited circumstances, the law requires that your previous servicer send you this notice at least |15 days
before the effective date of transfer. As your new servicer, we must also send you this notice no later than 15 days
after this effective date or at closing.

Your previous servicer was Seterus, Inc.. If you have any questions regarding the transfer of servicing from your
previous servicer, call Seterus, Inc. Customer Service at 866-570-5277 between Monday [J Thursday, 5:00 am to
8:00 pm PT, Friday, 5:00 am to 6:00 pm PT This is a toll free number.

Rushmore will be your new servicer. The business addresses for your new servicer are as follows:

Correspondence Addres
Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC
15480 Laguna Canyon Rd., Suite 100
Irvine, CA 92618

Paymen
Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC
P.O. Box 514707
Los Angeles, CA 90051-4707

If you have any questions related to the transfer of servicing to Rushmore, call our Customer Service Department
at 888-504-6700 between Monday through Thursday, 6 a.m. to 7 p.m., Friday 6 a.m. to 6 p.m. Pacific. Please have
your new loan number shown above available when calling.

Rushmore offers several convenient ways to make your monthly payment. You can make your payment by phone
at 888-504-6700 or through our website at www.rushmorelm.com. Click on the upper banner called
ACCOUNT LOGIN and you can make a Payment or sign-up for Auto Draft Payments. Rushmore highly
l_rt_ecommends this option, as it helps prevent you being late on any of your very important mortgage payments.

The date that your present servicer Seterus, Inc. will stop accepting your payments is 04/30/2016. The date that
Rushmore will begin accepting payments from you is 05/01/2016. Send all payments due on or after that due date
to your new servicer. A billing statement from Rushmore will be mailed to you within 15 to 30 days.
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If you are currently making your mortgage payment through a third- party entity (e.g., government allotment,
biweekly, or bill service), please take the necessary steps to advise them of your new loan number shown above
and change the payee to your new servicer. In the event of a payment change, it is your responsibility to notify the
third-party of the new payment amount and new address to send the payments,

Important note: If you entered into an approved loss mitigation plan with you prior loan servicer, or if you had a
loss mitigation application in process with your prior servicer, please call Rushmore immediately, toll-free, at
888-504-7300, to confirm that the loss mitigation plan information, or application and documentation, were
properly transferred to Rushmore.

You should also be aware of the following information, which is referred to in more detail in Section 6 of the Real
Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA) (12 USC §2605).

During the 60-day period following the effective date of transfer of the loan servicing, a loan payment received by
your old servicer before its due date may not be treated by the new servicer as late, and a late charge fee may not
be assessed.

Important note about insurance: If you have mortgage life or disability insurance or any other type of optional
insurance, the transfer of servicing rights may affect your insurance in the following way:

Rushmore does not collect and remit any type of optional insurance to your insurance company. Any premiums
for any such optional policy that was being collected and remitted by your prior servicer will be discontinued by
Rushmore as of the effective date of the transfer of servicing. If you wish to retain such optional insurance, you

- should contact your optional product service provider about your ability to continue such insurance and how to
make premium payments.

Notice of Error Resolution & information Request Procedures
The following outlines the Error Resolution and Information Request Procedures for your mortgage account at
Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC. (RLMS). Please keep this document for your records.

If you think an error has occurred on your mortgage account or if you need specific information about the
servicing of your loan, please write us at:

Rushm n Man ices LL.
Compliance Department
P.O. Box 52262
Irvine, California 92619

All written requests for information or notices of error should contain the following information:

I. Your name

2. Account number

3. Property Address :

4. Description of the error and explanation as to why you believe it is an error OR a request for specific
information regarding the servicing of your loan

5. Current contact information so we may follow up with you

All written requests for specific information will be handled within 30 days of receipt. We will determine whether
an error occurred within 30 days after receiving your notice of error and will correct any error promptly (Notices
of error on payoff statements will be handled within 7 days). If additional time is needed to investigate your
complaint or request, we may take up to 45 days but we will notify you of the extension within the original 30
days. If we decide that there was no error, we will send you a written explanation. You may ask for copies of the
documents that we used in our investigation.

Please keep this document for your records.

A Business Day is a day on which the offices of the business entity are open to the public for carrying on
substantially all of its business functions.

Section 6 of RESPA also provides for damages and costs for individuals or classes of individuals in circumstances
where servicers are shown to have violated the requirements of that Section. You should seek legal advice if you
believe your rights have been violated.

Should you have any questions, please contact our Customer Service Department at toll-free 888-504-6700,
Monday through Thursday, 6 am. to 7 p.m., Friday 6 a.m. to 6 p.m. Pacific.

Sincerely,

Rushmore L.oan Management Services LLC
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888.669.5600 toll free
949.341.0777 local
949.341.2200 fax

www.rushmorelm.com

May 24, 2016

Marie T Cedre

175 E Main St Ste 111
Apopka, FL 32703-3213
Subject: 7600349599
Dear Borrower(s)

According to Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC records, including information that we have received from your prior
servicer, the amount of your debt as of 05/01/2016 is provided below.

Current Creditor: WILMINGTON SAVINGS FUND SOCIETY, FSB, D/B/A CHRISTIANA TRUST, NOT INDIVIDUALLY BUT
AS TRUSTEE FOR CARLSBAD FUNDING MORTGAGE TRUST

Current Monthly Payment Amount: $917.37

Payment Due Date: 12/01/2010

Summary of Total Debt Composition:

I Loan Balance, Interest, Escrow and Other Debt:
Current Principal Balance: $105,883.13
Current Unpaid Accrued Interest $35191.85
Escrow Balance: $0.00
Late Charges: $156.56
NSF Charges: $0.00
Other Charges: $12,565.11
Partial Payments Not Yet Applied: $0.00
Total Amount of Your Debt: $153,796.65

The Total Amount of Your Debt is subject to change as a result of interest and other accruing charges (such as Late Charges,
Legal Fees and Costs, and Other Charges). Please call Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC at 888-504-6700 for a
current payoff at the time of any payment.

Pursuant to the Federal Fair Debt Collections Practices Act, if you do not notify us within 30 days after receiving this notice
that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion thereof, we will assume the debt is valid.

If you notify us in writing within 30 days that the debt or any portion thereof is disputed, or if you request the name and
address of the original creditor, we will obtain verification of the debt or judgment against you and mail a copy to you and
provide you with the name and address of the original creditor.

You should consider this letter as coming from a Debt Collector as we sometimes act as a Debt Collector and any information
received will be used for that purpose. However, if you are in Bankruptcy or received a Bankruptcy Discharge of this debt, this
letter is not an attempt to collect a debt and does not constitute a notice of personal liability with respect to the debt.

Your dispute letter should be sent to:
Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC
15480 Laguna Canyon Road, Suite 100

Irvine, California 92618

If you have any questions regarding this letter, please call us at Toll Free 888-504-6700. Monday through Thursday, 6 a.m. to 7
p-m., Friday 6 a.m. to 6 p.m. Pacific.

Sincerely,
Rushmore Loan Management Service
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LAW FIRM, P.A.

June 6, 2016
Via Facsimile — 949-341-2242 949-341-2200

Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC

Re: Request for Information
Borrower: Marie T. Cedre
Loan Number: 7600349599

Dear Sir/Madam:

My name is Scott A. Smothers. My firm represents your borrower, Marie T. Cedre, and I am
helping her work out a solution regarding her home located at 113 Heron Bay Circle, Lake Mary,
FL 32746. T have reviewed your welcome packet for my client, and I am requesting additional
information regarding the Summary of Total Debt Composition in the letter dated May 24, 2016.
Please provide a specific breakdown of the $12,565.11 in Other Charges. If you wish to
discuss this matter I am generally available Monday through Friday, 9:00 A.-M. to 5:00 P.M. by
phone at 407-814-3900 and faxed at 407-331-9621.

Sincerely,

/QQ/M

Scott A. Smothers

scott@smotherslawfirm.com
SAS.shs

175 East Main Street, Suite 111 ® Apopka, FL 32703 ¢ 407.814.3900 ® Fax 407.331.9621
www.SmothersLawFirm.com
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15480 Laguna Canyon Road
Suite 100

Irvine, CA 92618
888.699.5600 toll free

E 949.341.0777 local

i 949.341.2200 fax
www.rushmorelm.com

June 13, 2016 By FedEx

SLT Smothers Law Firm, P.A.
175 East Main Street, Suite 111
Apopka, FL 32703

RE:  Mortgagor(s) — Marie T. Cedre
Property Address — 113 Heron Bay Circle, Lake Mary, FL 32746
Loan Number — 7600349599

Dear Attorney Scott Smothers:

Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC (Rushmore) is in receipt of your correspondence; dated June
6, 2016 received by our office June 6, 2016, regarding the mortgage loan account referenced above. We
appreciate you bringing this matter to our attention, as we take all inquiries from our customers very
seriously.

Your correspondence is currently under review. We realize the urgency of your inquiry and we
appreciate your patience. We will have a response issued to you within 30 business days.

Furthermore, our records indicate Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, d/b/a Christiana Trust, not
individually but as trustee for Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust is the current owner of the loan. The
address of the owner of the loan is as follows:

Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, d/b/a Christiana Trust, not individually but as trustee for

Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust

500 Delaware Avenue, 11th Floor,

Wilmington, Delaware 19801

At Rushmore, customer concerns are important to us. Should you have any general questions other than
those referenced in the correspondence, please contact:

Customer Service Department
Monday through Thursday, 6:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. Pacific / Friday, 6:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Pacific
Toll-free number: 1.888.504.6700

Sincerely,
ONdendatse

Mariah Henderson

Compliance

Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC

Rushmore Loan Management Services is a debt collector, who is attempting to collect a debt. Any information obtained will be used for that

purpose. If this debt is in or has been discharged in a bankruptcy proceeding, be advised this communication is not an attempt to collect the debt
against you. Please note, however, we reserve the right to exercise the legal rights only against the property securing the original obligation.

&
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5404 Cypress Center Drive, Suite 300, Tampa, FL

30369
A L AW Phone: 813.221.4743 | Fax: 813.221.9171 | alaw.net

June 16, 2016
Reinstatement Letter

Recipient: Stephanie Spears
Property Address: 113 Heron Bay Cir, Lake Mary, FL. 32746
Mailing Address: Legal Assistant to Scott A. Smothers, Esq.
Smothers Law Firm, P.A.
175 East Main Street
Suite 111

Apopka, FL 32703

VIA FACSIMILE/EMAIL.: 407-331-9621 /stephanie @smotherslawfirm.com

WE MAY BE CONSIDERED A DEBT COLLECTOR. THIS IS AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A
DEBT. ANY INFORMATION WILL BE USED FOR THAT PURPOSE.

HOWEVER, IF YOU ARE IN BANKRUPTCY OR HAVE BEEN DISCHARGED IN
BANKRUPTCY, THIS LETTER IS FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT
INTENDED AS AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT OR AS AN ACT TO COLLECT, ASSESS,
OR RECOVER ALL OR ANY PORTION OF THE DEBT FROM YOU PERSONALLY.

Re: Full Reinstatement
Loan Number: 7600349599
Property Address: 113 Heron Bay Cir, Lake Mary, FL. 32746
QOur File: 15-174582
Date Last Payment Due: December 1, 2010

Dear Stephanie Spears:
This letter responds to your request for a Reinstatement of the above referenced loan.

As of the date of this letter the amount required to cure your loan delinquency is $66,464.21**, However, if
you are not prepared to tender the full reinstatement amount today, then the amount owed may increase
between the date of this letter and the date you reinstate the loan. The reinstatement amount may increase
because of additional interest and late charges as well as legal fees and costs that are incurred as additional
steps in the foreclosure proceed.

This reinstatement quote is good thru 06/20/2016. If you reinstate this loan in full by the good through date,
we estimate the reinstatement amount to be itemized as listed on the next page.

PLEASE CAREFULLY READ THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION CONCERNING THE
FORECLOSURE. Please be advised that we may not be able to cancel the foreclosure sale or other
pending hearing due to time constraints, county specific requirements, or other factors. We do not
warrant or guarantee our ability to cancel the aforementioned even though we receive funds. In the

event we are unable to cancel an event for any reason, the tendered funds will be refunded to you in the
most expedient manner possible.

FLORIDA - GEORGIA - TEXAS
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PLEASE NOTE: If there is a foreclosure date scheduled for the property, this letter DOES NOT extend or
change that foreclosure sale date. Therefore, if the Good Through Date for the payment stated in this letter
continues past the scheduled foreclosure sale date, the foreclosure sale will nonetheless occur unless the loan
is reinstated or paid off PRIOR TO the foreclosure sale as required by applicable law.

PLEASE NOTE: If there is a foreclosure date scheduled for the property, this letter DOES NOT extend or
change that foreclosure sale date. Therefore, if the Good Through Date for the payment stated in this letter
continues past the scheduled foreclosure sale date, the foreclosure sale will nonetheless occur unless the loan
is reinstated or paid off PRIOR TO the foreclosure sale as required by applicable law. The right of redemption
shall expire upon the issuance of the certificate of sale in accordance with Florida Statues.

Re: Full Reinstatement
Loan Number: 7600349599
Property Address: 113 Heron Bay Cir, Lake Mary, FL. 32746
Our File: 15-174582

Total Payments — 67 $55,099.35
Late Charges $156.56
Acquired Corporate Advance $7,548.30
Property Inspections $35.00
Outstanding Attorney Fees and Costs

Attorney Fees Co. Hearing Dismiss Estimate $250.00
Attorney Fees & Costs Estimate $2,825.00
Attorney Fees Discovery $300.00
Co. Clerk LP Release Estimate $25.00
Reinstatement letter good through 6.20.16 $100.00
Dismissal Prep Fee $125.00
TOTAL Good Through 06/20/2016 $66,464.21%*

*There is important information at the end of this letter regarding estimates of escrow advances, fees,
and costs. Please read carefully.

WE SUGGEST THAT YOU CONTACT ALBERTELLI LAW AT THE ADDRESS OR TELEPHONE
NUMBER ON THIS LETTER TO VERIFY THE EXACT AMOUNT NECESSARY TO
REINSTATE/PAYOFF YOUR LOAN NO MORE THAN THREE BUSINESS DAYS BEFORE YOU
MAKE ANY PAYMENT.

If you purchased any option al product(s) that are billed with your mortgage, the amount quoted above does
not include such product(s). Option products include but are not limited to items such as Mortgage Life
Insurance, Accidental Death Insurance or Disability Insurance. If you have not made payments towards such
product(s), this could result in cancellation of your coverage or service. Please contact the provider(s) of
your option product(s) for information on the status of your account and any amounts that they may require
you to maintain coverage or service.

The reinstatement figures listed above include items that have been paid by the lender or servicer or incurred
by ALBERTELLI LAW that are currently due. Please understand that the above figures are subject to final
verification upon receipt by the lender or servicer. All fees and costs incurred after the issuance of this
reinstatement letter will continue to be assessed until the total amount is received.
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*IMPORTANT: If your reinstatement amount tendered is less than the total amount due on the date of
your payment, the lender or servicer reserves the right to reject your payment and continue with the legal
process.

Albertelli Law does not have a Cashier’s Department, do not bring funds directly to our office. Funds
are only accepted via wire, certified mail, Fed Ex or UPS. PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS. Payment
must be submitted in the form of a certified cashier’s check(s) and must be made payable to “‘Rushmore
Loan Management Services”.

Funds must be sent to the attorney/trustee’s office listed on this letter at: ALAW, ATTN: Accounting
Department, 5404 Cypress Center Drive, Suite 300, Tampa, FL 33609. The reinstatement funds will
be returned if any portion of the funds is in the form of a personal check. Please be advised that the
action will continue until the total reinstatement amount is received, in compliance with the terms in this
letter. After reinstatement amount, you may be required to sign appropriate documents and take other
requested action to assist in obtaining a withdrawal of the foreclosure. If you are wiring funds, please add
an additional $12.00 (estimate) to the above quote. Send the wire to: Albertelli Law IOLTA, c/o US
AMERIBANK, 4790 140" Avenue North, Clearwater, FL 33762; Routing/ABA#063116177;
Account#500110747. Please reference the File No., Case No., and Borrower’s Last Name.

You should verify the loan number, the name(s) of the Mortgagor(s), the property address and the amounts
due and owing to ensure that these times are correct. Should you have any questions regarding the above,
please do not hesitate to contact our office.
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11th Circuit Finds Lender Violated FDCPA
And Florida Law, Reverses Ruling

(December 7, 2015, 10:55 AM ET) -- ATLANTA — The 11th Circuit U.S. Court of Appeals on Dec.
3 found that a lender violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) and the Florida
Consumer Collections Practice Act (FCCPA) when it charged him attorney fees that were not agreed
on, reversing a decision that granted summary judgment on his claims in favor of the bank (Kevin
Prescott v. Seterus Inc., No. 15-10038, 11th Cir.; 2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 20934).

(Opinion available. Document #85-151208-028Z.)

Default

Kevin Prescott purchased a property with a loan from Bank of America. Prescott defaulted on the loan

http://www lexislegalnews.com/articles/4421/11th-circuit-finds-lender-violated-fdcpa-and-... 7/13/2016
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in August 2012. Seterus Inc. later took over servicing of the loan and prepared to initiate foreclosure
against Prescott. Seterus hired Kahane and Associates to provide legal services associated with the
foreclosure. Prescott requested that Seterus reinstate his mortgage pursuant to certain conditions under
Section 19 of the security instrument.

Seterus sent Prescott a letter, which showed the amount he owed. The letter stated that "this
communication is from a debt collector as we sometimes act as a debt collector. We are attempting to
collect a debt and information obtained will be used for that purpose.” Prescott paid the full
reinstatement and the mortgage was reinstated. Seterus also refunded Prescott legal fees.

Fees

Prescott then sued Seterus in a Florida state court, asserting that the inclusion of estimated attorney
fees in his reinstatement balance violated Sections 1692¢e(2) and 1692f(1) of the FDCPA and Section
559.72(9) of the FCCPA. Seterus removed the case to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of Florida.

The parties moved for summary judgment. The District Court granted summary judgment for Seterus.
Prescott appealed to the 11th Circuit, arguing that Seterus violated Sections 1692¢(2) and 16921(1) of
the FDCPA by including estimated attorney fees in his reinstatement balance.

FDCPA

The appeals court found that Seterus violated the FDCPA and the FCCPA by charging Prescott
estimated attorney fees and refused to affirm the District Court's decision.

"Seterus violated the FDCPA and FCCPA by charging Prescott estimated attorney's fees that he had
not agreed to pay in the security agreement. That violation may have resulted from a 'mistaken
interpretation of the legal requirements of the FDCPA' or from a mistaken interpretation of the
agreement itself. See id. at 576, 130 S. Ct. at 1608 [Karen L. Jerman v. Carlisle, McNellie, Rini,
Kramer & Ulrich, L.P.A., et al., No. 08-1200, U.S. Sup.]. Either way, the violation did not result from
a factual or clerical error. Because under Jerman the bona fide error defense does not excuse Seterus'
faulty legal reasoning, we cannot affirm the district court's grant of summary judgment to Seterus on
that basis," the appeals court said.

The appeals court reversed the decision and remanded the case to the District Court.

The case was heard by Chief Circuit Judge Ed Carnes and Circuit Judges Charles R. Wilson and Julie
E. Carnes.

Prescott is represented by J. Dennis Card Jr. of Consumer Law Organization in Hollywood, Fla.
Seterus is represented by Seric James Fallon of Groelle & Salmon in Miami; Ernest P. Wagner of

McGinnis Wutscher in Chicago; Christopher Patrick Hahn of McGinnis Wutscher in Miami; and
Hector Enrique Lora of the Law Office of Hector E. Lora in Miami.

Related Articles

» Borrower Seeks Extension After 11th Circuit Finds Lender Violated FDCPA

http://www .lexislegalnews.com/articles/4421/1 1th-circuit-finds-lender-violated-fdcpa-and-... 7/13/2016
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Inclusion of Estimated Fees and Costs in

Reinstatement Quotes

Posted By USFN, Monday, January 04, 2016
Updated: Tuesday, january 19, 2016

January 4, 2016

by Steven J. Flynn
McCalla Raymer, LLC - USFN Member (Georgia)

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has held, in an unpublished decision, that a loar
servicer violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) by including the “estim
future attorneys' fees of the law firm retained by the loan servicer to conduct foreclos
proceedings in a letter to the borrower, setting forth the amounts necessary to reinsti
borrower’s loan under the terms of his security instrument. [Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., !
10038 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015)]. (The Eleventh Circuit is comprised of Alabama, Florida,
Georgia.)

Factual Background

On August 1, 2012 the borrower Prescott defaulted on his residential mortgage loan. !
began servicing the mortgage on October 1, 2012. Following the borrower’s default, St
prepared to initiate foreclosure proceedings against the borrower and retained a law
provide legal services associated with the foreclosure.” The borrower asked Seterus tc
reinstate his mortgage in August 2013. Under the terms of the borrower's mortgage, t
borrower could reinstate his mortgage under “certain conditions,” including, in pertine
part, by “pay[ing] all expenses incurred in enforcing [the borrower's] Security Instrumc
including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees, property inspection and valus
fees, and other fees incurred for the purpose of protecting Lender’s interest in the Pr¢
and rights under this Security Instrument ...."

On September 4, 2013 Seterus sent the borrower a letter setting forth a reinstatemen
balance of $15,569.64 (an amount stated to be good through September 27, 2013), wi
included the amount of $15 in "estimated” property inspection fees and $3,175 in “est
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attorneys' fees. The borrower paid the full reinstatement balance on September 26, 2 CMBA Annual Western
Seterus reinstated the borrower’s loan. On November 14, 2013 Seterus refunded the = States Loan Servicing

in estimated legal fees “because those fees were not incurred before Seterus reinstat: Conference - San Diego,
mortgage.” Seterus did not refund the $15 in estimated property inspection fees becz CA

those fees were incurred by Seterus before the borrower reinstated the mortgage.

Procedural History

The borrower filed suit against Seterus in Florida state court about a week after his lo
reinstated, alleging that the inclusion by Seterus of estimated attorneys' fees in the
September 4, 2013 letter violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2) and 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1) of the t
and § 559.72(9) of the Florida Consumer Collections Practices Act (FCCPA). Seterus rer
the case to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida; the district court
granted summary judgment to Seterus on each of the borrower’s claims for relief.

Holdings

On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit held that the inclusion by Seterus of $3,175 in estimat
attorneys’ fees in the reinstatement balance provided to the borrower viclated 15 U.S
1692f(1), which prohibits a debt collector from using “unfair or unconscionable mean:
collect or attempt to collect any debt,” including “[tThe collection of any amount (inclut
any interest, fee, charge, or expense incidental to the principal obligation) unless suck
amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by I
appellate court further held that, under the “least sophisticated consumer” standard
to review claims under the FDCPA, the least sophisticated consumer would not have t
that he was obligated to pay the estimated legal fees in order to reinstate the borrow
mortgage under the terms of the borrower’s security instrument.

The Eleventh Circuit also held that the inclusion of estimated attorneys' fees and cost:
reinstatement balance provided to the borrower constituted a violation of 15 U.S.C. §
which provides that “[a] debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading
representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt,” including “[t]F
representation of (A) the character, amount, or legal status of any debt; or (B) any ser
rendered or compensation which may be lawfully received by any debt collector for tt
collection of a debt.” The court reasoned that Seterus could not “lawfully receive” the

estimated fees and costs from the borrower under the terms of the borrower’s securi
instrument because these costs had not yet actually been incurred. Further, the court
that Seterus was not entitled to escape liability under the FDCPA based upon a “bona
error” defense, as Seterus’s inclusion of the estimated attorneys' fees in the reinstater
balance was not the result of a factual or clerical error. (The Eleventh Circuit also reve
the district court's grant of summary judgment to Seterus on the borrower's FCCPA cl.

Implications

The Prescott decision should cause any lender, loan servicer, or law firm that provide:
reinstatement quotes and/or figures to borrowers to examine its practices and proce:
order to determine whether or not information being provided to borrowers in
reinstatement situations could potentially constitute a FDCPA violation (or a violation
state consumer protection law, such as the FCCPA). The Eleventh Circuit has sent a cle
message to the financial services industry that only those fees and costs that are expt
authorized under the terms of the applicable loan documents, and/or applicable law,
be included in reinstatement quotations.

© Copyright 2016 USFN. All rights reserved.
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RECENT ELEVENTH CIRCUIT
REVERSAL SPARKS UPWARD
TREND IN ESTIMATED-FEE FDCPA
LITIGATION

February 9, 2016 - Posted by John C. Raffetto

Defauit Servicing - FDCPA - Litigation - Uncategorized

On December 3, 2015, the Eleventh Circuit
issued an opinion that has carved a path for
plaintiffs challenging their communications with

loan servicers. The decision, Prescott v.
Seterus, Inc., reversed a grant of summary
judgment in favor of the defendant, Seterus,
Inc. — Fed.Appx. —, 2015 WL 7769235 (S.D.
Fla., Dec. 3, 2015). In reviving the plaintiff's Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (‘FDCPA") and
Florida Consumer Collections Practice Act (“FCCPA") claims, the Eleventh Circuit cleared a

path for plaintiffs to bring similar claims against their loan servicers.

Prescott begins with a factual scenario not uncommon to mortgage servicers—a request for
a payoff quote. /d. at *1. In response to this request, Seterus sent a quote that included
incurred costs for property inspections and attorney’s fees, but which also included costs
that Seterus expected to incur in the ensuing four months. /d, at *2. The payoff quote
expressly identified these yet-to-be incurred costs as “estimated"” fees. /d. Relying on the
clarity of this delineation, the Southern District granted summary judgment to Seterus. It
found that even the "least sophisticated consumer” would have understood that the
“estimated fees” had yet to be incurred, and therefore there was nothing misieading about
the payoff quote. /d. at *4.

The Eleventh Circuit reversed, reasoning that Section 1692e(2)'s prohibition on
misrepresentations regarding “compensation which may be lawfully received by any debt
collector for the collection of a debt,” (15 U.S.C. § 1692¢(2)(B)) applied to Seterus’ inclusion of
estimated fees in its payoff quote. Prescott, 2015 WL 7769235 at *4. Concluding that the
payoff quote was a demand for payment, it held that the inclusion of fees that had not yet
been incurred (even if expressly designated as such) was a demand for compensation not
permitted by the plaintiff's mortgage agreement. /d.

We are seeing an increase in complaints by borrowers based on Prescott. Given the
frequency of requests for payoff quotes (and similar requests such as Regulation X Requests
for Information), loan servicers should consider the impact of Prescott on their
communications with borrowers.
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News Alert: FDCPA Violations for Estimated Fees and Costs in Reinstatement and Payoff
Quotes: Coming to a Court Near You?

Hoees ity News Alert: FDCPA Violations for Estimated Fees and Costs in Reinstatement and Payoff Quotes: Coming to a Court Near You?

April 15, 2016 by admin in News Comments are SEARCH

FDCPA Violations for Estimated Fees and Costs in Reinstatement and Payoff Quotes: Coming to a Court Near You?

Reverse Mortgage Services
The recent Appellate Court decision in Prescott v. Seterus, /nc., 2015 U.S. App, LEXIS 20934, has gained nationwide

notice. Although the decision is only binding on the Eleventh Circuit, it has opened the door and neatly laid the ground
work for other jurisdictions to give similar rulings in the future. Consequently, it is important for servicers and
attorneys to be informed and proactive regarding their decisions when it comes to estimated fees and costs in
reinstatement and payoff quotes,

Recent Posts

News Alert ~ Grace Period Notices No Longer Required

In Prescott, the Plaintiff, Kevin Prescott, appealed the summary judgment ruling granted in favor of Defendant, to be Sent in the State of lllinois

Seterus, by the district court. He alleged that the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) was violated by Seterus’

inclusion of estimated attorney's fees in his reinstatement quote. Prescott, No.15-10038, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20934, Mike Woods Attends MBA Annual Convention

at *7n.6 (11th Cir, Dec. 3, 2015). The FDCPA, states that “(a) debt collector may not use unfair or unconscionable

means to collect or attempt to collect any debt” 15 U.S.C. § 1692 (1996). It further specifies that a violation is Potestivo Raises $3000 for R4L

considered to be, “[t]he collection of any amount (including any interest, fee, charge, or expense incidental to the

principal obligation) unless such amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by Nicholas Tatro attends Annual MCBA Golf Outing
law.” Id. § 1692f(1). The Court of Appeals evaluated the question from the perspective of the least sophisticated

consumer, and ultimately reversed the grant of summary judgment using the rationale that “the least sophisticated Brian Gurta, Sworn in by Honorable James M. Biernat,
consumer would not have understood that the security agreement ‘expressly authorized’ Seterus to charge estimated Jr.

fees for legal services not yet rendered.” Prescott, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20934, at *8.

The Court further ruled that by requiring payment of the estimated attorney’s fees in order to reinstate the loan,
Seterus violated section 1692¢(2) of the FDCPA. Section 1692e(2) specifies that it is a violation of the FDCPA when
there is “[a] false representation of- any services rendered or compensation which may be lawfully received by any
debt collector for the collection of a debt” 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢(2)(B). The court found that because Seterus charged
estimated attorney’s fees that were not provided for as part of the security agreement, this was done in violation of
the FDCPA.

Although the Eleventh Circuit Court has made it quite clear that it views the inclusion of estimated fees and costsin a
reinstatement quote as a violation of the FDCPA, in other jurisdictions it is still common practice to include estimated
or projected fees and costs. In particular, this is the practice when a quote has a future good-through date.

When a reinstatement or payoff quote with a future good-through date is provided to a mortgagor, there is always the
potential for additional fees and costs to accrue on the mortgagor’s account from the time the quote is issued to the
time the quote expires or payment is tendered. In order to account for this, many servicers and attorney firms have
made it their practice to include estimated fees and costs in the quotes, and to clearly mark them as estimates. The
estimates are used when charges are expected to accrue prior to the good-through date, but the work has not yet
been performed.

In light of the decision in Arescott, it is a good idea for servicers to consider taking an alterative approach regarding
the inclusion of estimated fees and costs in reinstatement and payoff quotes. Although the decision is currently only
binding on the Eleventh Circuit, it has the potential to have a much farther reach. The only way for servicers and
attorneys to ensure that they do not find themselves facing a future FDCPA violation, is to take a proactive approach
and remove all estimated and projected fees and costs from reinstatement and payoff quotes.

In doing so, it is important to understand that it may be necessary to do some advance planning, which will likely
require coordination and dialogue between servicers and their attorneys. When deciding the best way to precede it is
important to consider the particulars and requirements of the foreclosure process in each specific jurisdiction. For
instance, in some jurisdictions a foreclosure action may be able to be placed on a hold in order to stop additional fees
and costs from accruing during the time period after the quote is issued, but before the quote expires or payment is
tendered. However, in jurisdictions where the foreclosure process cannot be placed on a hold and it must be either

http://www.potestivolaw.com/fdcpa-violations-for-estimated-fees-and-news-alert-costs-in-... 7/13/2016
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cancelled or adjourned, it may be necessary to consider other alternatives to ensure that the servicer's potential for
loss due to fees and costs, that may not be able to be recouped from the mortgagor, is minimal.

Many servicers are already reevaluating their current practices in an effort to avoid any potential for future FDCPA
violations. However, for those servicers who have not yet considered the impact of the decision in Prescoft, itis not
too late to consider a new course of action, When reevaluating current practices and making these decisions, it is
advantageous for servicers to remember that their attorneys are a knowledgeable and useful resource, with
jurisdiction specific expertise, By working together and exercising a little proactive planning, servicers and attorneys
can work to ensure that they are both protected from the threat of FDCPA violations.

As always, our firm is ready and willing to assist you with any questions or concerns. For more information, please
contact Supervising Attorney, Summer Parker at (248) 853-4400 ext. 1198 / sparker@potestivolaw.com.

Summer E. Parker joined Potestivo & Associates, P.C. in September 2009 as a mediation specialist and law clerk before
being hired on as an Associate Attorney in November 2009. Summer earned her B.A. at Miami University , where she
double majored in Political Science and Women's Studies. Following her undergraduate studies, she attended Capital
University Law School, where she earned her J.D. with concentrations in Alternative Dispute Resolution and Criminal
Litigation.
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National

A VIOLATION OF THE FDCPA -
ESTIMATING ATTORNEY'S FEES IN

Reinstatement/payoff
("Reinstatement”) letters to
borrowers should no longer
include estimated (i.e. future)
attorney’s fees. Fees are not “estimated” in that
the lender is unsure of what the costs of the
work will be (i.e. the costs of attending a trial),
but instead are estimated in that the fees are not
incurred before sending the reinstatement to the
borrower. Reinstatemnent letters provide a certain
amount of time for the borrower to pay a total
amount due to bring their loan current. There is
no limit to the number of reinstatement letters a
borrower may request for their loan, and a lender
cannot halt any foreclosure activity every time a
reinstatement letter is requested.

This creates a problem of timing for a lender
to try and recover all fees that will be incurred
during the offer period for the reinstatement,
in that it is not known when during this period
the borrower may remit fees to reinstate. The
borrower may remit fees on the first day of the
offer. As a result, lenders may not include fees
not yet incurred on the date the reinstatement
amount is provided, but which will be due if the
borrower were to pay on the last date of the offer
for reinstatement.

o

PRESCOTT V. SETERUS, INC.

The federal courts have recently held that
lenders may only charge for fees and expenses
already incurred. See Prescott v. Seterus, Inc.,
15-10038 (1 1th Cir. 2015); Kaymark v. Bank of
America, N.A., 783 F.3d 168, 175-176 (3d Cir.
2015) (“the most natural reading [of the mortgage|
is that Udren was not authorized to collect fees
for not-yet-performed legal services and expenses,
forming a basis for a violation of §1692{(1).”).
{n Prescott, the U.S. Eleventh Circuit Court of
Appeal held that including estimated attorney’s
fees, not yet incurred, in a reinstatement
letter, was prohibited by the Federal Fair Debt
Collection Practices Act (FDCPA).

Pursuant to U.S.C. §1692e(2)(B),

“A debt collector may not use any false,

deceptive, or misleading representation or means

in connection with the collection of uny debt.

Without limiting the general application of the

foregoing, the following conduct is a violation of

this section:

(2) the false representation of —

(B) any services rendered or compensation which
may be lawfully received by any debt collector
for the collection of a debt.”

In Prescott, the 11th Circuit found that even
though the fees were separately identified as
estimated fees, the borrower would still believe
he needed to pay the full amount provided
to reinstate the loan, including the estimated
attorney’s fees. See Prescott, 15-10038 (“because
Congress enacted the statute (FDCPA)
primarily to protect consumers, we evaluate the
circumstance giving rise to an alleged FDCPA
violation from the perspective of the least
sophisticated consumer.”) (emphasis added).
Therefore, the Court held that the reinstatement
amount was false in that it'did not accurately
reflect what was owed by the borrower, as the
Court found the already incurred and estimated
fees would instead be considered by the borrower
as one total amount that must be paid to reinstate
the loan. Although not part of the Prescott
holding, the same rationale should apply to fees
not yet incurred for payoff statements as well.

BEST PRACTICES

Lenders should be aware of the above holding

in Prescott, and use this to determine procedures
that comply with the holding (not charging
estimated fees) while minimizing any loss for
fees incurred. The bottom line is that only fees
that have been incurred should be included in
the reinstatement amount. For instance, rather
than providing a reinstatement figure valid for

a month, reinstatement letters should remain
valid for one to two weeks, to minimize attorney’s
fees that may be expended, but potentially not
recovered, during that time. Two weeks may be a
practical compromise for both the borrower and
lender. Two weeks would reduce the potential

fees a lender may not be reimbursed for, but on
the other hand, would still provide the borrower
sufficient time to receive the reinstatement letter
and arrange payment.

To ensure timely accounting for fees already
incurred, and to avoid reliance on flat rate
attorney’s fees that may not be supported by
proper documentation, it is imperative there is
up-to-date communication between lenders and
their law firms regarding fees incurred. Kaymark
v. Bank of America, N.A., 11 E.Supp.3d 496,

505 (W.D. Penn. 2014), Even though a flat rate
agreement may clearly be lower than itemizing
the costs of the attorney’s fees, the holding in
Prescott should also serve as a reminder that an
attempt to break down fees incurred should be
made to avoid litigation over whether the fees
were incurred prior to a reinstatement or not.
See Boyette v. BAC Home Loans Servicing,

LP, 164 So.3d 9, 11 (Fla. 2d DCA 2015) (“the
attorney’s fees of $1,200 are not substantiated,”
and were not included with the “payment history
delineating the principal amount, $115,697.24,
hazard insurance premiums, late charges, and tax
payments.”).

Having established procedures to limit
inclusion of estimated fees will also provide
a “bona-fide error” defense if litigation arises
pertaining to fees included with a reinstatement.
The “bona-fide error” is the defense named from
U.S.C. § 1692k(c), which states,

“A debt collector may not be held liable in any
action brought under this subchapter if the debt
collector shows by a preponderance of evidence
that the violation was not intentional and resulted
from a bona-fide error notwithstanding the
maintenance of procedures reasonably adapted to
avoid any such error.”

However, as noted in Prescott, the bona-fide
error defense “does not encompass mistakes of
law or misinterpretations the requirements of
this Act (FDCPA).” Prescott, 15-10038; See
Wise v. Zwicker & Assocs., P.C., 780 F.3d 710,
713 (6th Cir. 2015) (“the [U.S.] Supreme Court
held that mistakes of law regarding the FDCPA
itself constitute violations of the Act for which a
debt-collector attorney may not invoke the Act’s
bona fide error defense.”). Therefore, it is better
to ensure there are proper channels and operating
procedures in place to establish only fees incurred
are included in the reinstatement. This way, if an
error arises, the bona-fide error defense may be
asserted to show it was a one-time instance where
fees may have been mistakenly included, which
were not yet incurred. See Arnold v. Bayview
Loan Servicing, LLC, 14-0543-WS-C (S.D.
Alabama Jan. 29, 2016) (“this defense forestalls
FDCPA liability where a defendant’s violation
was unintentional and resulted from a bona fide
error notwithstanding defendant’s procedures
reasonably adapted to avoid such errors.”).

Until policies and procedures are developed
and implemented for more precise compliance
with the FDCPA and holding of Prescott,
reinstaternent figures should be for a shorter
duration and should not include estimated fees.

Nicholas Cavallaro has been with the Gilbert
Garcia Group, PA,, since December 2013. He
is respomsible for handling foreclosure litigation,
alleged debt collection violations against lenders and
servicers, and civil appeals.
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Somen EOEH

548 Smothers

LAW FIRM, P.A.

August 29, 2016

Via U.S. Certified Mail — 7015 1520 0002 9644 5315

James E. Albertelli
Albertelli Law
P.O. Box 23028
Tampa, FL 33623

Re:  Marie Cedte
113 Heron Bay Cir
Lake Maty, Florida 32746-3476

To Whom It May Concern:
My law firm represents Marie Cedre. As stated in the enclosed Complaint, Albertelli
Law has breached its contractual obligations and Florida law in its handling of my client’s

and other borrowers’ loans in the putative Class.

Should you wish to make a cure offer, please contact me within twenty (20) days upon receipt of
this letter.

Feel free to contact me at the below telephone number if you wish to discuss this matter.

Sincerely,

///W

Scott A. Smothers

scott@smotherslawfirm.com

SAS.smh
Enclosure as stated

175 East Main Street, Suite 111 ® Apopka, FL 32703 ¢ 407.814.3900 e Fax 407.331.9621
www.SmothersLawFirm.com
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
MIAMI DIVISION

MARIE CEDRE, on behalf of Case No.:
herself and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,
V.
RUSHMORE LOAN MANAGEMENT
SERVICES LLC, JAMES E. ALBERTELLI, P.A.
d/b/a ALAW, and CARLSBAD FUNDING
MORTGAGE TRUST,

Defendants.

/

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Marie Cedre, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, alleges
violations of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act § 559.55 ef seq. (“FCCPA™) and the
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 15 U.S.C. 1692 ef seq. (“FDCPA”) against Defendants James
E. Albertelli, P.A. (“Albertelli Law”), Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC
(“Rushmore”), and Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust (“Carlsbad”) (collectively “Defendants™).
Plaintiff and the putative class also allege violations of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures
Act, 12 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq. (“RESPA”) solely against Rushmore.

1. Rushmore is a mortgage loan servicer. Rushmore and Albertelli Law both charge
and collect mortgage loans and fees for third party lenders, like Carlsbad. Defendants charged
Plaintiff over $3,000 for mortgage fees and costs “Estimates” necessary to reinstate her loan to
avoid foreclosure. “Estimated” fees are fees companies expect to incur in the event that certain

conditions occur, but have not actually incurred. The Eleventh Circuit has denounced
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“estimated” fees associated with reinstatement of loans to be a violation of the FCCPA and
FDCPA.

2. Hundreds of thousands of homes are in some stage of foreclosure in the United
States every month. http://www.corelogic.com/research/foreclosure-report/national-foreclosure-
report-january-2015.pdf. Most homeowners facing foreclosure are desperate to keein their homes
and are willing to do close to anything to continue living in them with their families. Defendants
exploit their desperation by placing them in danger of foreclosure if homeowners do not pay all
of the fees that Defendants demand—including fabricated debt characterized as “estimated” fees
and costs.

3. Defendants factor these estimated fees and costs into its total demand to
homeowners and insists they are required to pay the full amount before they will reinstate the
loans to avoid foreclosure.

4. Rushmore and Albertelli Law profit from these illegal charges because their
compensation is based on the outstanding amount owed on the mortgage loan, and the longer it
remains in default, the more they profit.

5. Defendants also conceal the true nature of the amount owed, by including
ambiguous fees and costs in the amount homeowners must pay to reinstate their loan. They even
appear to charge borrowers $100 for merely asking how much they owe.

6. These practices enrich Defendants at the expense of homeowners struggling to
stay current on their mortgages, and by demanding payment of these fees, Defendants force
homeowners into foreclosure and in some instances cause them to lose their homes.

7. By the conduct described above, Defendants knowingly violated RESPA,

FDCPA, and the FCCPA.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this
action arises out of RESPA and the FDCPA, federal statutes.

9. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the FCCPA claims under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1367 because the basis of the RESPA and FDCPA federal claims involve the same debt
collection practices that form the basis of the FCCPA claims.

10.  The Court has personal jurisdiction because Defendants conduct business
throughout the United States, including Miami, Florida. Further, their voluntary contact with
Plaintiff to charge and collect debts in Florida made it foreseeable that Defendants would be
haled into a Florida court. See Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 474 (1985).

11.  Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)-(c) because
Defendants are deemed to reside in any judicial district in which it is subject to personal
jurisdiction at the time the action is commenced and because their contacts with this District are
sufficient to subject them to personal jurisdiction.

PARTIES

12.  Plaintiff Marie Cedre is a natural person who currently resides in Florida.

13.  Defendant Rushmore is a foreign limited liability company with its principal
place of business at 15480 Laguna Canyon Road, Suite 100, Irvine CA 92618. Rushmore is one
of the nation’s leading specialty loan servicing companies for mortgage lenders, like
Wilmington, not individually but as trustee for Carlsbad.

14.  Defendant James E. Albertelli, P.A. is a professional association with a principal
place of business at 208 North Laura Street, Suite 900, Jacksonville, Florida 32202 and is

headquartered at 5404 Cypress Center Dr., Suite 300, Tampa, Florida 33609. It is a full service
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real estate law firm representing the mortgage industry. Albertelli acts as a third party debt
collector for financial institutions and servicers, like Carlsbad and Rushmore.

15.  Defendant Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust is a trust that acts as a mortgage
lender for homeowners, like Ms. Cedre. Wilmington Savings Fund Society, d/b/a Christiana
Trust is the current owner of Plaintiff’s mortgage loan, not individually but as trustee for
Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust. Carlsbad has a registered address of c/o Wilmington Saving
Fund Society, 500 Delaware Avenue, 11™ Floor, Wilmington, Delaware 19801.

APPLICABLE LAW
RESPA

16. RESPA imposes certain obligations on mortgage servicers to provide information
to borrowers regarding their mortgage loans. 12 U.S.C. § 2605. In 2013, the CFPB enacted new
regulations implementing specific provisions under RESPA and the Dodd-Frank Act concerning
mortgage loan servicers including, but not limited to, certain requirements for responding to a
written request for information concerning a borrower’s mortgage loan. See 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36
et seq.; Public Law 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376 (2010).

| 17.  RESPA provides a private cause of action against a mortgage servicer for
violations of the provisions of § 2605, if brought within three (3) years of the violation. 12
U.S.C. § 2614.

18.  RESPA defines “servicer” as the “person responsible for servicing of a loan
(including the person who makes or holds a loan if such person also services the loan).” 12
U.S.C. § 2605()(3).

19.  RESPA defines “servicing” as “receiving any scheduled periodic payments from a

borrower pursuant to the terms of any loan, including amounts for escrow accounts described in
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section 2609 of this title, and making the payments of principal and interest and such other
payments with respect to the amounts received from the borrower as may be required pursuant to
the terms of the loan.” 12 U.S.C. § 2605(1)(3).

20.  Pursuant to RESPA, a servicer of a federally related mortgage loan “shall not ...
fail to comply with any other obligation found by the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection,
by regulation, to be appropriate to carry out the consumer protection purposes of this chapter.”
12 U.S.C. § 2605(k)(1)(E).

21.  RESPA’s mortgage servicing regulations require a servicer to provide borrowers
with required disclosures that are in writing and “clear and conspicuous.” 12 C.F.R. §
1024.32(a)(1).

22.  RESPA also requires a servicer to maintain policies and procedures that are
reasonable designed to ensure that the servicer can provide a borrower with “accurate and timely
disclosures . . . as required by this subpart or other applicable law” and “[p]rovide a borrower
with accurate and timely information and documents in response to the borrower's requests for
information with respect to the borrower's mortgage loan.” 12 C.F.R. 1024.38(a)(b)(1)(i),(iii).

23.  Additionally, RESPA provides that “a servicer shall not charge a fee, or require a
borrower to make any payment that may be owed on a borrower's account, as a condition of
responding to an information request.” 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(g).

24. RESPA and its implementing regulations should be broadly construed to
effectuate their remedial purpose. Friedman v. Maspeth Federal Loan and Sav. Ass’n, 30 F.
Supp. 3d 183, 187 (E.D.N.Y. 2014) (“The Act was designed to throw the federal judiciary’s
protective cloak over residential-occupant owners of real property and their kin to protect against

abuse by banks during loan closings and subsequent related events. The Act should be broadly
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applied to accomplish its prophylactic purposes by exercising federal subject matter
jurisdiction.”).
FDCPA

25.  The purpose of the FDCPA is “to eliminate abusive debt collection practices . . .
and to promote consistent State action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses.” 15
U.S.C. § 1692.

26.  The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors from using “any false, deceptive, or
misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt,” which
includes the false representation of “the character, amount, or legal status of any debt.” Id. §
1692e.

27.  The FDCPA also prohibits debt collectors from “unfair or unconscionable means
to collect or attempt to collect any debt,” including “the collection of any amount unless such
amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law.” Id. §
1692f.

28.  The FDCPA creates a private right of action under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k.

29.  The FDCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” Id. § 1692a(3).

30. The FDCPA defines “debt collector” as “any person who uses . . . any business
the principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts, or who regularly collects or
attempts to collect . . . debt owed . . . or asserted to be owed or due another.” Id. § 1692a(6).

31. The FDCPA defines communication as “conveying of information regarding a

debt directly or indirectly to any person through any medium.” Id. § 1692a(2).

Page 6 of 24



Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM Document 1-11 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 9 of 27

32.  The FDCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer
to pay money arising out of a transaction . . . [that] are primarily for personal, family, or
household purposes.” Id. § 1692a(5).

FCCPA

33.  The FCCPA prohibits debt collectors from engaging in certain abusive practices
in the collection of consumer debts. See generally Fla. Stat. § 559.72.

34. The FCCPA'’s goal is to “provide the consumer with the most protection
possible.” LeBlanc v. Unifund CCR Partners, 601 F.3d 1185, 1192 (11th Cir. 2010) (citing Fla.
Stat. § 559.552).

35.  Specifically, the FCCPA states that no person shall “claim, attempt, or threaten to
enforce a debt when such person knows that the debt is not legitimate, or assert the existence of
some other legal right when such person knows that the right does not exist.” Fla. Stat. §
559.72(9).

36. The FCCPA creates a private right of action under Fla. Stat. § 559.77.

37.  The FCCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or ﬂlegedy
obligated to pay any debt.” Id. § 559.55(8).

38. The FCCPA mandates that “no person” shall engage in certain practices in
collecting consumer debt. Id. § 559.72. This language includes all allegedly unlawful attempts at
collecting consumer claims. Williams v. Streeps Music Co., 333 So. 2d 65, 67 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.
1976).

39.  The FCCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer

to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance, or services
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which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household
purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment.” Id. § 559.55(6).
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

40. On or around May 28, 2004, Ms. Cedre purchased a home in Lake Mary, Florida
through a loan from Coldwell Banker Mortgage, secured by a mortgage on the property. Copies
of Plaintiff’s Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note are attached as Exhibit “A” and Exhibit
“B” respectively.

41.  Onor about April 24, 2008, Coldwell Banker Mortgage assigned Ms. Cedre’s
Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

42, On or around December 1, 2010, Ms. Cedre defaulted on her loan after previously
making continuous payments.

43, On or around December 15, 2014, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. assigned Ms.
Cedre’s Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to Federal National Mortgage Association. See
Exhibit “C.”

44,  Sometime in or around April 2016, Federal National Mortgage Association
assigned the Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to Wilmington Savings Fund Society as
trustee for Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust. See Exhibit “D.”

45,  Effective May, 1, 2016, Seterus, Inc. assigned its rights as the servicer of Ms.
Cedre’s loan to Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC. See Exhibit “E.”

46.  Therefore, Rushmore became the servicer of the loan, and Carlsbad, through
Wilmington, became the owner of Ms. Cedre’s loan, while Ms. Cedre’s loan was already in

default.
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47.

On or about November 18, 2015, Albertelli Law, on behalf of Federal National

Mortgage Association and Seterus, filed a complaint in the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit for

Seminole County to initiate foreclosure with the court.

48.

49.

Plaintiff hired Smothers Law Firm (“Smothers”) to defend her in the foreclosure.

On or about May 24, 2016, Rushmore, on behalf of Carlsbad and Wilmington,

sent a “Notice of Assignment, Sale or Transfer of Servicing” letter to Ms. Cedre through

Smothers. See Exhibit “D.”

50.

Id.

5L

The letter advised:

Pursuant to the Federal Fair Debt Collections Practices Act, if you do not
notify us within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the
validity of this debt or any portion thereof, we will assume the debt is
valid.

If you notify us in writing within 30 days that the debt or any portion
thereof is disputed, or if you request the name and address of the original
creditor, we will obtain verification of the debt or judgment against you
and mail a copy to you and provide you with the name and address of the
original creditor.

You should consider this letter as coming from a Debt Collector as we
sometimes act as a Debt Collector and any information received will be
used for that purpose. However, if you are in Bankruptcy or received a
Bankruptcy Discharge of this debt, this letter is not an attempt to collect a
debt and does not constitute a notice of personal liability with respect to
the debt.

The letter identified the current creditor as Wilmington Savings Fund Society

(“Wilmington™) as trustee for Carlsbad and provided an itemization of the total amount due and

owing on the mortgage as $153.796.65. Id.
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52.  The total amount included a “Summary of Total Debt Composition” breakdown
that included the current principal balance of $105,883.13; current unpaid accrued interest of
$35,191.85; late charges of $156.56; and “Other Charges” of 12,565.11. Id.

53.  Because Rushmore provided no explanation or itemization concerning the
$12,565.11 in “Other Charges,” Smothers sent a written request for information to Rushmore in
a letter dated June 6, 2016, asking for a specific breakdown of charges. See Exhibit “F.”

54.  On or about June 13, 2016, Rushmore responded and confirmed it received
Smothers’ written request and advised it would respond within (30) days. See Exhibit “G.”

55. On or about June 16, 2016, Albertelli Law, on behalf of Rushmore and Carlsbad,
sent Smothers a “Reinstatement Letter,” to be received on behalf of Ms. Cedre. See Exhibit “H.”

56. Immediately below the heading, the letter advised:

WE MAY BE CONSIDERED A DEBT COLLECTOR. THIS IS AN

ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT. ANY INFORMATION WILL BE

USED FOR THAT PURPOSE.

Id. (emphasis in original).

57.  The letter stated: “This letter responds to your request for a Reinstatement of the
above referenced loan. As of the date of this letter the amount required to cure your delinquency
is $66,464.21**.” Id.

58.  The letter advised that if Ms. Cedre was not prepared to pay the full reinstatement
amount that day, “then the amount owed may increase between the date of this letter and the date
you reinstate the loan ... because of additional interest and late charges as well as legal fees and
costs that are incurred as additional steps in the foreclosure proceed.” Id.

59.  In the letter, the total amount Defendants required Ms. Cedre to pay to reinstate

her loan was $66,464.21. Id.
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60.  This amount included $3,100 for an “Estimate” of “Outstanding Attorney Fees
and Costs.”

61.  These “estimated” amounts were based on projected amounts due in the event
Plaintiff did not actually pay before a certain future date and certain events relating to
foreclosure occurred.

62.  This amount also included other ambiguous amounts that appeared to be estimates
and not actually incurred, including an “Acquired Corporate Advance” charge of $7,548.30 and a
“Dismissal Prep Fee” of $125.00. Id.

63.  The total amount due also included a charge of $100.00 for “Reinstatement letter
good through 6.20.16.” Id.

64.  Nowhere in either letter do Defendants state that they will return any of the
estimated amounts if paid by Ms. Cedre but not incurred by Rushmore, Albertelli Law,
Wilmington, or Carlsbad.

65.  Defendants also failed to provide any information or explanation concerning the
$7,548.30 charge ambiguously labeled “Acquired Corporate Advance.”

66.  Rushmore, as the loan servicer, acted as a debt collector by attempting to collect
amounts on behalf of the principal, Carlsbad through its trustee, Wilmington.

67.  Albertelli Law acted as a third party debt collector for Rushmore by attempting to
collect amounts on behalf of Rushmore and Rushmore’s principal, Carlsbad through its trustee,
Wilmington.

68.  Defendants knew that they were not permitted by law to charge or even attempt to
collect estimated fees, but they nonetheless demanded Ms. Cedre and the putative classes pay

estimated fees to reinstate their loans. Rushmore is a sophisticated mortgage loan servicer,
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Albertelli Law is a sophisticated law firm specializing in the mortgage and loan industry, and
Carlsbad and Wilmington are sophisticated lenders. In a highly publicized and remarkably
similar case issued by the Eleventh Circuit over half of a year prior to the date of Defendants’
reinstatement of loan letter at issue, the Eleventh Circuit reversed the district court’s grant of
summary judgment on the FDCPA and FCCPA claims, opining, among other things, that the
defendants were not permitted to charge “estimated” fees that had not yet incurred in their
reinstatement of loan letter. See Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-10038, 2015 WL 7769235, at
*2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015) (“[The defendants] violated the FDCPA and FCCPA by charging
[the plaintiffs] estimated attorney’s fees that they had not agreed to pay in the security
agreement.”). Defendants’ reinstatement letter to Plaintiff contains even worse facts than in
Prescott.

69.  Over those six months, the media and trade publications consistently warned the
industry against including estimated fees in reinstatement of loan letters, particularly those in the
Eleventh Circuit where the Prescott case is binding precedent. Some of those industry warnings
are attached as Exhibit I and include:

a. 11" Circuit Finds Lender Violated FDCPA And Florida Law, Reverses Ruling,
Lexis Legal News (Dec. 7, 2015) (“The appeals court found that Seterus violated
the FDCPA and the FCCPA by charging Prescott estimated attorney fees and
refused to affirm the District Court’s decision.”).

b. Eleventh Circuit Issues Stern Warning Against Inclusion of Estimated Fees and
Costs in Reinstatement Quotes, USFN (Jan. 4, 2016) (“The Prescott decision
should cause any lender, loan servicer, or law firm that provides reinstatement
quotes and/or figures to borrowers to examine its practices and procedures in
order to determine whether or not information being provided to borrowers in
reinstatement situations could potentially constitute a FDCPA violation (or a
violation of state consumer protection law, such as the FCCPA). The Eleventh

Circuit has sent a clear message to the financial services industry . . . .”).

. Recent Eleventh Circuit Reversal Sparks Upward Trend in Estimated-Fee FDCPA
Litigation, Lenderlaw Watch (Feb. 9, 2016) (“Concluding that the payoff quote
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was a demand for payment, [the Eleventh Circuit] held that the inclusion of fees
that had not yet been incurred (even if expressly designated as such) was a
demand for compensation not permitted by the plaintiff’s mortgage agreement. . .
- [L]oan servicers should consider the impact of Prescott on their communications
with borrowers.”).

d. News Alert: FDCPA Violations for Estimated Fees and Costs in Reinstatement
and Payoff Quotes, Potestivo & Associates (April 15, 2016) (“The recent
Appellate Court decision in Prescott, v. Sterus, Inc. . . . has gained nationwide
notice. Although the decision is only binding on the Eleventh Circuit, it has
opened the door and neatly laid the ground work for other jurisdictions to give
similar rulings in the future. Consequently, it is important for servicers and
attorneys to be informed and proactive regarding their decisions when it comes to
estimated fees and costs in reinstatement and payoff quotes.”).

e. 4 Violation of the FDCPA — Estimating Attorney's Fees in Reinstatement F; igures,
Legal League 100 Quarterly (Q2 2016) (“The federal courts have recently held
that lenders may only charge for fees and expenses already incurred.”).

70.  Yet Defendants ignored industry warnings and demanded payment not owed in
violation of federal law.

71.  Additionally, these demands were a direct breach of each of the following
contractual provisions permitting only recovery of amounts actually incurred: (1) Paragraph 9 of
the Mortgage Agreement permitted Defendants to recover “amounts disbursed” in protecting
Carlsbad’s and Wilmington’s interest and rights in the Mortgage Agreement; (2) Paragraph 14 of
the Mortgage Agreement prohibited Defendants from charging estimated fees, stating “[1]ender
may not charge fees that are expressly prohibited in this Security Instrument or by Applicable
Law”; (3) Paragraph 22 of the Mortgage Agreement permitted Defendants to collect “expenses
incurred in pursuing” certain actions under the Paragraph which governed default, notice of
default, actions to cure default, and reinstatement of loans; and (4) Paragraph 7 of the Mortgage
Note permitted Defendants the “right to be paid back . . . for all of its costs and expenses in

enforcing” the Note, which included “reasonable attorneys’ fees.”
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72.  Therefore, Carlsbad, and its agents, also knew demanding payment of fees not yet
incurred was not permitted because it violated Carlsbad’s very mortgage agreement and note.

73.  Additionally, the CFPB has received over 600 complaints concerning Rushmore’s
improper loan servicing practices, many involving similar complaints regarding requests for debt

not actually owed. https://data.consumerfinance.gov/dataset/Consumer-Complaints/s6ew-h6mp.

Rushmore’s knowledge can be imputed to Carlsbad through agency theory. See, e.g., Compass
Bank v. Tania Lynn Vanpelt, No. CA10-1624 (Fla. Cir. Ct. April 2, 2015) (finding knowledge

under the FCCPA could be imputed from agents to the owner of the mortgage note and holder
through principles of agency).

74. By charging estimated fees tacked on to the reinstatement amount, and failing to
provide information in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, Defendants frustrated Ms.
Cedre’s ability to reinstate her loan and caused her to incur further attorney’s fees and costs in
connection with defending the foreclosure action and responding to the inaccurate and unclear
information.

75.  Additionally, Rushmore violated RESPA by charging a $100.00 fee to respond to
a written request for information.

76.  Upon information and belief, Rushmore, Albertelli Law, and
Carlsbad/Wilmington have a pattern and practice of using these form letters containing the

illegal fees complained of in this Complaint.

77.  Onorabout the Plaintiff, through counsel, sent a cure letter to
Rushmore, Albertelli Law, and Carlsbad. See the letter attached as Exhibit “J.”
78. After a reasonable amount of time, Plaintiff filed this lawsuit because Rushmore

failed to cure its violations of state and federal law.
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CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
Florida Class 1
79.  Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by Rushmore’s RESPA
violations ( the “Florida Class 1), subject to modification after discovery and case development:
All Florida residents to whom Rushmore responded to a written request
for information that included inaccurate, unclear or inconspicuous fees,
including but not limited to “Acquired Corporate Advance,” “Dismissal
Prep Fee,” “Other Charges,” or any fee or cost labelled “Estimate,” during
the applicable statute of limitations.
Florida Class 2
80.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by the
Defendants’ FCCPA violations (“Florida Class 3”), subject to modification after discovery and
case development:
All Florida residents to whom Defendants charged, collected, or attempted
to collect an “Estimate” reinstatement of loan amount during the
applicable statute of limitations.
Florida Class3
81.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by
Defendants’ FDCPA violations (“Florida Class 4”), subject to modification after discovery and
case development:
All persons in Florida to whom Defendants, charged, collected, or

attempted to collect estimated reinstatement of loan amounts during the
applicable statute of limitations.
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82.  Class members are identifiable through Defendants’ records and payment
databases.

83. Excluded from the Class are Defendants; any entities in which it has a controlling
interest; its agents and employees; and any Judge to whom this action is assigned and any
member of such Judge’s staff and immediate family.

84.  Plaintiff proposes that she serve as class representative for the Class.

85.  Plaintiff and the Class have all been harmed by the actions of Defendants

86.  Numerosity is satisfied. There are likely thousands of class members. Individual
joinder of these persons is impracticable.

87.  There are questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and to the Class,
including, but not limited to:

a. Whether Rushmore violated RESPA by failing to provide accurate, clear, and
conspicuous information in response to a written request for information;

b. Whether Rushmore violated RESPA by charging, collecting, or attempting to
collect a fee for responding to a written request for information;

c. Whether Defendants violated the FCCPA by charging monies not due;

d. Whether Defendants violated the FDCPA by charging monies not due;

e. Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to actual or statutory damages as
a result of Defendants’ actions;

f. Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to attorney’s fees and costs; and

g. Whether Defendants should be enjoined from engaging in such conduct in the
future.

89.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Classes.
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90.  Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Classes because her interests do not
conflict with the interests of the Classes, she will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the
Classes, and she is represented by counsel skilled and experienced in class actions.

91.  Common questions of law and fact predominate over questions affecting only
individual class members, and a class action is the superior method for fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy.

92.  The prosecution of separate claims by individual class members would create a
risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications concerning individual class members.

COUNT I AS TO RUSHMORE'’S VIOLATION OF THE
REAL ESTATE SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES ACT 12 U.S.C. § 2605(k)
(Florida Class 1)

93.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the prior paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

94.  Rushmore is a “servicer” because it was responsible for “servicing” Plaintiff’s
mortgage loan and was scheduled to receive periodic payments from Plaintiff pursuant to the
terms of her mortgage loan and make payments of principal and interest from those amounts
under the terms of the loan. 12 U.S.C. § 2605(i)(2)-(3).

95.  Plaintiff’s loan is a “federally related mortgage loan” because it is secured by a
first or subordinate lien, a residential real property designed for the occupancy of one to four
families, and was made in whole or in part by Codwell Banker Mortgage, then JPMorgan Chase
Bank, then Federal National Mortgage Association, and now Wilmington Savings Fund Society
as trustee for Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust—lenders with deposits or accounts which were
insured by the FDIC.

96.  Asaservicer of a federally related mortgage loan, Rushmore must comply with

any regulation implementing the provisions of RESPA. See 12 U.S.C. § 2605(k)(1)(E).
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97.  Rushmore is required to maintain policies and procedures that are reasonably
designed to ensure that it can “[p]rovide accurate and timely disclosures to a borrower as
required by this subpart or other applicable law” and “[p]rovide a borrower with accurate and
timely information and documents in response to the borrower's requests for information with
respect to the borrower's mortgage loan.” 12 CFR 1024.38(a)(b)(1)(i),(iii)

98. On June 6, 2016, Ms. Cedre, through counsel, sent a written “request for
information” to Rushmore concerning her mortgage loan and the amount necessary for
reinstatement of her loan. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36.

99.  Rushmore responded to Plaintiff’s written request with information that contained
“Estimates,” “Acquired Corporate Advance” fees, and “Other Fees” without identifying why and
for what services the fees were charged. See 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(d)(1)(i); see 12 C.F.R.
1024.38(a)(b)(1)(i),(iii).

100.  Rushmore violated § 2605(k)(1)(E) when it failed to provide information to
Plaintiff in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, by charging fees not yet incurred and
demanding Plaintiff pay these fees to reinstate her loan. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.32(a)(1); 12 U.S.C. §
2605(k)(1)(E). Rushmore has a pattern and practice of using form letters, like the letter at issue,
that contain these inaccurate, unclear, and inconspicuous responses.

101. Rushmore’s violation of RESPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving her of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning her mortgage loan.
Additionally, Plaintiff incurred attorney’s fees and costs in having to follow up on Rushmore’s

letter, which contained unclear, inaccurate, and inconspicuous information.
COUNT II AS TO DEFENDANTS’ VIOLATION OF

THE FLORIDA CONSUMER COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT § 559.72(9)
(Florida Class 2)
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102.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the prior paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

103.  Plaintiff is a “consumer™ as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(8) when she purchased
her home by mortgage.

104. Rushmore, Albertelli Law, and Carlsbad are “persons” as defined under the
FCCPA.

105. Defendants attempted to enforce, claimed, and asserted a known non-existent
legal right to a debt as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(6) when Albertelli Law, on behalf of
Rushmore and Carlsbad, attempted to collect fees not owed. Id. § 559.72(9).

106. Rushmore, as a sophisticated defendant mortgage loan servicer regularly engaged
in the mortgage loan servicing industry, knew it could only charge fees actually incurred, and not
“estimated” fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-10038, 2015
WL 77692335, at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the issue more than
six months prior to the date Rushmore, through Albertelli Law, sent the reinstatement of loan
letter to Ms. Cedre. The language and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letter was
even more egregious than in Prescott.

107. Rushmore also knew it could only charge fees incurred because, following the
Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued voluminous warnings against using
“estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters, especially in the Eleventh Circuit.
See, e.g., Exhibit L.

108. Rushmore was also put on notice of its requirements to only charge fees incurred
through the many complaints to the CFPB by consumers that Rushmore charged fees not owed,

discussed supra.
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109.  Albertelli Law, as a sophisticated defendant law firm regularly engaged in the
mortgage loan industry, knew it could only charge fees actually incurred, and not “estimated”
fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-1003 8, 2015 WL 7769235,
at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the issue more than six months
prior to the date Albertelli Law sent the reinstatement of loan letter to Ms. Cedre. The language
and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letter was even more egregious than in Prescott.

110.  Albertelli Law also knew it could only charge fees incurred because, following
the Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued voluminous warnings against
using “estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters, especially in the Eleventh
Circuit. See, e.g., Exhibit I. Albertelli Law is primarily based in Florida.

111.  Carlsbad, through its trustee Wilmington, as a sophisticated mortgage lender
regularly engaged in the mortgage loan industry, knew it could only charge fees actually
incurred, and not “estimated” fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No.
15-10038, 2015 WL 7769235, at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the
issue more than six months prior to the date Albertelli Law sent the reinstatement of loan letter to
Ms. Cedre. The language and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letters are even more
egregious than in Prescott.

112.  Carlsbad, through its trustee Wilmington, also knew it could only charge fees
incurred because, following the Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued
voluminous warnings against using “estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters,
especially in the Eleventh Circuit. See, e.g., Exhibit L.

113.  Rushmore’s and Albertelli Law’s knowledge can also be imputed to Carlsbad

through principles of agency. See, e.g., Compass Bank v. Tania Lynn Vanpelt, No. CA10-1624
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(Fla. Cir. Ct. April 2, 2015) (finding knowledge under the FCCPA could be imputed from agents
to the owner of the mortgage note and holder through principles of agency).

114. By charging estimated fees tacked on to the reinstatement amount, and failing to
provide information in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, Defendants frustrated Ms.
Cedre’s ability to reinstate her loan and caused her to incur further attorney’s fees and costs in
connection with defending the foreclosure action and responding to the inaccurate and unclear
information. She also suffered the imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount not owed.

COUNT III AS TO DEFENDANTS’ VIOLATION OF
THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT §§ 1692¢, 1692f
(Florida Class 3)

115. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the prior paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

116. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) when she purchased
a home in Florida by mortgage.

117.  Defendants are “debt collectors” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) because
they regularly attempt to collect, and collect, amounts owed or asserted to be owed or due
another. Rushmore’s May 24, 2016 letter on behalf of Carlsbad to Ms. Cedre stated: “You should
consider this letter as coming from a Debt Collector . . . and any information received will be
used for that purpose.” Albertelli Law’s June 16, 2016 letter on behalf of Rushmore and
Carlsbad to Ms. Cedre stated: “We may be considered a debt collector. This is an attempt to
collect a debt. Any information will be used for that purpose.”

118. The mortgage loan exception to the definition of “debt collector” does not apply
because Plaintiff defaulted on her loan on or around December 1, 2010 and the loan was
assigned to Wilmington as trustee for Carlsbad sometime in or around April 2016, and because

the servicing rights to Ms. Cedre’s loan was assigned to Rushmore, effective May 1, 2016.
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119.  Defendants engaged in “communications” with Plaintiff as defined by 15 U.S.C. §
1692a(2) when they sent the May 24, 2016 and June 16, 2016 debt collection letter to Plaintiff
demanding money purportedly due for reinstatement of her loan to avoid foreclosure.

120.  Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692f when they charged estimated fees not
owed and not expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt.

121.  Rushmore’s violation of the FDCPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving her of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning her mortgage loan.
Additionally, Plaintiff incurred attorney’s fees, costs, and other incidental costs, in having to
follow up on Rushmore’s letter, which contained unclear, inaccurate, and inconspicuous
information. She also suffered the imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount.

JURY DEMAND AND RESERVATION OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES

122.  Plaintiff is entitled to and respectfully demands a trial by jury on all issues so
triable.
123.  Plaintiff reserves the right to amend his Complaint and add a claim for punitive

damages.

RELIEF REQUESTED
WHEREFORE. Plaintiff, himself and on behalf of the Classes, respectfully requests this

Court to enter judgment against Defendants for all of the following:

a. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded actual damages, including but not
limited to forgiveness of all amounts not owed;
b. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded statutory damages;

c. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded costs and attorney’s fees;
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i.

That the Court enter a judgment permanently enjoining Defendants from charging
and/or collecting debt in violation of the FDCPA, FCCPA, and RESPA;

That, should the Court permit Defendants to continue charging and/or collecting
debt, it enter a judgment requiring them to adopt measures to ensure FDCPA,
RESPA, and FCCPA compliance, and that the Court retain jurisdiction for a
period of six months to ensure that Defendants comply with those measures;
That the Court enter a judgment awarding any other injunctive relief necessary to
ensure Defendants’ compliance with the FDCPA, RESPA, and the FCCPA;

That the Court enter an order that Defendants and their agents, or anyone acting
on their behalf, are immediately restrained from altering, deleting or destroying
any documents or records that could be used to identify class members;

That the Court certify Plaintiff’s claims and all other persons similarly situated as
class action claims under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure; and

Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: August =, 2016 Respectfully Submitted,

[s/ James L. Kauffman

James L. Kauffman (Fla. Bar. No. 12915)
1054 31st Street, Suite 230

Washington, DC 20007

Telephone: (202) 463-2101

Facsimile: (202) 342-2103

Email: jkauffman@baileyglasser.com

Darren R. Newhart, Esq.
Florida Bar No.: 0115546
E-mail: darren@cloorg.com
J. Dennis Card Jr., Esq
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Florida Bar No.: 0487473
E-mail:DCard@Consumerlaworg.com
Consumer Law Organization, P.A.

721 US Highway 1, Suite 201

North Palm Beach, Florida 33408
Telephone: (561) 692-6013

Facsimile: (305) 574-0132

Counsel for Plaintiff and the Putative Class
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LAW FIRM, P.A.

August 29, 2016

Via U.S. Certified Mail -- 7015 1520 0002 9644 5308

Catlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust

C/O Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB
500 Delaware Avenue, 11th Floor
Wilmington, DE 19801

Re:  Marie Cedre
113 Heron Bay Cir
Lake Mary, Florida 32746-3476

To Whom It May Concern:
My law firm represents Marie Cedre. As stated in the enclosed Complaint, Catlsbad
Funding Mortgage Trust has breached its contractual obligations and Florida law in its

handling of my client’s and other borrowers’ loans in the putative Class.

Should you wish to make a cure offer, please contact me within twenty (20) days upon receipt of
this letter.

Feel free to contact me at the below telephone number if you wish to discuss this matter.

Sincerely,

/é@/%ﬁ%@

Scott A. Smothers

scott@smotherslawfirm.com

SAS.shs
Enclosure as stated

175 East Main Street, Suite 111 ® Apopka, FL 32703 * 407.814.3900 ¢ Fax 407.331.9621
www.SmothersLawFirm.com
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
MIAMI DIVISION

MARIE CEDRE, on behalf of Case No.:
herself and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,
V.

RUSHMORE LOAN MANAGEMENT
SERVICES LLC, JAMES E. ALBERTELLI P.A.
d/b/a ALAW, and CARLSBAD FUNDING

MORTGAGE TRUST,
Defendants.
/
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Marie Cedre, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, alleges
violations of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act § 559.55 et seq. (“FCCPA”™) and the
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 15 U.S.C. 1692 et seq. (“FDCPA”) against Defendants James
E. Albertelli, P.A. (“Albertelli Law”), Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC
(“Rushmore”), and Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust (“Carlsbad”) (collectively “Defendants™).
Plaintiff and the putative class also allege violations of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures
Act, 12 US.C. § 2601, et seq. (“RESPA”) solely against Rushmore.

1. Rushmore is a mortgage loan servicer. Rushmore and Albertelli Law both charge
and collect mortgage loans and fees for third party lenders, like Carlsbad. Defendants charged
Plaintiff over $3,000 for mortgage fees and costs “Estimates™ necessary to reinstate her loan to
avoid foreclosure. “Estimated” fees are fees companies expect to incur in the event that certain

conditions occur, but have not actually incurred. The Eleventh Circuit has denounced
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“estimated” fees associated with reinstatement of loans to be a violation of the FCCPA and
FDCPA.

2. Hundreds of thousands of homes are in some stage of foreclosure in the United
States every month. http://www.corelogic.com/research/foreclosure-report/national-foreclosure-
report-january-2015.pdf. Most homeowners facing foreclosure are desperate to keep their homes
and are willing to do close to anything to continue living in them with their families. Defendants
exploit their desperation by placing them in danger of foreclosure if homeowners do not pay all
of the fees that Defendants demand—including fabricated debt characterized as “estimated” fees
and costs.

3. Defendants factor these estimated fees and costs into its total demand to
homeowners and insists they are required to pay the full amount before they will reinstate the
loans to avoid foreclosure.

4. Rushmore and Albertelli Law profit from these illegal charges because their
compensation is based on the outstanding amount owed on the mortgage loan, and the longer it
remains in default, the more they profit.

5. Defendants also conceal the true nature of the amount owed, by including
ambiguous fees and costs in the amount homeowners must pay to reinstate their loan. They even
appear to charge borrowers $100 for merely asking how much they owe.

6. These practices enrich Defendants at the expense of homeowners struggling to
stay current on their mortgages, and by demanding payment of these fees, Defendants force
homeowners into foreclosure and in some instances cause them to lose their homes.

7. By the conduct described above, Defendants knowingly violated RESPA,

FDCPA, and the FCCPA.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this
action arises out of RESPA and the FDCPA, federal statutes.

9. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the FCCPA claims under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1367 because the basis of the RESPA and FDCPA federal claims involve the same debt
collection practices that form the basis of the FCCPA claims.

10.  The Court has personal jurisdiction because Defendants conduct business
throughout the United States, including Miami, Florida. Further, their voluntary contact with
Plaintiff to charge and collect debts in Florida made it foreseeable that Defendants would be
haled into a Florida court. See Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 474 (1985).

11.  Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)-(c) because
Defendants are deemed to reside in any judicial district in which it is subject to personal
jurisdiction at the time the action is commenced and because their contacts with this District are
sufficient to subject them to personal jurisdiction.

PARTIES

12.  Plaintiff Marie Cedre is a natural person who currently resides in Florida.

13.  Defendant Rushmore is a foreign limited liability company with its principal
place of business at 15480 Laguna Canyon Road, Suite 100, Irvine CA 92618. Rushmore is one
of the nation’s leading specialty loan servicing companies for mortgage lenders, like
Wilmington, not individually but as trustee for Carlsbad.

14.  Defendant James E. Albertelli, P.A. is a professional association with a principal
place of business at 208 North Laura Street, Suite 900, Jacksonville, Florida 32202 and is

headquartered at 5404 Cypress Center Dr., Suite 300, Tampa, Florida 33609. It is a full service
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real estate law firm representing the mortgage industry. Albertelli acts as a third party debt
collector for financial institutions and servicers, like Carlsbad and Rushmore.

15.  Defendant Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust is a trust that acts as a mortgage
lender for homeowners, like Ms. Cedre. Wilmington Savings Fund Society, d/b/a Christiana
Trust is the current owner of Plaintiff’s mortgage loan, not individually but as trustee for
Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust. Carlsbad has a registered address of ¢/o Wilmington Saving
Fund Society, 500 Delaware Avenue, 11" Floor, Wilmington, Delaware 19801.

APPLICABLE LAW
RESPA

16.  RESPA imposes certain obligations on mortgage servicers to provide information
to borrowers regarding their mortgage loans. 12 U.S.C. § 2605. In 2013, the CFPB enacted new
regulations implementing specific provisions under RESPA and the Dodd-Frank Act concerning
mortgage loan servicers including, but not limited to, certain requirements for responding to a
written request for information concerning a borrower’s mortgage loan. See 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36
et seq.; Public Law 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376 (2010).

17.  RESPA provides a private cause of action against a mortgage servicer for
violations of the provisions of § 2605, if brought within three (3) years of the violation. 12
U.S.C. § 2614.

18.  RESPA defines “servicer” as the “person responsible for servicing of a loan
(including the person who makes or holds a loan if such person also services the loan).” 12
U.S.C. § 2605G)(3).

19.  RESPA defines “servicing” as “receiving any scheduled periodic payments from a

borrower pursuant to the terms of any loan, including amounts for escrow accounts described in
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section 2609 of this title, and making the payments of principal and interest and such other
payments with respect to the amounts received from the borrower as may be required pursuant to
the terms of the loan.” 12 U.S.C. § 26053i)(3).

20.  Pursuant to RESPA, a servicer of a federally related mortgage loan “shall not ...
fail to comply with any other obligation found by the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection,
by regulation, to be appropriate to carry out the consumer protection purposes of this chapter.”
12 U.S.C. § 2605(k)(1)(E).

21.  RESPA’s mortgage servicing regulations require a servicer to provide borrowers
with required disclosures that are in writing and “clear and conspicuous.” 12 C.F.R. §
1024.32(a)(1).

22.  RESPA also requires a servicer to maintain policies and procedures that are
reasonable designed to ensure that the servicer can provide a borrower with “accurate and timely
disclosures . . . as required by this subpart or other applicable law” and “[p]rovide a borrower
with accurate and timely information and documents in response to the borrower's requests for
information with respect to the borrower's mortgage loan.” 12 C.F.R. 1024.38(a)(b)(1)(i),(iii).

23.  Additionally, RESPA provides that “a servicer shall not charge a fee, or require a
borrower to make any payment that may be owed on a borrower's account, as a condition of
responding to an information request.” 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(g).

24.  RESPA and its implementing regulations should be broadly construed to
effectuate their remedial purpose. Friedman v. Maspeth Federal Loan and Sav. Ass’n, 30 F.
Supp. 3d 183, 187 (E.D.N.Y. 2014) (“The Act was designed to throw the federal judiciary’s
protective cloak over residential-occupant owners of real property and their kin to protect against

abuse by banks during loan closings and subsequent related events. The Act should be broadly
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applied to accomplish its prophylactic purposes by exercising federal subject matter
jurisdiction.”).
FDCPA

25.  The purpose of the FDCPA is “to eliminate abusive debt collection practices . . .
and to promote consistent State action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses.” 15
U.S.C. § 1692.

26.  The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors from using “any false, deceptive, or
misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt,” which
includes the false representation of “the character, amount, or legal status of any debt.” Id. §
1692e.

27.  The FDCPA also prohibits debt collectors from “unfair or unconscionable means
to collect or attempt to collect any debt,” including “the collection of any amount unless such
amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law.” Id. §
1692f.

28.  The FDCPA creates a private right of action under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k.

29.  The FDCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” Id. § 1692a(3).

30. The FDCPA defines “debt collector” as “any person who uses . . . any business
the principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts, or who regularly collects or
attempts to collect . . . debt owed . . . or asserted to be owed or due another.” Id. § 1692a(6).

31.  The FDCPA defines communication as “conveying of information regarding a

debt directly or indirectly to any person through any medium.” Id. § 1692a(2).
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32.  The FDCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer
to pay money arising out of a transaction . . . [that] are primarily for personal, family, or
household purposes.” Id. § 1692a(5).

FCCPA

33.  The FCCPA prohibits debt collectors from engaging in certain abusive practices
in the collection of consumer debts. See generally Fla. Stat. § 559.72.

34.  The FCCPA’s goal is to “provide the consumer with the most protection
possible.” LeBlanc v. Unifund CCR Partners, 601 F.3d 1185, 1192 (11th Cir. 2010) (citing Fla.
Stat. § 559.552).

35.  Specifically, the FCCPA states that no person shall “claim, attempt, or threaten to
enforce a debt when such person knows that the debt is not legitimate, or assert the existence of
some other legal right when such person knows that the right does not exist.” Fla. Stat. §
559.72(9).

36. The FCCPA creates a private right of action under Fla. Stat. § 559.77.

37.  The FCCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” Id. § 559.55(8).

38.  The FCCPA mandates that “no person” shall engage in certain practices in
collecting consumer debt. Id. § 559.72. This language includes all allegedly unlawful attempts at
collecting consumer claims. Williams v. Streeps Music Co., 333 So. 2d 65, 67 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.
1976).

39.  The FCCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer

to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance, or services
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which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household
purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment.” Id. § 559.55(6).
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

40.  On or around May 28, 2004, Ms. Cedre purchased a home in Lake Mary, Florida
through a loan from Coldwell Banker Mortgage, secured by a mortgage on the property. Copies
of Plaintiff’s Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note are attached as Exhibit “A” and Exhibit
“B” respectively.

41.  Onor about April 24, 2008, Coldwell Banker Mortgage assigned Ms. Cedre’s
Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

42, On or around December 1, 2010, Ms. Cedre defaulted on her loan after previously
making continuous payments.

43.  On or around December 15, 2014, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. assigned Ms.
Cedre’s Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to Federal National Mortgage Association. See
Exhibit “C.”

44.  Sometime in or around April 2016, Federal National Mortgage Association
assigned the Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to Wilmington Savings Fund Society as
trustee for Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust. See Exhibit “D.”

45.  Effective May, 1, 2016, Seterus, Inc. assigned its rights as the servicer of Ms.
Cedre’s loan to Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC. See Exhibit “E.”

46. Therefore, Rushmore became the servicer of the loan, and Carlsbad, through
Wilmington, became the owner of Ms. Cedre’s loan, while Ms. Cedre’s loan was already in

default.

Page 8 of 24



Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM Document 1-12 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 11 of 27

47.  On or about November 18, 2015, Albertelli Law, on behalf of Federal National
Mortgage Association and Seterus, filed a complaint in the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit for
Seminole County to initiate foreclosure with the court.

48.  Plaintiff hired Smothers Law Firm (“Smothers”) to defend her in the foreclosure.

49, On or about May 24, 2016, Rushmore, on behalf of Carlsbad and Wilmington,
sent a “Notice of Assignment, Sale or Transfer of Servicing” letter to Ms. Cedre through
Smothers. See Exhibit “D.”

'50.  The letter advised:
Pursuant to the Federal Fair Debt Collections Practices Act, if you do not
notify us within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the

validity of this debt or any portion thereof, we will assume the debt is
valid.

If you notify us in writing within 30 days that the debt or any portion
thereof is disputed, or if you request the name and address of the original
creditor, we will obtain verification of the debt or judgment against you
and mail a copy to you and provide you with the name and address of the
original creditor.

You should consider this letter as coming from a Debt Collector as we
sometimes act as a Debt Collector and any information received will be
used for that purpose. However, if you are in Bankruptcy or received a
Bankruptcy Discharge of this debt, this letter is not an attempt to collect a
debt and does not constitute a notice of personal liability with respect to
the debt.

.

51.  The letter identified the current creditor as Wilmington Savings Fund Society

(“Wilmington”) as trustee for Carlsbad and provided an itemization of the total amount due and

owing on the mortgage as $153.796.65. Id.
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52.  The total amount included a “Summary of Total Debt Composition” breakdown
that included the current principal balance of $105,883.13; current unpaid accrued interest of
$35,191.85; late charges of $156.56; and “Other Charges” of 12,565.11. Id.

53.  Because Rushmore provided no explanation or itemization concerning the
$12,565.11 in “Other Charges,” Smothers sent a written request for information to Rushmore in
a letter dated June 6, 2016, asking for a specific breakdown of charges. See Exhibit “F.”

54.  Onor about June 13, 2016, Rushmore responded and confirmed it received
Smothers’ written request and advised it would respond within (30) days. See Exhibit “G.”

55. On or about June 16, 2016, Albertelli Law, on behalf of Rushmore and Carlsbad,
sent Smothers a “Reinstatement Letter,” to be received on behalf of Ms. Cedre. See Exhibit “H.”

56. Immediately below the heading, the letter advised:

WE MAY BE CONSIDERED A DEBT COLLECTOR. THIS IS AN

ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT. ANY INFORMATION WILL BE

USED FOR THAT PURPOSE.

Id. (emphasis in original).

57.  The letter stated: “This letter responds to your request for a Reinstatement of the
above referenced loan. As of the date of this letter the amount required to cure your delinquency
is $66,464.21**.” Id.

58.  The letter advised that if Ms. Cedre was not prepared to pay the full reinstatement
amount that day, “then the amount owed may increase between the date of this letter and the date
you reinstate the loan ... because of additional interest and late charges as well as legal fees and
costs that are incurred as additional steps in the foreclosure proceed.” Id.

59.  In the letter, the total amount Defendants required Ms. Cedre to pay to reinstate

her loan was $66,464.21. Id.
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60.  This amount included $3,100 for an “Estimate” of “Outstanding Attorney Fees
and Costs.”

61.  These “estimated” amounts were based on projected amounts due in the event
Plaintiff did not actually pay before a certain future date and certain events relating to
foreclosure occurred.

62.  This amount also included other ambiguous amounts that appeared to be estimates
and not actually incurred, including an “Acquired Corporate Advance” charge of $7,548.30 and a
“Dismissal Prep Fee” of $125.00. Id.

63.  The total amount due also included a charge of $100.00 for “Reinstatement letter
good through 6.20.16.” Id.

64.  Nowhere in either letter do Defendants state that they will return any of the
estimated amounts if paid by Ms. Cedre but not incurred by Rushmore, Albertelli Law,
Wilmington, or Carlsbad.

65.  Defendants also failed to provide any information or explanation concerning the
$7,548.30 charge ambiguously labeled “Acquired Corporate Advance.”

66.  Rushmore, as the loan servicer, acted as a debt collector by attempting to collect
amounts on behalf of the principal, Carlsbad through its trustee, Wilmington.

67.  Albertelli Law acted as a third party debt collector for Rushmore by attempting to
collect amounts on behalf of Rushmore and Rushmore’s principal, Carlsbad through its trustee,
Wilmington.

68.  Defendants knew that they were not permitted by law to charge or even attempt to
collect estimated fees, but they nonetheless demanded Ms. Cedre and the putative classes pay

estimated fees to reinstate their loans. Rushmore is a sophisticated mortgage loan servicer,
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Albertelli Law is a sophisticated law firm specializing in the mortgage and loan industry, and
Carlsbad and Wilmington are sophisticated lenders. In a highly publicized and remarkably
similar case issued by the Eleventh Circuit over half of a year prior to the date of Defendants’
reinstatement of loan letter at issue, the Eleventh Circuit reversed the district court’s grant of
summary judgment on the FDCPA and FCCPA claims, opining, among other things, that the
defendants were not permitted to charge “estimated” fees that had not yet incurred in their
reinstatement of loan letter. See Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-10038, 2015 WL 7769235, at
*2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015) (“[The defendants] violated the FDCPA and FCCPA by charging
[the plaintiffs] estimated attorney’s fees that they had not agreed to pay in the security
agreement.”). Defendants’ reinstatement letter to Plaintiff contains even worse facts than in
Prescott.

69.  Over those six months, the media and trade publications consistently warned the
industry against including estimated fees in reinstatement of loan letters, particularly those in the
Eleventh Circuit where the Prescott case is binding precedent. Some of those industry warnings
are attached as Exhibit I and include:

a. 11" Circuit Finds Lender Violated FDCPA And Florida Law, Reverses Ruling,
Lexis Legal News (Dec. 7, 2015) (“The appeals court found that Seterus violated
the FDCPA and the FCCPA by charging Prescott estimated attorney fees and
refused to affirm the District Court’s decision.”).

b. Eleventh Circuit Issues Stern Warning Against Inclusion of Estimated Fees and
Costs in Reinstatement Quotes, USFN (Jan. 4, 2016) (“The Prescott decision
should cause any lender, loan servicer, or law firm that provides reinstatement
quotes and/or figures to borrowers to examine its practices and procedures in
order to determine whether or not information being provided to borrowers in
reinstatement situations could potentially constitute a FDCPA violation (or a
violation of state consumer protection law, such as the FCCPA). The Eleventh

Circuit has sent a clear message to the financial services industry . . . .”).

c. Recent Eleventh Circuit Reversal Sparks Upward Trend in Estimated-Fee FDCPA
Litigation, Lenderlaw Watch (Feb. 9, 2016) (“Concluding that the payoff quote
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70.

was a demand for payment, [the Eleventh Circuit] held that the inclusion of fees
that had not yet been incurred (even if expressly designated as such) was a
demand for compensation not permitted by the plaintiff’s mortgage agreement. . .
. [L]oan servicers should consider the impact of Prescott on their communications
with borrowers.”).

. News Alert: FDCPA Violations for Estimated Fees and Costs in Reinstatement

and Payoff Quotes, Potestivo & Associates (April 15, 2016) (“The recent
Appellate Court decision in Prescott, v. Sterus, Inc. . . . has gained nationwide
notice. Although the decision is only binding on the Eleventh Circuit, it has
opened the door and neatly laid the ground work for other jurisdictions to give
similar rulings in the future. Consequently, it is important for servicers and
attorneys to be informed and proactive regarding their decisions when it comes to
estimated fees and costs in reinstatement and payoff quotes.”).

e. A Violation of the FDCPA — Estimating Attorney's Fees in Reinstatement Figures,

Legal League 100 Quarterly (Q2 2016) (“The federal courts have recently held
that lenders may only charge for fees and expenses already incurred.”).

Yet Defendants ignored industry warnings and demanded payment not owed in

violation of federal law.

71.

Additionally, these demands were a direct breach of each of the following

contractual provisions permitting only recovery of amounts actually incurred: (1) Paragraph 9 of

the Mortgage Agreement permitted Defendants to recover “amounts disbursed” in protecting

Carlsbad’s and Wilmington’s interest and rights in the Mortgage Agreement; (2) Paragraph 14 of

the Mortgage Agreement prohibited Defendants from charging estimated fees, stating “[1]ender

may not charge fees that are expressly prohibited in this Security Instrument or by Applicable

Law”; (3) Paragraph 22 of the Mortgage Agreement permitted Defendants to collect “expenses

incurred in pursuing” certain actions under the Paragraph which governed default, notice of

default, actions to cure default, and reinstatement of loans; and (4) Paragraph 7 of the Mortgage

Note permitted Defendants the “right to be paid back . . . for all of its costs and expenses in

enforcing” the Note, which included “reasonable attorneys’ fees.”
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72.  Therefore, Carlsbad, and its agents, also knew demanding payment of fees not yet
incurred was not permitted because it violated Carlsbad’s very mortgage agreement and note.

73.  Additionally, the CFPB has received over 600 complaints concerning Rushmore’s
improper loan servicing practices, many involving similar complaints regarding requests for debt

not actually owed. https://data.consumerfinance.gov/dataset/Consumer-Complaints/s6ew-h6mp.

Rushmore’s knowledge can be imputed to Carlsbad through agency theory. See, e.g., Compass
Bank v. Tania Lynn Vanpelt, No. CA10-1624 (Fla. Cir. Ct. April 2, 2015) (finding knowledge
under the FCCPA could be imputed from agents to the owner of the mortgage note and holder
through principles of agency).

74. By charging estimated fees tacked on to the reinstatement amount, and failing to
provide information in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, Defendants frustrated Ms.
Cedre’s ability to reinstate her loan and caused her to incur further attorney’s fees and costs in
connection with defending the foreclosure action and responding to the inaccurate and unclear
information.

75.  Additionally, Rushmore violated RESPA by charging a $100.00 fee to respond to
a written request for information.

76.  Upon information and belief, Rushmore, Albertelli Law, and
Carlsbad/Wilmington have a pattern and practice of using these form letters containing the
illegal fees complained of in this Complaint.

77. Onorabout: =

_ the Plaintiff, through counsel, sent a cure letter to

Rushmore, Albertelli Law, and Carlsbad. See the letter attached as Exhibit “J.”
78.  After a reasonable amount of time, Plaintiff filed this lawsuit because Rushmore

failed to cure its violations of state and federal law.

Page 14 of 24



Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM Document 1-12 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 17 of 27

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
Florida Class 1
79.  Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by Rushmore’s RESPA
violations ( the “Florida Class 1”), subject to modification after discovery and case development:
All Florida residents to whom Rushmore responded to a written request
for information that included inaccurate, unclear or inconspicuous fees,
including but not limited to “Acquired Corporate Advance,” “Dismissal
Prep Fee,” “Other Charges,” or any fee or cost labelled “Estimate,” during
the applicable statute of limitations.
Florida Class 2
80.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by the
Defendants’ FCCPA violations (“Florida Class 3”), subject to modification after discovery and
case development:
All Florida residents to whom Defendants charged, collected, or attempted
to collect an “Estimate” reinstatement of loan amount during the

applicable statute of limitations.

Florida Class3

81.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by
Defendants’ FDCPA violations (“Florida Class 4”), subject to modification after discovery and
case development:

All persons in Florida to whom Defendants, charged, collected, or

attempted to collect estimated reinstatement of loan amounts during the
applicable statute of limitations.
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82.  Class members are identifiable through Defendants’ records and payment
databases.

83.  Excluded from the Class are Defendants; any entities in which it has a controlling
interest; its agents and employees; and any Judge to whom this action is assigned and any
member of such Judge’s staff and immediate family.

84.  Plaintiff proposes that she serve as class representative for the Class.

85.  Plaintiff and the Class have all been harmed by the actions of Defendants

86.  Numerosity is satisfied. There are likely thousands of class members. Individual
joinder of these persons is impracticable.

87.  There are questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and to the Class,
including, but not limited to:

a. Whether Rushmore violated RESPA by failing to provide accurate, clear, and
conspicuous information in response to a written request for information;

b. Whether Rushmore violated RESPA by charging, collecting, or attempting to
collect a fee for responding to a written request for information;

c. Whether Defendants violated the FCCPA by charging monies not due;

d. Whether Defendants violated the FDCPA by charging monies not due;

e. Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to actual or statutory damages as
a result of Defendants’ actions;

f. Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to attorney’s fees and costs; and

g. Whether Defendants should be enjoined from engaging in such conduct in the
future.

89.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Classes.
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90.  Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Classes because her interests do not
conflict with the interests of the Classes, she will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the
Classes, and she is represented by counsel skilled and experienced in class actions.

91.  Common questions of law and fact predominate over questions affecting only
individual class members, and a class action is the superior method for fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy.

92.  The prosecution of separate claims by individual class members would create a
risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications concerning individual class members.

COUNT I AS TO RUSHMORE'’S VIOLATION OF THE
REAL ESTATE SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES ACT 12 U.S.C. § 2605(k)
(Florida Class 1)

93.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the prior paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

94.  Rushmore is a “servicer” because it was responsible for “servicing” Plaintiff’s
mortgage loan and was scheduled to receive periodic payments from Plaintiff pursuant to the
terms of her mortgage loan and make payments of principal and interest from those amounts
under the terms of the loan. 12 U.S.C. § 2605(1)(2)—(3).

95.  Plaintiff’s loan is a “federally related mortgage loan” because it is secﬁred by a
first or subordinate lien, a residential real property designed for the occupancy of one to four
families, and was made in whole or in part by Codwell Banker Mortgage, then JPMorgan Chase
Bank, then Federal National Mortgage Association, and now Wilmington Savings Fund Society
as trustee for Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust—lenders with deposits or accounts which were
insured by the FDIC.

96.  As aservicer of a federally related mortgage loan, Rushmore must comply with

any regulation implementing the provisions of RESPA. See 12 U.S.C. § 2605(k)(1)(E).
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97.  Rushmore is required to maintain policies and procedures that are reasonably
designed to ensure that it can “[p]rovide accurate and timely disclosures to a borrower as
required by this subpart or other applicable law” and “[p]Jrovide a borrower with accurate and
timely information and documents in response to the borrower's requests for information with
respect to the borrower's mortgage loan.” 12 CFR 1024.38(a)(b)(1)(i),(iii)

98. On June 6, 2016, Ms. Cedre, through counsel, sent a written “request for
information” to Rushmore concerning her mortgage loan and the amount necessary for
reinstatement of her loan. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36.

99.  Rushmore responded to Plaintiff’s written request with information that contained
“Estimates,” “Acquired Corporate Advance” fees, and “Other Fees” without identifying why and
for what services the fees were charged. See 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(d)(1)(i); see 12 C.F.R.
1024.38(a)(b)(1)(1),(iii).

100.  Rushmore violated § 2605(k)(1)(E) when it failed to provide information to
Plaintiff in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, by charging fees not yet incurred and
demanding Plaintiff pay these fees to reinstate her loan. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.32(a)(1); 12 U.S.C. §
2605(k)(1)(E). Rushmore has a pattern and practice of using form letters, like the letter at issue,
that contain these inaccurate, unclear, and inconspicuous responses.

101.  Rushmore’s violation of RESPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving her of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning her mortgage loan.
Additionally, Plaintiff incurred attorney’s fees and costs in having to follow up on Rushmore’s

letter, which contained unclear, inaccurate, and inconspicuous information.

COUNT II AS TO DEFENDANTS’ VIOLATION OF

THE FLORIDA CONSUMER COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT § 559.72(9)
(Florida Class 2)
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102.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the prior paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

103.  Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(8) when she purchased
her home by mortgage.

104.  Rushmore, Albertelli Law, and Carlsbad are “persons” as defined under the
FCCPA.

105. Defendants attempted to enforce, claimed, and asserted a known non-existent
legal right to a debt as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(6) when Albertelli Law, on behalf of
Rushmore and Carlsbad, attempted to collect fees not owed. Id. § 559.72(9).

106. Rushmore, as a sophisticated defendant mortgage loan servicer regularly engaged
in the mortgage loan servicing industry, knew it could only charge fees actually incurred, and not
“estimated” fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-10038, 2015
WL 7769235, at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the issue more than
six months prior to the date Rushmore, through Albertelli Law, sent the reinstatement of loan
letter to Ms. Cedre. The language and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letter was
even more egregious than in Prescott.

107. Rushmore also knew it could only charge fees incurred because, following the
Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued voluminous warnings against using
“estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters, especially in the Eleventh Circuit.
See, e.g., Exhibit 1.

108. Rushmore was also put on notice of its requirements to only charge fees incurred
through the many complaints to the CFPB by consumers that Rushmore charged fees not owed,

discussed supra.
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109.  Albertelli Law, as a sophisticated defendant law firm regularly engaged in the
mortgage loan industry, knew it could only charge fees actually incurred, and not “estimated”
fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-10038, 2015 WL 7769235,
at ¥2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the issue more than six months
prior to the date Albertelli Law sent the reinstatement of loan letter to Ms. Cedre. The language
and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letter was even more egregious than in Prescott.

110.  Albertelli Law also knew it could only charge fees incurred because, following
the Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued voluminous warnings against
using “estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters, especially in the Eleventh
Circuit. See, e.g., Exhibit I. Albertelli Law is primarily based in Florida.

111.  Carlsbad, through its trustee Wilmington, as a sophisticated mortgage lender
regularly engaged in the mortgage loan industry, knew it could only charge fees actually
incurred, and not “estimated” fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No.
15-10038, 2015 WL 7769235, at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the
issue more than six months prior to the date Albertelli Law sent the reinstatement of loan letter to
Ms. Cedre. The language and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letters are even more
egregious than in Prescott.

112.  Carlsbad, through its trustee Wilmington, also knew it could only charge fees
incurred because, following the Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued
voluminous warnings against using “estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters,
especially in the Eleventh Circuit. See, e.g., Exhibit I.

113.  Rushmore’s and Albertelli Law’s knowledge can also be imputed to Carlsbad

through principles of agency. See, e.g., Compass Bank v. Tania Lynn Vanpelt, No. CA10-1624
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(Fla. Cir. Ct. April 2, 2015) (finding knowledge under the FCCPA could be imputed from agents
to the owner of the mortgage note and holder through principles of agency).

114. By charging estimated fees tacked on to the reinstatement amount, and failing to
provide information in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, Defendants frustrated Ms.
Cedre’s ability to reinstate her loan and caused her to incur further attorney’s fees and costs in
connection with defending the foreclosure action an<\i responding to the inaccurate and unclear
information. She also suffered the imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount not owed.

COUNT III AS TO DEFENDANTS’ VIOLATION OF
THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT §§ 1692¢, 1692f
(Florida Class 3)

115.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the prior paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

116. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) when she purchased
a home in Florida by mortgage.

117.  Defendants are “debt collectors” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) because
they regularly attempt to collect, and collect, amounts owed or asserted to be owed or due
another. Rushmore’s May 24, 2016 letter on behalf of Carlsbad to Ms. Cedre stated: “You should
consider this letter as coming from a Debt Collector . . . and any information received will be
used for that purpose.” Albertelli Law’s June 16, 2016 letter on behalf of Rushmore and
Carlsbad to Ms. Cedre stated: “We may be considered a debt collector. This is an attempt to
collect a debt. Any information will be used for that purpose.”

118. The mortgage loan exception to the definition of “debt collector” does not apply
because Plaintiff defaulted on her loan on or around December 1, 2010 and the loan was
assigned to Wilmington as trustee for Carlsbad sometime in or around April 2016, and because

the servicing rights to Ms. Cedre’s loan was assigned to Rushmore, effective May 1, 2016.
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119.  Defendants engaged in “communications” with Plaintiff as defined by 15U.S.C. §
1692a(2) when they sent the May 24, 2016 and June 16, 2016 debt collection letter to Plaintiff
demanding money purportedly due for reinstatement of her loan to avoid foreclosure.

120.  Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692f when they charged estimated fees not
owed and not expressly authorized by thé agreement creating the debt.

121.  Rushmore’s violation of the FDCPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving her of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning her mortgage loan.
Additionally, Plaintiff incurred attorney’s fees, costs, and other incidental costs, in having to
follow up on Rushmore’s letter, which contained unclear, inaccurate, and inconspicuous
information. She also suffered the imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount.

JURY DEMAND AND RESERVATION OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES

122.  Plaintiff is entitled to and respectfully demands a trial by jury on all issues so
triable.
123.  Plaintiff reserves the right to amend his Complaint and add a claim for punitive

damages.

RELIEF REQUESTED
WHEREFORE. Plaintiff, himself and on behalf of the Classes, respectfully requests this

Court to enter judgment against Defendants for all of the following;:

a. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded actual damages, including but not
limited to forgiveness of all amounts not owed;
b. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded statutory damages;

c. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded costs and attorney’s fees;

Page 22 of 24



Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM Document 1-12 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 25 of 27

i.

That the Court enter a judgment permanently enjoining Defendants from charging
and/or collecting debt in violation of the FDCPA, FCCPA, and RESPA;

That, should the Court permit Defendants to continue charging and/or collecting
debt, it enter a judgment requiring them to adopt measures to ensure FDCPA,
RESPA, and FCCPA compliance, and that the Court retain jurisdiction for a
period of six months to ensure that Defendants comply with those measures;
That the Court enter a judgment awarding any other injunctive relief necessary to
ensure Defendants’ compliance with the FDCPA, RESPA, and the FCCPA;

That the Court enter an order that Defendants and their agents, or anyone acting
on their behalf, are immediately restrained from altering, deleting or destroying
any documents or records that could be used to identify class members;

That the Court certify Plaintiff’s claims and all other persons similarly situated as
class action claims under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure; and

Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: August _ , 2016 Respectfully Submitted,

s/ James L. Kauffman

James L. Kauffman (Fla. Bar. No. 12915)
1054 31st Street, Suite 230

Washington, DC 20007

Telephone: (202) 463-2101

Facsimile: (202) 342-2103

Email: jkauffman@baileyglasser.com

Darren R. Newhart, Esq.
Florida Bar No.: 0115546
E-mail: darren@cloorg.com
J. Dennis Card Jr., Esq
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Florida Bar No.: 0487473
E-mail:DCard@Consumerlaworg.com
Consumer Law Organization, P.A.

721 US Highway 1, Suite 201

North Palm Beach, Florida 33408
Telephone: (561) 692-6013

Facsimile: (305) 574-0132

Counsel for Plaintiff and the Putative Class
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1 Smothers

LAW FIRM, P.A.

August 29, 2016
Via U.S. Certified Mail — 7015 1520 0002 9644 5285
Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC

P.O. Box 55004
Irvine, CA 92618

Re:  Marie Cedre
113 Heron Bay Cir
Lake Mary, Florida 32746-3476

To Whom It May Concern:
My law fitm represents Marie Cedte. As stated in the enclosed Complaint, Rushmore
Loan Management Setvices LLC has breached its contractual obligations and Florida law in its

handling of my client’s and other botrowers’ loans in the putative Class.

Should you wish to make a cure offer, please contact me within twenty (20) days upon receipt of
this letter.

Feel free to contact me at the below telephone number if you wish to discuss this matter.

Sincerely,

L St

Scott A. Smothets

scott@smothetslawfirm.com

SAS.smh
Enclosure as stated

175 East Main Street, Suite 111 ® Apopka, FL 32703 ¢ 407.814.3900 ® Fax 407.331.9621
www.SmothersLawFirm.com
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
MIAMI DIVISION

MARIE CEDRE, on behalf of Case No.:
herself and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,
V.

RUSHMORE LOAN MANAGEMENT
SERVICES LLC, JAMES E. ALBERTELLI, P.A.
d/b/a ALAW, and CARLSBAD FUNDING

MORTGAGE TRUST,
Defendants.
/
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Marie Cedre, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, alleges
violations of the Florida Consumer Collection Practices Act § 559.55 et seq. (“FCCPA”) and the
Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 15 U.S.C. 1692 et seq. (“FDCPA”) against Defendants James
E. Albertelli, P.A. (“Albertelli Law”), Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC
(“Rushmore”), and Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust (“Carlsbad”) (collectively “Defendants™).
Plaintiff and the putative class also allege violations of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures
Act, 12 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq. (“RESPA”) solely against Rushmore.

1. Rushmore is a mortgage loan servicer. Rushmore and Albertelli Law both charge
and collect mortgage loans and fees for third party lenders, like Carlsbad. Defendants charged
Plaintiff over $3,000 for mortgage fees and costs “Estimates™ necessary to reinstate her loan to
avoid foreclosure. “Estimated” fees are fees companies expect to incur in the event that certain

conditions occur, but have not actually incurred. The Eleventh Circuit has denounced
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“estimated” fees associated with reinstatement of loans to be a violation of the FCCPA and
FDCPA.

2. Hundreds of thousands of homes are in some stage of foreclosure in the United
States every month. http://www.corelogic.com/research/foreclosure-report/national-foreclosure-
report-january-2015.pdf. Most homeowners facing foreclosure are desperate to keep their homes
and are willing to do close to anything to continue living in them with their families. Defendants
exploit their desperation by placing them in danger of foreclosure if homeowners do not pay all
of the fees that Defendants demand—including fabricated debt characterized as “estimated” fees
and costs.

3. Defendants factor these estimated fees and costs into its total demand to
homeowners and insists they are required to pay the full amount before they will reinstate the
loans to avoid foreclosure.

4, Rushmore and Albertelli Law profit from these illegal charges because their
compensation is based on the outstanding amount owed on the mortgage loan, and the longer it
remains in default, the more they profit.

5. Defendants also conceal the true nature of the amount owed, by including
ambiguous fees and costs in the amount homeowners must pay to reinstate their loan. They even
appear to charge borrowers $100 for merely asking how much they owe.

6. These practices enrich Defendants at the expense of homeowners struggling to
stay current on their mortgages, and by demanding payment of these fees, Defendants force
homeowners into foreclosure and in some instances cause them to lose their homes.

7. By the conduct described above, Defendants knowingly violated RESPA,

FDCPA, and the FCCPA.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this
action arises out of RESPA and the FDCPA, federal statutes.

9. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the FCCPA claims under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1367 because the basis of the RESPA and FDCPA federal claims involve the same debt
collection practices that form the basis of the FCCPA claims.

10.  The Court has personal jurisdiction because Defendants conduct business
throughout the United States, including Miami, Florida. Further, their voluntary contact with
Plaintiff to charge and collect debts in Florida made it foreseeable that Defendants would be
haled into a Florida court. See Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 474 (1985).

11.  Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)-(c) because
Defendants are deemed to reside in any judicial district in which it is subject to personal
jurisdiction at the time the action is commenced and because their contacts with this District are
sufficient to subject them to personal jurisdiction.

PARTIES

12.  Plaintiff Marie Cedre is a natural person who currently resides in Florida.

13.  Defendant Rushmore is a foreign limited liability company with its principal
place of business at 15480 Laguna Canyon Road, Suite 100, Irvine CA 92618. Rushmore is one
of the nation’s leading specialty loan servicing companies for mortgage lenders, like
Wilmington, not individually but as trustee for Carlsbad.

14. Defendant James E. Albertelli, P.A. is a professional association with a principal
place of business at 208 North Laura Street, Suite 900, Jacksonville, Florida 32202 and is

headquartered at 5404 Cypress Center Dr., Suite 300, Tampa, Florida 33609. 1t is a full service
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real estate law firm representing the mortgage industry. Albertelli acts as a third party debt
collector for financial institutions and servicers, like Carlsbad and Rushmore.

15, Defendant Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust is a trust that acts as a mortgage
lender for homeowners, like Ms. Cedre. Wilmington Savings Fund Society, d/b/a Christiana
Trust is the current owner of Plaintiff’s mortgage loan, not individually but as trustee for
Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust. Carlsbad has a registered address of ¢c/o Wilmington Saving
Fund Society, 500 Delaware Avenue, 11" Floor, Wilmington, Delaware 19801.

APPLICABLE LAW
RESPA

16.  RESPA imposes certain obligations on mortgage servicers to provide information
to borrowers regarding their mortgage loans. 12 U.S.C. § 2605. In 2013, the CFPB enacted new
regulations implementing specific provisions under RESPA and the Dodd-Frank Act concerning
mortgage loan servicers including, but not limited to, certain requirements for responding to a
written request for information concerning a borrower’s mortgage loan. See 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36
et seq.; Public Law 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376 (2010).

17.  RESPA provides a private cause of action against a mortgage servicer for
violations of the provisions of § 2605, if brought within three (3) years of the violation. 12
U.S.C. § 2614.

18.  RESPA defines “servicer” as the “person responsible for servicing of a loan
(including the person who makes or holds a loan if such person also services the loan).” 12
U.S.C. § 26053()(3).

19.  RESPA defines “servicing” as “receiving any scheduled periodic payments from a

borrower pursuant to the terms of any loan, including amounts for escrow accounts described in
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section 2609 of this title, and making the payments of principal and interest and such other
payments with respect to the amounts received from the borrower as may be required pursuant to
the terms of the loan.” 12 U.S.C. § 2605(i)(3).

20.  Pursuant to RESPA, a servicer of a federally related mortgage loan “shall not ...
fail to comply with any other obligation found by the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection,
by regulation, to be appropriate to carry out the consumer protection purposes of this chapter.”
12 U.S.C. § 2605(k)(1)(E).

21.  RESPA’s mortgage servicing regulations require a servicer to provide borrowers
with required disclosures that are in writing and “clear and conspicuous.” 12 C.F.R. §
1024.32(a)(1).

22.  RESPA also requires a servicer to maintain policies and procedures that are
reasonable designed to ensure that the servicer can provide a borrower with “accurate and timely
disclosures . . . as required by this subpart or other applicable law” and “[p]Jrovide a borrower
with accurate and timely information and documents in response to the borrower's requests for
information with respect to the borrower's mortgage loan.” 12 C.F.R. 1024.38(a)(b)(1)(i),(iii).

23.  Additionally, RESPA provides that “a servicer shall not charge a fee, or require a
borrower to make any payment that may be owed on a borrower's account, as a condition of
responding to an information request.” 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(g).

24.  RESPA and its implementing regulations should be broadly construed to
effectuate their remedial purpose. Friedman v. Maspeth Federal Loan and Sav. Ass’n, 30 F.
Supp. 3d 183, 187 (E.D.N.Y. 2014) (“The Act was designed to throw the federal judiciary’s
protective cloak over residential-occupant owners of real property and their kin to protect against

abuse by banks during loan closings and subsequent related events. The Act should be broadly
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applied to accomplish its prophylactic purposes by exercising federal subject matter
jurisdiction.”).
FDCPA

25.  The purpose of the FDCPA is “to eliminate abusive debt collection practices . . .
and to promote consistent State action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses.” 15
U.S.C. § 1692.

26.  The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors from using “any false, deceptive, or
misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt,” which
includes the false representation of “the character, amount, or legal status of any debt.” Id. §
1692e.

27.  The FDCPA also prohibits debt collectors from “unfair or unconscionable means
to collect or attempt to collect any debt,” including “the collection of any amount unless such
amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law.” Id. §
1692f.

28.  The FDCPA creates a private right of action under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k.

29.  The FDCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” Id. § 1692a(3).

30.  The FDCPA defines “debt collector” as “any person who uses . . . any business
the principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts, or who regularly collects or
attempts to collect . . . debt owed . . . or asserted to be owed or due another.” Id. § 1692a(6).

31. The FDCPA defines communication as “conveying of information regarding a

debt directly or indirectly to any person through any medium.” Id. § 1692a(2).

Page 6 of 24



Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM Document 1-13 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 9 of 27

32.  The FDCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer
to pay money arising out of a transaction . . . [that] are primarily for personal, family, or
household purposes.” Id. § 1692a(5).

FCCPA

33.  The FCCPA prohibits debt collectors from engaging in certain abusive practices
in the collection of consumer debts. See generally Fla. Stat. § 559.72.

34.  The FCCPA'’s goal is to “provide the consumer with the most protection
possible.” LeBlanc v. Unifund CCR Partners, 601 F.3d 1185, 1192 (11th Cir. 2010) (citing Fla.
Stat. § 559.552).

35.  Specifically, the FCCPA states that no person shall “claim, attempt, or threaten to
enforce a debt when such person knows that the debt is not legitimate, or assert the existence of
some other legal right when such person knows that the right does not exist.” Fla. Stat. §
559.72(9).

36.  The FCCPA creates a private right of action under Fla. Stat. § 559.77.

37.  The FCCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” Id. § 559.55(8).

38.  The FCCPA mandates that “no person” shall engage in certain practices in
collecting consumer debt. Id. § 559.72. This language includes all allegedly unlawful attempts at
collecting consumer claims. Williams v. Streeps Music Co., 333 So. 2d 65, 67 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.
1976).

39.  The FCCPA defines “debt” as “any obligation or alleged obligation of a consumer

to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance, or services

Page 7 of 24



Case 1:16-cv-25234-FAM Document 1-13 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/16/2016 Page 10 of 27

which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household
purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgment.” Id. § 559.55(6).
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

40.  On or around May 28, 2004, Ms. Cedre purchased a home in Lake Mary, Florida
through a loan from Coldwell Banker Mortgage, secured by a mortgage on the property. Copies
of Plaintiff’s Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note are attached as Exhibit “A” and Exhibit
“B” respectively.

41.  Onor about April 24, 2008, Coldwell Banker Mortgage assigned Ms. Cedre’s
Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

42.  Onor around December 1, 2010, Ms. Cedre defaulted on her loan after previously
making continuous payments.

43.  Onor around December 15, 2014, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. assigned Ms.
Cedre’s Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to Federal National Mortgage Association. See
Exhibit “C.”

44.  Sometime in or around April 2016, Federal National Mortgage Association
assigned the Mortgage Agreement and Mortgage Note to Wilmington Savings Fund Society as
trustee for Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust. See Exhibit “D.”

45. Effective May, 1, 2016, Seterus, Inc. assigned its rights as the servicer of Ms.
Cedre’s loan to Rushmore Loan Management Services LLC. See Exhibit “E.”

46. Therefore, Rushmore became the servicer of the loan, and Carlsbad, through
Wilmington, became the owner of Ms. Cedre’s loan, while Ms. Cedre’s loan was already in

default.
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47. On or about November 18, 2015, Albertelli Law, on behalf of Federal National
Mortgage Association and Seterus, filed a complaint in the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit for

Seminole County to initiate foreclosure with the court.
48.  Plaintiff hired Smothers Law Firm (“Smothers”) to defend her in the foreclosure.
49, On or about May 24, 2016, Rushmore, on behalf of Carlsbad and Wilmington,
sent a “Notice of Assignment, Sale or Transfer of Servicing” letter to Ms. Cedre through
Smothers. See Exhibit “D.”
50.  The letter advised:
Pursuant to the Federal Fair Debt Collections Practices Act, if you do not
notify us within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the
validity of this debt or any portion thereof, we will assume the debt is
valid.
If you notify us in writing within 30 days that the debt or any portion
thereof is disputed, or if you request the name and address of the original
creditor, we will obtain verification of the debt or judgment against you
and mail a copy to you and provide you with the name and address of the
original creditor.
You should consider this letter as coming from a Debt Collector as we
sometimes act as a Debt Collector and any information received will be
used for that purpose. However, if you are in Bankruptcy or received a
Bankruptcy Discharge of this debt, this letter is not an attempt to collect a
debt and does not constitute a notice of personal liability with respect to
the debt.
Id.
51.  The letter identified the current creditor as Wilmington Savings Fund Society

(“Wilmington™) as trustee for Carlsbad and provided an itemization of the total amount due and

owing on the mortgage as $153.796.65. Id.
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52.  The total amount included a “Summary of Total Debt Composition” breakdown
that included the current principal balance of $105,883.13; current unpaid accrued interest of
$35,191.85; late charges of $156.56; and “Other Charges” of 12,565.11. Id.

53.  Because Rushmore provided no explanation or itemization concerning the
$12,565.11 in “Other Charges,” Smothers sent a written request for information to Rushmore in
a letter dated June 6, 2016, asking for a specific breakdown of charges. See Exhibit “F.”

54.  Onor about June 13, 2016, Rushmore responded and confirmed it received
Smothers’ written request and advised it would respond within (30) days. See Exhibit “G.”

55. On or about June 16, 2016, Albertelli Law, on behalf of Rushmore and Carlsbad,
sent Smothers a “Reinstatement Letter,” to be received on behalf of Ms. Cedre. See Exhibit “H.”

56. Immediately below the heading, the letter advised:

WE MAY BE CONSIDERED A DEBT COLLECTOR. THIS IS AN

ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT. ANY INFORMATION WILL BE

USED FOR THAT PURPOSE.

Id. (emphasis in original).

57.  The letter stated: “This letter responds to your request for a Reinstatement of the
above referenced loan. As of the date of this letter the amount required to cure your delinquency
is $66,464.21**.” Id.

58.  The letter advised that if Ms. Cedre was not prepared to pay the full reinstatement
amount that day, “then the amount owed may increase between the date of this letter and the date
you reinstate the loan ... because of additional interest and late charges as well as legal fees and
costs that are incurred as additional steps in the foreclosure proceed.” Id.

59.  Inthe letter, the total amount Defendants required Ms. Cedre to pay to reinstate

her loan was $66,464.21. Id.
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60. This amount included $3,100 for an “Estimate” of “Outstanding Attorney Fees
and Costs.”

61.  These “estimated” amounts were based on projected amounts due in the event
Plaintiff did not actually pay before a certain future date and certain events relating to
foreclosure occurred.

62.  This amount also included other ambiguous amounts that appeared to be estimates
and not actually incurred, including an “Acquired Corporate Advance” charge of $7,548.30 and a
“Dismissal Prep Fee” of $125.00. Id.

63.  The total amount due also included a charge of $100.00 for “Reinstatement letter
good through 6.20.16.” Id.

64.  Nowhere in either letter do Defendants state that they will return any of the
estimated amounts if paid by Ms. Cedre but not incurred by Rushmore, Albertelli Law,
Wilmington, or Carlsbad.

65.  Defendants also failed to provide any information or explanation concerning the
$7,548.30 charge ambiguously labeled “Acquired Corporate Advance.”

66.  Rushmore, as the loan servicer, acted as a debt collector by attempting to collect
amounts on behalf of the principal, Carlsbad through its trustee, Wilmington.

67.  Albertelli Law acted as a third party debt collector for Rushmore by attempting to
collect amounts on behalf of Rushmore and Rushmore’s principal, Carlsbad through its trustee,
Wilmington.

68.  Defendants knew that they were not permitted by law to charge or even attempt to
collect estimated fees, but they nonetheless demanded Ms. Cedre and the putative classes pay

estimated fees to reinstate their loans. Rushmore is a sophisticated mortgage loan servicer,
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Albertelli Law is a sophisticated law firm specializing in the mortgage and loan industry, and
Carlsbad and Wilmington are sophisticated lenders. In a highly publicized and remarkably
similar case issued by the Eleventh Circuit over half of a year prior to the date of Defendants’
reinstatement of loan letter at issue, the Eleventh Circuit reversed the district court’s grant of
summary judgment on the FDCPA and FCCPA claims, opining, among other things, that the
defendants were not permitted to charge “estimated” fees that had not yet incurred in their
reinstatement of loan letter. See Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-10038, 2015 WL 7769235, at
*2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015) (“[The defendants] violated the FDCPA and FCCPA by charging
[the plaintiffs] estimated attorney’s fees that they had not agreed to pay in the security
agreement.”). Defendants’ reinstatement letter to Plaintiff contains even worse facts than in
Prescott.

69.  Over those six months, the media and trade publications consistently warned the
industry against including estimated fees in reinstatement of loan letters, particularly those in the
Eleventh Circuit where the Prescott case is binding precedent. Some of those industry warnings
are attached as Exhibit I and include:

a. 11" Circuit Finds Lender Violated FDCPA And Florida Law, Reverses Ruling,
Lexis Legal News (Dec. 7, 2015) (“The appeals court found that Seterus violated
the FDCPA and the FCCPA by charging Prescott estimated attorney fees and
refused to affirm the District Court’s decision.”).

b. Eleventh Circuit Issues Stern Warning Against Inclusion of Estimated Fees and
Costs in Reinstatement Quotes, USFN (Jan. 4, 2016) (“The Prescott decision
should cause any lender, loan servicer, or law firm that provides reinstatement
quotes and/or figures to borrowers to examine its practices and procedures in
order to determine whether or not information being provided to borrowers in
reinstatement situations could potentially constitute a FDCPA violation (or a
violation of state consumer protection law, such as the FCCPA). The Eleventh

Circuit has sent a clear message to the financial services industry . . ..”).

c. Recent Eleventh Circuit Reversal Sparks Upward Trend in Estimated-Fee FDCPA
Litigation, Lenderlaw Watch (Feb. 9, 2016) (“Concluding that the payoff quote
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was a demand for payment, [the Eleventh Circuit] held that the inclusion of fees
that had not yet been incurred (even if expressly designated as such) was a
demand for compensation not permitted by the plaintiff’s mortgage agreement. . .
. [L]oan servicers should consider the impact of Prescott on their communications
with borrowers.”).

d. News Alert: FDCPA Violations for Estimated Fees and Costs in Reinstatement
and Payoff Quotes, Potestivo & Associates (April 15, 2016) (“The recent
Appellate Court decision in Prescott, v. Sterus, Inc. . . . has gained nationwide
notice. Although the decision is only binding on the Eleventh Circuit, it has
opened the door and neatly laid the ground work for other jurisdictions to give
similar rulings in the future. Consequently, it is important for servicers and
attorneys to be informed and proactive regarding their decisions when it comes to
estimated fees and costs in reinstatement and payoff quotes.”).

€. A Violation of the FDCPA — Estimating Attorneys Fees in Reinstatement Figures,
Legal League 100 Quarterly (Q2 2016) (“The federal courts have recently held
that lenders may only charge for fees and expenses already incurred.”).

70.  Yet Defendants ignored industry warnings and demanded payment not owed in
violation of federal law.

71.  Additionally, these demands were a direct breach of each of the following
contractual provisions permitting only recovery of amounts actually incurred: (1) Paragraph 9 of
the Mortgage Agreement permitted Defendants to recover “amounts disbursed” in protecting
Carlsbad’s and Wilmington’s interest and rights in the Mortgage Agreement; (2) Paragraph 14 of
the Mortgage Agreement prohibited Defendants from charging estimated fees, stating “[1]ender
may not charge fees that are expressly prohibited in this Security Instrument or by Applicable
Law”; (3) Paragraph 22 of the Mortgage Agreement permitted Defendants to collect “expenses
incurred in pursuing” certain actions under the Paragraph which governed default, notice of
default, actions to cure default, and reinstatement of loans; and (4) Paragraph 7 of the Mortgage

Note permitted Defendants the “right to be paid back . . . for all of its costs and expenses in

enforcing” the Note, which included “reasonable attorneys’ fees.”
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72.  Therefore, Carlsbad, and its agents, also knew demanding payment of fees not yet
incurred was not permitted because it violated Carlsbad’s very mortgage agreement and note.

73.  Additionally, the CFPB has received over 600 complaints concerning Rushmore’s
improper loan servicing practices, many involving similar complaints regarding requests for debt

not actually owed. https://data.consumerfinance.gov/dataset/Consumer-Complaints/s6ew-h6mp.

Rushmore’s knowledge can be imputed to Carlsbad through agency theory. See, e.g., Compass
Bank v. Tania Lynn Vanpelt, No. CA10-1624 (Fla. Cir. Ct. April 2, 2015) (finding knowledge
under the FCCPA could be imputed from agents to the owner of the mortgage note and holder
through principles of agency).

74. By charging estimated fees tacked on to the reinstatement amount, and failing to
provide information in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, Defendants frustrated Ms.
Cedre’s ability to reinstate her loan and caused her to incur further attorney’s fees and costs in
connection with defending the foreclosure action and responding to the inaccurate and unclear
information.

75.  Additionally, Rushmore violated RESPA by charging a $100.00 fee to respond to
a written request for information.

76.  Upon information and belief, Rushmore, Albertelli Law, and
Carlsbad/Wilmington have a pattern and practice of using these form letters containing the
illegal fees complained of in this Complaint.

77. Onorabout .~ the Plaintiff, through counsel, sent a cure letter to

Rushmore, Albertelli Law, and Carlsbad. See the letter attached as Exhibit “J.”
78.  After a reasonable amount of time, Plaintiff filed this lawsuit because Rushmore

failed to cure its violations of state and federal law.
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CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

Florida Class 1
79.  Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by Rushmore’s RESPA
violations ( the “Florida Class 17), subject to modification after discovery and case development:
All Florida residents to whom Rushmore responded to a written request
for information that included inaccurate, unclear or inconspicuous fees,
including but not limited to “Acquired Corporate Advance,” “Dismissal
Prep Fee,” “Other Charges,” or any fee or cost labelled “Estimate,” during
the applicable statute of limitations.
Florida Class 2
80.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by the
Defendants’ FCCPA violations (“Florida Class 3”), subject to modification after discovery and
case development:
All Florida residents to whom Defendants charged, collected, or attempted
to collect an “Estimate” reinstatement of loan amount during the
applicable statute of limitations.
Florida Class3
81.  Additionally, Plaintiff brings this action under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the following class of persons aggrieved by
Defendants’ FDCPA violations (“Florida Class 4”), subject to modification after discovery and
case development:
All persons in Florida to whom Defendants, charged, collected, or

attempted to collect estimated reinstatement of loan amounts during the
applicable statute of limitations.
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82.  Class members are identifiable through Defendants’ records and payment
databases.

83.  Excluded from the Class are Defendants; any entities in which it has a controlling
interest; its agents and employees; and any Judge to whom this action is assigned and any
member of such Judge’s staff and immediate family.

84.  Plaintiff proposes that she serve as class representative for the Class.

85.  Plaintiff and the Class have all been harmed by the actions of Defendants

86.  Numerosity is satisfied. There are likely thousands of class members. Individual
joinder of these persons is impracticable.

87. There are questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and to the Class,
including, but not limited to:

a. Whether Rushmore violated RESPA by failing to provide accurate, clear, and
conspicuous information in response to a written request for information;

b. Whether Rushmore violated RESPA by charging, collecting, or attempting to
collect a fee for responding to a written request for information;

c. Whether Defendants violated the FCCPA by charging monies not due;

d. Whether Defendants violated the FDCPA by charging monies not due;

e. Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to actual or statutory damages as
a result of Defendants’ actions;

f. Whether Plaintiff and class members are entitled to attorney’s fees and costs; and

g. Whether Defendants should be enjoined from engaging in such conduct in the
future.

89.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Classes.
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90.  Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Classes because her interests do not
conflict with the interests of the Classes, she will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the
Classes, and she is represented by counsel skilled and experienced in class actions.

91.  Common questions of law and fact predominate over questions affecting only
individual class members, and a class action is the superior method for fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy.

92.  The prosecution of separate claims by individual class members would create a
risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications concerning individual class members.

COUNT 1 AS TO RUSHMORE'’S VIOLATION OF THE
REAL ESTATE SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES ACT 12 U.S.C. § 2605(k)
(Florida Class 1)

93.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the prior paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

94.  Rushmore is a “servicer” because it was responsible for “servicing” Plaintiff’s
mortgage loan and was scheduled to receive periodic payments from Plaintiff pursuant to the
terms of her mortgage loan and make payments of principal and interest from those amounts
under the terms of the loan. 12 U.S.C. § 260531)(2)—(3).

95.  Plaintiff’s loan is a “federally related mortgage loan” because it is secured by a
first or subordinate lien, a residential real property designed for the occupancy of one to four
families, and was made in whole or in part by Codwell Banker Mortgage, then JPMorgan Chase
Bank, then Federal National Mortgage Association, and now Wilmington Savings Fund Society
as trustee for Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust—Ilenders with deposits or accounts which were
insured by the FDIC.

96.  Asaservicer of a federally related mortgage loan, Rushmore must comply with

any regulation implementing the provisions of RESPA. See 12 U.S.C. § 2605(k)(1)(E).
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97.  Rushmore is required to maintain policies and procedures that are reasonably
designed to ensure that it can “[p]rovide accurate and timely disclosures to a borrower as
required by this subpart or other applicable law” and “[p]Jrovide a borrower with accurate and
timely information and documents in response to the borrower's requests for information with
respect to the borrower's mortgage loan.” 12 CFR 1024.38(a)(b)(1)(i),(iii)

98. On June 6, 2016, Ms. Cedre, through counsel, sent a written “request for
information” to Rushmore concerning her mortgage loan and the amount necessary for
reinstatement of her loan. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36.

99.  Rushmore responded to Plaintiff’s written request with information that contained
“Estimates,” “Acquired Corporate Advance” fees, and “Other Fees” without identifying why and
for what services the fees were charged. See 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(d)(1)(i); see 12 C.F.R.
1024.38(a)(b)(1)(i),(iii).

100.  Rushmore violated § 2605(k)(1)(E) when it failed to provide information to
Plaintiff in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, by charging fees not yet incurred and
demanding Plaintiff pay these fees to reinstate her loan. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.32(a)(1); 12 U.S.C. §
2605(k)(1)(E). Rushmore has a pattern and practice of using form letters, like the letter at issue,
that contain these inaccurate, unclear, and inconspicuous responses.

101.  Rushmore’s violation of RESPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving her of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning her mortgage loan.
Additionally, Plaintiff incurred attorney’s fees and costs in having to follow up on Rushmore’s

letter, which contained unclear, inaccurate, and inconspicuous information.

COUNT II AS TO DEFENDANTS’ VIOLATION OF

THE FLORIDA CONSUMER COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 8§ 559.72(9)
(Florida Class 2)
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102.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the prior paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

103.  Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(8) when she purchased
her home by mortgage.

104. Rushmore, Albertelli Law, and Carlsbad are “persons” as defined under the
FCCPA.

105. Defendants attempted to enforce, claimed, and asserted a known non-existent
legal right to a debt as defined by Fla. Stat. § 559.55(6) when Albertelli Law, on behalf of
Rushmore and Carlsbad, attempted to collect fees not owed. Id. § 559.72(9).

106. Rushmore, as a sophisticated defendant mortgage loan servicer regularly engaged
in the mortgage loan servicing industry, knew it could only charge fees actually incurred, and not
“estimated” fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-10038, 2015
WL 7769235, at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the issue more than
six months prior to the date Rushmore, through Albertelli Law, sent the reinstatement of loan
letter to Ms. Cedre. The language and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letter was
even more egregious than in Prescott.

107. Rushmore also knew it could only charge fees incurred because, following the
Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued voluminous warnings against using
“estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters, especially in the Eleventh Circuit.
See, e.g., Exhibit .

108. Rushmore was also put on notice of its requirements to only charge fees incurred
through the many complaints to the CFPB by consumers that Rushmore charged fees not owed,

discussed supra.
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109.  Albertelli Law, as a sophisticated defendant law firm regularly engaged in the
mortgage loan industry, knew it could only charge fees actually incurred, and not “estimated”
fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No. 15-10038, 2015 WL 7769235,
at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the issue more than six months
prior to the date Albertelli Law sent the reinstatement of loan letter to Ms. Cedre. The language
and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letter was even more egregious than in Prescott.

110.  Albertelli Law also knew it could only charge fees incurred because, following
the Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued voluminous warnings against
using “estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters, especially in the Eleventh
Circuit. See, e.g., Exhibit I. Albertelli Law is primarily based in Florida.

111.  Carlsbad, through its trustee Wilmington, as a sophisticated mortgage lender
regularly engaged in the mortgage loan industry, knew it could only charge fees actually
incurred, and not “estimated” fees, because the Eleventh Circuit, in Prescott v. Seterus, Inc., No.
15-10038, 2015 WL 7769235, at *2-6 (11th Cir. Dec. 3, 2015), provided express guidance on the
issue more than six months prior to the date Albertelli Law sent the reinstatement of loan letter to
Ms. Cedre. The language and estimated fees in Ms. Cedre’s reinstatement letters are even more
egregious than in Prescott.

112.  Carlsbad, through its trustee Wilmington, also knew it could only charge fees
incurred because, following the Prescott decision, the media and trade publications issued
voluminous warnings against using “estimated” fees not incurred in reinstatement of loan letters,
especially in the Eleventh Circuit. See, e.g., Exhibit I.

113.  Rushmore’s and Albertelli Law’s knowledge can also be imputed to Carlsbad

through principles of agency. See, e.g., Compass Bank v. Tania Lynn Vanpelt, No. CA10-1624
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(Fla. Cir. Ct. April 2, 2015) (finding knowledge under the FCCPA could be imputed from agents
to the owner of the mortgage note and holder through principles of agency).

114. By charging estimated fees tacked on to the reinstatement amount, and failing to
provide information in an accurate, clear and conspicuous manner, Defendants frustrated Ms.
Cedre’s ability to reinstate her loan and caused her to incur further attorney’s fees and costs in
connection with defending the foreclosure action and responding to the inaccurate and unclear
information. She also suffered the imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount not owed.

COUNT III AS TO DEFENDANTS’ VIOLATION OF
THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT §§ 1692¢, 1692f
(Florida Class 3)

115.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the prior paragraphs as if set forth fully herein.

116. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) when she purchased
a home in Florida by mortgage.

117.  Defendants are “debt collectors” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) because
they regularly attempt to collect, and collect, amounts owed or asserted to be owed or due
another. Rushmore’s May 24, 2016 letter on behalf of Carlsbad to Ms. Cedre stated: “You should
consider this letter as coming from a Debt Collector . . . and any information received will be
used for that purpose.” Albertelli Law’s June 16, 2016 letter on behalf of Rushmore and
Carlsbad to Ms. Cedre stated: “We may be considered a debt collector. This is an attempt to
collect a debt. Any information will be used for that purpose.”

118.  The mortgage loan exception to the definition of “debt collector” does not apply
because Plaintiff defaulted on her loan on or around December 1, 2010 and the loan was
assigned to Wilmington as trustee for Carlsbad sometime in or around April 2016, and because

the servicing rights to Ms. Cedre’s loan was assigned to Rushmore, effective May 1, 2016.
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119.  Defendants engaged in “communications” with Plaintiff as defined by 15 U.S.C. §
1692a(2) when they sent the May 24, 2016 and June 16, 2016 debt collection letter to Plaintiff
demanding money purportedly due for reinstatement of her loan to avoid foreclosure.

120. Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692f when they charged estimated fees not
owed and not expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt.

121.  Rushmore’s violation of the FDCPA harmed Plaintiff by depriving her of the
statutory right to accurate, clear, and conspicuous information concerning her mortgage loan.
Additionally, Plaintiff incurred attorney’s fees, costs, and other incidental costs, in having to
follow up on Rushmore’s letter, which contained unclear, inaccurate, and inconspicuous
information. She also suffered the imminent risk of having to pay an illegal amount.

JURY DEMAND AND RESERVATION OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES

122.  Plaintiff is entitled to and respectfully demands a trial by jury on all issues so
triable.
123.  Plaintiff reserves the right to amend his Complaint and add a claim for punitive

damages.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE. Plaintiff, himself and on behalf of the Classes, respectfully requests this

Court to enter judgment against Defendants for all of the following:

a. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded actual damages, including but not
limited to forgiveness of all amounts not owed;
b. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded statutory damages;

c. That Plaintiff and all class members be awarded costs and attorney’s fees;
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i.

Dated: August

That the Court enter a judgment permanently enjoining Defendants from charging
and/or collecting debt in violation of the FDCPA, FCCPA, and RESPA;

That, should the Court permit Defendants to continue charging and/or collecting
debt, it enter a judgment requiring them to adopt measures to ensure FDCPA,
RESPA, and FCCPA compliance, and that the Court retain jurisdiction for a
period of six months to ensure that Defendants comply with those measures;
That the Court enter a judgment awarding any other injunctive relief necessary to
ensure Defendants’ compliance with the FDCPA, RESPA, and the FCCPA;

That the Court enter an order that Defendants and their agents, or anyone acting
on their behalf, are immediately restrained from altering, deleting or destroying
any documents or records that could be used to identify class members;

That the Court certify Plaintiff’s claims and all other persons similarly situated as
class action claims under Rule 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure; and

Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

42,2016 Respectfully Submitted,

s/ James L. Kauffman

James L. Kauffman (Fla. Bar. No. 12915)
1054 31st Street, Suite 230

Washington, DC 20007

Telephone: (202) 463-2101

Facsimile: (202) 342-2103

Email: jkauffman@baileyglasser.com

Darren R. Newhart, Esq.
Florida Bar No.: 0115546
E-mail: darren@cloorg.com
J. Dennis Card Jr., Esq
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Florida Bar No.: 0487473
E-mail:DCard@Consumerlaworg.com
Consumer Law Organization, P.A.

721 US Highway 1, Suite 201

North Palm Beach, Florida 33408
Telephone: (561) 692-6013

Facsimile: (305) 574-0132

Counsel for Plaintiff and the Putative Class
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Florida

MARIE CEDRE

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 1:16-CV-25234

RUSHMORE LOAN MANAGEMENT SERVICES,
LLC, JAMES E. ALBERTELLI, P.A. d/b/a ALAW, and
CARLSBAD FUNDING MORTGAGE TRUST

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Rushmore Loan Management Services, LLC
15480 Laguna Canyon Road, Suite 100
Irvine, CA 92618

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  James L. Kauffman, Esq.

Bailey & Glasser, LLP
1054 31st Street, Suite 230
Washington, D.C. 20007

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 1:16-CV-25234

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

i Seers |
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Florida

MARIE CEDRE

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 1:16-CV-25234

RUSHMORE LOAN MANAGEMENT SERVICES,
LLC, JAMES E. ALBERTELLI, P.A. d/b/a ALAW, and
CARLSBAD FUNDING MORTGAGE TRUST

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) James E. Albertelli, P.A. d/b/a ALAW
208 North Laura Street, Suite 900
Jacksonville, FL 32202

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  James L. Kauffman, Esq.

Bailey & Glasser, LLP
1054 31st Street, Suite 230
Washington, D.C. 20007

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 1:16-CV-25234

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

i Seers |
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Florida

MARIE CEDRE

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 1:16-CV-25234

RUSHMORE LOAN MANAGEMENT SERVICES,
LLC, JAMES E. ALBERTELLI, P.A. d/b/a ALAW, and
CARLSBAD FUNDING MORTGAGE TRUST

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Carlsbad Funding Mortgage Trust
c/o Wilmington Saving Fund Society
500 Delaware Avenue, 11th Floor
Wilmington, DE 19801

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  James L. Kauffman, Esq.

Bailey & Glasser, LLP
1054 31st Street, Suite 230
Washington, D.C. 20007

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 1:16-CV-25234

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

i Seers |




ClassAction.org

This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this
post: EDCPA Suit Filed Against Three Debt Callectors Over 'Estimated’ Fees



https://www.classaction.org/news/fdcpa-class-action-filed-against-three-debt-collectors-over-estimated-fee



